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Dear Shareholders,
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board of Directors of UBP is pleased to present its Integrated Report for the year ended June 30, 2020 covering
the performance and the operations of the Group, with a focus on its four main companies: The United Basalt Products
Limited (UBP), Drymix Ltd (Drymix), Espace Maison Ltée (Espace Maison) and Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée
(Gros Cailloux).
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report contains certain forward-looking statements regarding the results and operations of the Group, which, by
their nature, involve risk and uncertainty, because they depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the
future. Although forward-looking statements contained in this presentation are based upon what management believes
are reasonable assumptions, undue reliance should not be placed on them.
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Augmented Reality
Some pages of this Integrated Report feature Augmented Reality
(AR) technology.
Step 1: Download Blippar from App Store or Play Store
Step 2: Identify and scan the relevant pages featuring the
AR icon
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KEY FACTS & FIGURES

Rs 2.9 billion

>

-11%

Rs 80.6 million

>

-70.6%

Rs 21.9 million

>

-89.5%

Rs 3.0 million

>

-92.8%

Rs 0.68		

>

-90.5%

REVENUE

G R O U P O P E R AT I N G
PROFIT

GROUP NET PROFIT

As a leading group, UBP has always had its stakeholders’
interests as core driver and today, more than ever, it could
not be truer.
The conceptual theme, for this year’s report sheds a new
light on how we undeniably play a part in people’s lives,
depicting a closer, more humane approach. It lays out the
groundwork for a fresh and more intimate appeal to our
communication, instilling a new perspective on our real
business, the people’s business.
Come along…

R E TA I L O P E R AT I N G
PROFIT
BASIC EARNINGS
PER SHARE

1,399

EMPLOYEES

Every day is an opportunity for our
employees to exceed themselves in
applying their expertise and ‘savoir-faire’,
implementing innovative solutions in
order to fulfill our stakeholders’ needs.
With our innovative culture firmly
established, we ensure that all our
business lines and our business model,
constantly adapt and converge towards
sustainable value creation for our
stakeholders. From the smallest gestures
to the greatest achievements, it lies in the
extent to which we constantly push to
affirm ourselves as natural market leaders
and trendsetters.
These solid foundations have contributed
to our resilience during this financial
year although the COVID-19 impact was
significantly felt. Our agility has enabled
us to adapt to this unprecedented
situation. If this year has proved to be a
challenge, it has also emphasized how
essential our people are in shaping our
outcomes.

4,831

SHAREHOLDERS

Let’s keep building a better
tomorrow…

An enhanced audio introduction is also
available. Please scan the QR code or
visit https://investors.ubp.mu/
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Embrace
R e lat io n s h ip s
We care about our people.
We work with them and for them.

SCAN FOR AN ENHANCED VISUAL EXPERIENCE
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
Dear Shareholders,

“

MARC FREISMUTH
Chairman

In 2019, our economy grew by 3.3% and construction experienced a slight
slowdown, recording a growth of 8.5% compared to 9.5% in 2018. Once again,
this growth was largely driven by public investment in large-scale projects
like the Metro Express and the Road Decongestion Programme. However,
the first quarter of 2020 was unconducive to the sector’s continued growth
for many reasons: unfavourable weather conditions persisted in January and
February, directly impacting construction sites. Some projects were slow
to take off, while others reached near completion and required little to no
intervention on our part.
When COVID-19 hit Mauritius in March 2020, the country was placed under
complete lockdown and UBP and its subsidiaries were compelled to halt
their operations overnight. As a result, during the last quarter, our core
business recorded a drop in revenue of 49.2%. Despite the fact that Espace
Maison managed to partly resume operations for essential goods in April
2020, thanks to the timely launch of the latest version of its e-commerce
website before the lockdown was announced, its revenue dropped by 34.9%.
After weeks of collective sacrifice and contact tracing, Mauritius was able to
overcome the outbreak and was declared virus-free as early as May 2020.
That is not to say we are not feeling the full force of its impact. Mauritius is
expected to experience negative growth in 2020: GDP is projected to shrink
by 13-15%, the worst contraction since 1980, unemployment has risen to
10.3% at the time of writing and is expected to further escalate, and SMEs,
which account for over 50% of total employment, are already feeling drastic
effects on their business.
The authorities have designated the construction sector as one of the main
drivers of our recovery. The development of major public infrastructure
projects like the Metro Express will resume, and 18 new projects, including a
social housing plan, new hospitals and the modernisation of bus and metro
terminals, amongst others, have been announced in a drive to preserve jobs
and revitalise the sector. Despite these measures, construction is projected
to decline by 20% in 2020* and our Group will not be immune to this
downturn.
*

SCAN FOR AN ENHANCED EXPERIENCE
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According to forecasts made by Statistics Mauritius: https://statsmauritius.govmu.org/Pages/Statistics/By_

Subject/Construction/SB_Construction.aspx

ABOUT US
MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

For the first semester of
FY2021, our projections are
relatively positive, especially
compared to other industries.
Our core business segment
locally is expected to maintain
a good level of activities as
we progress on several largescale infrastructure projects
initiated before the lockdown.
For the second half of the
financial year in particular,
we are prepared to face the
wide-ranging ramifications of
this pandemic. As consumers
grapple with uncertainty over
the future, lower household
incomes, coupled with a rise
in unemployment and a sharp
depreciation of the Mauritian
Rupee, are leading to a decline
in spending power. These trends
will no doubt affect revenues
for the Group at large in the
second semester of FY2021.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

we look back on the pandemic of 2020
one day, this chapter will go down in UBP
Group’s history as a tale of solidarity and
unity.

OUR BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT IN FY2020

the future

CAPITAL
REPORTS

“The future may be uncertain, but when

What started as a year full of hope transformed into one of the most trying
times in modern history. COVID-19 continues to pose a major threat to
lives and economies across the globe. Some countries are still battling the
virus, others are in recovery mode, and others yet, like Mauritius, have partly
resumed their economic and business activities in a fragile environment
characterised by rising unemployment and a declining purchasing power. In
these challenging times, the need for us to be more united, more responsible
and more forward-thinking is greater than ever.

PROSPECTS FOR

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Courage,
dedication and
leadership

It is with great honour that I present to you the Integrated Report of
The United Basalt Products Limited (‘UBP’) for the year ended June 30, 2020.

INTRODUCTION

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

“W e t a k e
comfort in
knowing
that our
performance
was on an
upward trend
and revenue
would have
surpassed last
year’s Rs 3.2
billion track
record.”
[...]
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

Over and above the effects of the pandemic, our core business
segment was once again negatively impacted by the persistent
underperformance of our foreign subsidiaries. To this end,
the Board is seriously considering to withdraw from Sri Lanka
after years of confronting challenges in an unpredictable
business environment. Likewise, we are carefully reassessing
our situation in Madagascar and aim to come to a conclusive
decision about our future there during the coming year.
Locally, as anticipated, the Group experienced a significant
drop in performance as a result of the impact of the lockdown
and a significant increase in the cost of production of our core
business during the third quarter of the financial year. Besides
COVID-19, Espace Maison’s performance was also affected by
the anticipated lower operating performance of its sixth shop,
which opened in Beau Vallon in November 2019. Gros Cailloux,
for its part, experienced another disappointing year, mainly due
to low yields in our vegetable-growing activities and an adverse
fair valuation of our consumable biological assets. All of these
factors have contributed to the Group reporting unsatisfactory
financial results, with our revenue decreasing by 11% to Rs 2.9
billion (compared to Rs 3.2 billion in previous year) and our net
profit declining by 89.5% to reach Rs 21.9 million for the year
under review.

“Considering our challenging
operating environment,
I believe this is a testament
to our resilience and years
of investment in the right
strategies, people and
processes.”
10 - UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

NAVIGATING COVID-19 AT UBP GROUP
Like all other businesses in the world, the pandemic subjected
our Group to extraordinary stress and disruption in ways we
could not have foreseen.
At Group level, our first order of action was to protect the health
of our employees and maintain essential business operations
wherever possible. A large portion of our staff transitioned to
working from home, which was no easy task. They continued
carrying out their duties, while also caring for their families. I
stand in awe of the Group’s ability to absorb a shock of this
magnitude and I would like to share my thoughts on the four
main factors that drove our resilience over the last few months:
-
First, our people were quick to respond to the challenge
and demonstrated an unimaginable level of engagement
and ingenuity. The management team tackled the challenge
head-on, making quick decisions and developing solutions
speedily to secure our sites and to ensure the safety of our
people by providing protective equipment. We also promptly
created a private Facebook page for our employees to keep
the team spirit alive. It is in these difficult times that I am
reminded of the strength of our culture and values, which
have bound us together during this period. This deep sense
of belonging and strong sense of purpose is an enormous
source of pride for us all.
-
Secondly, I also have full confidence that UBP’s financial
strength, healthy balance sheet, access to necessary
resources and strong capital position have not only enabled
us to navigate the storm, but will also help us safeguard the
interests of all our stakeholders over the long term.
		
		

Our Risk Management report on page 62 provides
greater detail into our business resiliency plans and
actions.

- Fourth, our investments in digital capabilities over the years
were instrumental in helping us adapt quickly to this new
working environment. We intend to accelerate the pace of
our digital agenda as we strive for greater agility in every
aspect of our business model.
Our battle with the virus is far
challenges lie ahead, but allow
shareholders, that we are using
strategy, our strengths and how
pursue new opportunities.

from over and significant
me to reassure you, dear
this time to reassess our
they can be leveraged to

EFFECTIVE RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COVID-19 has dramatically shifted the risk landscape, exposing
businesses to new threats. Our Group has always relied on strong
corporate governance and prudent risk management to ensure
our long-term viability, but the need to anticipate challenges and
strengthen our internal controls cannot be overstated. In light
of the lessons learned from this pandemic, we have reassessed
the new risks that threaten our organisation—whether related
to a global pandemic, a climate event or any other hazard—our
vulnerabilities, and relevant strategies to reduce their impact.
Our enhanced risk management practices are laid out on page
91. In the event of a second wave of infections in Mauritius, we
have developed a set of Back To Work guidelines which clearly
outline the necessary measures and steps to take to protect
our employees and ensure the continuity of our activities. More
details can be found in the Group CEO’s message on page 42.

A SUSTAINABLE AND INCLUSIVE RECOVERY
Combatting COVID-19 may be at the top of agendas for most
organisations, particularly against a backdrop of an impending
recession, but failure to urgently address environmental
concerns could have dangerous consequences. At UBP Group,
we consider this as an opportunity to make way for a recovery
that is economically, environmentally and socially sustainable.
As part of our carbon-offsetting programme, we are growing
a number of endemic plants and establishing mangrove
ecosystems near our operating sites. My ambition is for the
Group to align itself with the highest global sustainability
standards and achieve carbon neutrality.
Our commitment to our communities remains unwavering,
more so because the pandemic has shed light on the prevailing
inequalities in our societies. Now is the time to strengthen our
social fabric. In addition to our Rs 3.0 million contribution to
the COVID-19 National Solidarity Fund and the provision of
materials, equipment and logistics following the MV Wakashio
oil spill, we are engaging with our communities to implement
the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).
My fellow Board members and I are also aware that our ability to
fulfil our roles depends on the strength of our relationship with
our stakeholders. We intend to take on a more enhanced role

Likewise, the pandemic has highlighted the importance of
good corporate governance. In this context, this translates
into swift, transparent decision-making. With no off-theshelf playbook to navigate this crisis, the Board has had to
be proactive, flexible and pragmatic in playing its role. Our
Corporate Governance framework (on page 73) was revised to
ensure enhanced stakeholder engagement, business continuity
and continuous risk management and mitigation, amongst
others. These emerging challenges will also necessitate new
skill sets, and we are looking to ensure that the Group’s various
Boards and committees are equipped with the right capabilities
to continue to discharge their duties as effectively as possible.
Much more remains to be done, but as a result of these efforts,
I believe we are better prepared to get ahead of any impending
crisis.
LOOKING AHEAD TO 2021 AND BEYOND
Today, the macroeconomic context remains uncertain and
recovery scenarios are difficult to confirm. Bearing in mind
the lack of visibility, we are continuing to closely monitor
developments in the economy and market trends so we can
factor them into our course of action for FY2021 and beyond.

[...]
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MANAGEMENT
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in addressing our stakeholders’ needs and expectations, and
closely monitoring and protecting the trusting relationships we
have built with them over the years. This is key to our longterm success.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

- The third was the support we received from our stakeholders.
As mentioned previously, the Government announced a series
of measures intended to stimulate the construction sector,
the Wage Assistance Scheme being one of them. Along with
our people’s positive attitude, we also received a great deal of
support from our loyal partners, who have shown flexibility
with respect to repayment terms, reimbursement plans and
our ability to fulfill contractual obligations. This goes to show
that only by joining forces with our stakeholders can we
alleviate economic damage to our Group and our country.

CAPITAL
REPORTS

It is important to make a distinction between our performance
pre-COVID and once the pandemic reached our shores.
Leaving aside the unfavourable weather conditions and the
slowdown in public projects which dampened our performance
during the first few months of 2020, UBP was well on its way to
achieving its financial objectives. Between July and December
2019, the Group’s revenue increased by 6.1% to reach Rs 1.8
billion compared to Rs 1.7 billion during the same period in
2018. We take comfort in knowing that our performance was
on an upward trend and revenue would have surpassed last
year’s Rs 3.2 billion track record.

Despite this setback, our Group remains highly cash generative
and in strong financial standing. This is precisely what enables
us to meet our promise of delivering long-term returns to our
shareholders. Even with our share price plummeting by 20%
between March 20 and April 6, 2020, we managed to recover
quickly to Rs 128.50 as at June 30, 2020. We ascended from
7th to 4th position on the SEM list of the ten best performing
stocks (measured in terms of annualised total return since their
listing on the stock exchange) and distributed a final dividend
of Rs 1.90 per share (compared to Rs 3.80 per share in FY2019).
Considering our challenging operating environment, I believe
this is a testament to our resilience and years of investment in
the right strategies, people and processes.

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

HIGHLIGHTS OF PERFORMANCE IN FY2020

ABOUT US

Courage, dedication
and leadership

INTRODUCTION

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

In combination with the aforementioned measures, we will
also be focusing our attention on reviewing our long-term
strategy and ensuring its effectiveness in this new economic
environment.

A NOTE OF APPRECIATION
To my fellow Board members, thank you for your swift response and precious guidance in these unprecedented times.
Our Group benefited hugely from your diverse experiences.
As always, I am grateful to our Group CEO, Stéphane Ulcoq, and his management team for demonstrating such courage,
dedication and leadership. I am inspired by the way they have risen to the challenge while also embodying UBP’s deep-rooted
values.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to express our gratitude to all our employees for their tireless efforts. They have set an
extraordinary example of solidarity, despite the personal difficulties they may have been facing. I feel fortunate to be presiding
over such a dedicated and caring community.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

Based on our current analysis and revenue forecasts, we
expect our second semester to be down by 20%. To ensure our
strong financial position, we are embarking on a cost-cutting
plan and the continuation of existing initiatives like UNIVISION,
which aims to capitalise on the existing synergies between the
Group’s businesses, while also enhancing our organisational
structure in a way that increases our agility and efficiency.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

For the first semester of FY2021, our projections are relatively
positive, especially compared to other industries. Our core
business segment locally is expected to maintain a good level
of activities as we progress on several large-scale infrastructure
projects initiated before the lockdown. For the second half of
the financial year in particular, we are prepared to face the
wide-ranging ramifications of this pandemic. As consumers
grapple with uncertainty over the future, lower household
incomes, coupled with a rise in unemployment and a sharp
depreciation of the Mauritian Rupee, are leading to a decline in
spending power. These trends will no doubt affect revenues for
the Group at large in the second semester of FY2021.

ABOUT US

Courage, dedication
and leadership

INTRODUCTION

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

The future may be uncertain, but when we look back on the pandemic of 2020 one day, this chapter will go down in UBP Group’s
history as a tale of solidarity and unity.

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Marc Freismuth
Chairman
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To our partners, customers and of course to you, dear shareholders, thank you for your continued support and trust.
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INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION

REVENUE
2020

OPERATING PROFIT
2020

Rs 2.9
billion

Rs 80.6* Rs 21.9
million million

-11%

-70.6%

+22.2%

*net of allowance for
expected credit losses

vs 2019

-89.5%

WE EXPERIENCED 10.9% REVENUE
DROP – GROUPWISE VS 2019

EARNINGS
PER SHARE

DIVIDEND
PER SHARE

AVERAGE DIVIDEND
PAYOUT RATIO

SHARE PRICE

Rs 0.68

Rs 1.90

64.5%

Rs 128.50

OVER THE PAST FIVE YEARS

-90.5%

vs 2019

WE ACHIEVED 6.1% REVENUE
GROWTH – GROUPWISE

vs 2019

-50%

-2.1%

vs 2019

*B
 ETWEEN APRIL AND
JUNE 2020,

WE EXPERIENCED 47.4% REVENUE
DROP – GROUPWISE VS 2019

COMPOUND AVERAGE
ANNUAL GROWTH RATE
OF SHARE PRICE

COMPOUND AVERAGE
ANNUAL TOTAL
SHAREHOLDERS’ RETURN

8.6%

11.1%

OVER THE PAST FIVE YEARS

OVER THE PAST FIVE YEARS

vs 2019

+51.2%
since 5 years

since 5 years

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

vs 2019

NET PROFIT
2020

*B
 ETWEEN JANUARY AND
MARCH 2020,

KE Y CO M P E T ITIV E S T R EN G T H S
This year and in the short term, as Mauritius faces challenging times ahead, we rely on our key competitive strengths as a Group
to ensure resilience.

1.

.	A robust foundation: UBP’s long history in Mauritius
and financial stability means that we have a robust
foundation to lean on when difficult times arise.
Although we do not expect the construction
sector to be affected too severely, it is important to
continue to reinforce it.

2.

	
An engaged workforce: We have always been
proud of our work culture and how united we are
as a team. The results of our engagement survey
this year have confirmed this to be true still today.
Together, we can go far and accomplish much.

See Human capital section on page 118
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*B
 ETWEEN JULY AND
DECEMBER 2019,

CAPITAL
REPORTS

The financial year started as a promising year for the Group, with all our companies showing positive developments against key
financial and non-financial strategic objectives. However, although the COVID-19 pandemic has not impacted us as severely as
other sectors such as tourism, we note a decline in production, revenue and profit.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

F INA NCIAL HIGHL I G H T S O F F Y 2 0 2 0

3.

	Strong reputation across companies and brands:
Our history, good governance and customer
service have provided us with a strong and stable
reputation in our respective markets. This continues
to enable us to have a wide market reach, in both
B2C and B2B segments, and ensures loyalty from
our customers.

4.

	
A flexible strategy: Our strategy is designed in
a way that allows a certain flexibility and agility
in attaining our business goals. This adaptive
approach to strategy is particularly effective when
the business environment is hard to predict and to
shape. By capturing change signals and responding
to the evolving environment, we have the ability to
promptly adjust our needs and goals.

UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020 - 15

Shape
O utco me s
As the only way to move is forward, we must always ensure value
and quality are deeply rooted in our culture.

SCAN FOR AN ENHANCED VISUAL EXPERIENCE

16 - UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020 - 17

ABOUT US
Group structure
Where we operate
Company profiles
The Group through the years
Key Group events
Board of Directors
Management team

18 - UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020 - 19

ABOUT US

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

ABOUT US

Group
structure

INTRODUCTION

ABOUT US

SUBSIDIARIES

100%

100%

100%

100%

Espace Maison
Ltée

Compagnie
de Gros Cailloux
Limitée

Société
d’investissement
Rodriguais

UBP
International
Limited

UBP
Madagascar

100%

75.9%

La Savonnerie
Créole Ltée

Welcome
Industries Ltd

76.5%

54.6%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Sainte
Marie Crushing
Plant Limited

Drymix Ltd

Land
Reclamation
Limited

Stone and
Bricks Limited

The Stone
Masters
Co. Ltd

Pricom Ltd

77%

100%

80%

United Granite
Product (Private) Limited

Société des
Petits Cailloux

Drymat SAS
(Réunion)

100%
DHK Metal
Crusher
(Private)
Limited

ASSOCIATES

UBP Coffrages
Ltée

100%
Sheffield Trading
(Private)
Limited

49%

46%

34%

25%

25%

20%

Pre-Mixed
Concrete
Limited

Terrarock
Ltd

Prochimad
Mines et Carrière
SARL*

Sud
Concassage
Limitée

Cement
Transport
Ltd

Compagnie
Mauricienne
d’Entreprise Ltée
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THE UNITED BASALT PRODUCTS LIMITED

Operational

Dormant

* Via UBP Madagascar
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Where we
operate
OUR SITES WORLDWIDE

CAPITAL
REPORTS

CORPORATE
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MAURITIUS

MADAGASCAR

SRI LANKA

WELCOME INDUSTRIES LTD

UBP MADAGASCAR

Contribution to Group profit
after tax: Rs 8.1 million
Date of establishment: 1993
Manager: Jean-Pierre Rose
HQ: Plaine Corail
Permanent employees: 37
Aggregates and rocksand produced:
>145,000 tonnes
Blocks produced: > 799,000 units

Contribution to Group profit after tax:
Not profitable yet
Date of establishment: 1999
Manager: Vacant
HQ: Antananarivo
Permanent employees: 110
Aggregates and rocksand produced:
>9,000 tonnes
Blocks produced: > 46,000 units

UNITED GRANITE PRODUCTS
(PRIVATE) LTD : UGPL

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

RODRIGUES

UBP production &
sales sites including
Marbella Division & PPB
Drymix
Espace Maison
Gros Cailloux

22 -- UBP
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Contribution to Group profit after tax:
Not profitable yet
Date of establishment: 2000
Manager: Buddika Perera
HQ: Kalutara
Permanent employees: 38
Aggregates and rocksand produced:
> 135,000 tonnes
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UBP

A trailblazer in its field, Drymix
is the first ready-to-use
dry mortar manufacturer in
Mauritius. Since its inception,
Drymix has developed a
range of high-quality, locally
designed and manufactured
products. Its activities have
proven vital in the overall
expansion of the Group.
Its
70 000-tonnes plant
capacity makes it possible
to supply both the local and
regional market with ease.

Drymix
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DATE OF
ESTABLISHMENT

1953

851

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

above 4,500

Rs 7.5

74

1996

PRODUCTION SITE

1

GENERAL MANAGER: Jean-Claude Bellepeau

- Rs 10.8
million

DATE OF
ESTABLISHMENT

2002

Gros Cailloux specialises in
three main activities. Firstly,
agriculture: sugar cane
fields, decorative plants
and food crops. Secondly,
landscaping services and
a nursery. Lastly, situated at
the heart of Gros Cailloux is a
leisure park consisting of an
area designed for events,and
Le Tekoma restaurant.

Gros Cailloux

PERMANENT
EMPLOYEES

NUMBER OF
STORES

298

6

Main Brands
WEBER, COLORKER, TEKA,
WAGNER, GARDENA, EINHELL,
FERPLAST, ELHO, BERLING,
WORX, ROYAL CANIN

GENERAL MANAGER: Benoit Béchard

CONTRIBUTION TO
GROUP PROFIT
AFTER TAX

PERMANENT
EMPLOYEES

million

DATE OF
ESTABLISHMENT

Hardware & paint
Garden & pets
Decoration & lighting
Bathrooms & sanitary ware

Espace Maison

GROUP CEO: Stéphane Ulcoq

CONTRIBUTION TO
GROUP PROFIT
AFTER TAX

•
•
•
•

CONTRIBUTION TO
GROUP PROFIT
AFTER TAX

- Rs 40.2
million

DATE OF
ESTABLISHMENT

2004

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

million

Espace Maison, a home
retailer, offers over 35,000
products and holds exclusive
distributor rights of key
brands within Mauritius,
represented in the six stores
spread across the island. The
stores host products spanning
over the following categories:

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Rs 81.5

PERMANENT
EMPLOYEES

CAPITAL
REPORTS

Refer to Group structure

CONTRIBUTION TO
GROUP PROFIT
AFTER TAX

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

UBP, referred to as both a
company and a group, is
publicly listed with more
than 4,500 shareholders.
In keeping with its position
as a market leader in the
construction industry, the
entity currently manages
seven production and sales
sites and two sales depots
located across Mauritius.
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profiles
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PERMANENT
EMPLOYEES

176
Activities
MOUNTAIN BIKE, QUAD
BIKING, FITNESS TRAILS,
PADDLE BOATS, BUMPER
BOATS, ZIP LINE & WAKE PARK

1 RESTAURANT

Le Tekoma

GENERAL MANAGER: Christopher Blackburn
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1970

1982

1993

Purchase of a crushing plant
from Cogefar for Plaine
Magnien; Set up of a
production unit in Poudre d’Or.

United Concrete
Product Seychelles
(UCPS) is born.

UBP takes over
Marbella Ltd,
a marble factory.

UBP invests in Welcome
Industries Ltd in Rodrigues.

2005

2004

2002

2000

1999

1995-96

Espace Maison opens
new outlets in Forbach
and Tamarin.

UBP acquires Compagnie
de Gros Cailloux Limitée
for its rock bank.

Opening of the first
Espace Maison store
in Trianon.

International expansion
continues through United
Granite Products (Private)
Limited in Sri Lanka.

UBP Madagascar
(formerly known as
UBP Tana SARL) is
born.

Incorporation of Dry Mixed
Products Ltd (now known
as Drymix Ltd) – A 100%
subsidiary of Pre-Mixed
Concrete Ltd and building of
its factory.

2006

2010

2012-13

2015

2016

2017

UBP acquires a crushing
plant in St Julien; Gros
Cailloux launches a
nursery department;
UBP and Drymix create
Crepifix’s formulation
with dry rocksand.

Drymix begins exporting
to Reunion Island; Espace
Maison opens a new
outlet in Flacq.

Modernisation of
Geoffroy crushing plant;
Upgrading of St Julien
crushing plant.

UBP builds a new
2,000 m2 warehouse;
Installation of automatic
dosing system for
additives; Gros Cailloux
launches its vegetable
growing activities.

Drymix invests in new
machinery in Geoffroy
to modernise its
production process, and
UBP launches its Smart
Blocks range.

Sud Concassage Limitée
ceases its activities and
almost all of its employees
are relocated; Espace
Maison renovates its outlets
in Trianon, Forbach, Tamarin
& Flacq and launches
its first mobile app.

2019

2018

Opening of Espace
Maison shop at Beau
Vallon

The Group restructuring
process begins; Gros
Cailloux launches Bio
Pesticide; Espace Maison
launches its e-commerce
website with over 18,000
products, as well as
La Savonnerie Créole Ltée.

2020
May 31
The Government announces the
end of the lockdown after 3 weeks
of zero community transmission.
At the time of writing, Mauritius had
registered around 460 COVID-19
cases and 10 deaths.

26 - UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

May 15
Progressive resumption of our
operations with the help of Work
Access Permits (WAPs).

March 20
National lockdown imposed after 14
cases of COVID-19 were detected.
A Work from Home system has
been established throughout our
companies, with emphasis on digital
sales and deliveries for Espace
Maison.

UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020 - 27

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

1968

Investment in and
inception of Pre-Mixed
Concrete Ltd.
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1967

UBP is founded
through the
merger of three
companies,
led by Mr Jean
Giraud.
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The Group
through the years
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Launch of Office 365 throughout
the Group.

UBP Award 2019
2nd edition of the UBP
Award in collaboration with
the University of Mauritius
(Faculty of Engineering).

SEP

OCT

Products of La Savonnerie Créole
were certified “Made in Moris”.
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Espace Maison team building held
at Ambre hotel around “la raison
d’être” of the company: To walk
with you and inspire you to shape
your “espace de vie” in a way that
aligns with your values: No bullshit,
From the heart, Not why-why not ,
Together we can.

Arbre de Noël: Group
Christmas celebration
for all the children of
our employees.

UBP / Welcome Trail Championships.
2nd edition of the Trail organised by the RTA
(Rodrigues Trail Association). Two employees
participated, namely: Cedric Paya and
Laurent Béga.

JUL

UBP Tennis
Championship in
association with
the Mauritius Tennis
Federation.

Price Increase on UBP products.

NOV

Opening of the 6th Espace
Maison store covering
approximately 1,800 m2 at
Beau Vallon.

DEC

JAN

Launch of ‘Le Geste Vert d’Espace Maison’
in each Espace Maison store. A green
corner is now available in each store for
clients to drop off their old bulbs, batteries,
PET bottles, etc., which are then recycled.

Employee Engagement Survey by Korn
Ferry for the Group.

FEB

MAR

Launch of UBP
Group employees
Facebook page.

JUN

Launch of Espace
Maison mobile
app for Group
employees and
Directors.
Launch of new
menu and
delivery services
at Le Tekoma
Restaurant
(Gros Cailloux).

Launch of Drymat SAS, a
local distributor of Drymix
products in Réunion Island.
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Board of
Directors
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DIRECTORS

12

GENDER DIVERSITY

25% women
AVERAGE YEARS OF SERVICE

9 years
AVERAGE AGE

57 years
From left to right: Kalindee Ramdhonee | Laurent de la Hogue | Marc Freismuth
(Chairman) | Stéphane Ulcoq (Group CEO) | Christophe Quevauvilliers (Group CFO) |
Joël Harel | Jan Boullé | Thierry Lagesse | François Boullé | Christine Marot | Stéphane
Lagesse | Catherine Gris
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Respective profiles are detailed on pages 78 and 79 of this report.
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Laurent Béga

Cécile Boyer

Alan Cunniah

Bryan Gujjalu

Gino Gunness

Group Engineering Manager

Group Financial Controller

Group Human Resource Manager

Group Business Development Manager

Group Assets and Procurement Manager

FINANCIAL
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GROUP FUNCTIONS

CAPITAL
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Stéphane Ulcoq
Group CEO and Executive Director

Bhooneshi Nemchand

Samantha Perrier

Christophe Quevauvilliers

Dhuenesh Rambarassah

Jean-Marc Selvon

Group IT Manager

Head of Corporate Secretarial Services
and Company Secretary

Group Communications Manager

Group CFO
and Executive Director

Group Finance Manager

Group Sales Projects Manager

Francis Koenig

Amaury Lacoste

Edley Michaud

Ashwin Ramsaha

Quarry and Field Manager

Production Manager

Personnel Manager

PPB Division Manager

UBP

Dwight Hamilton

Rémi de Gersigny
Project and Business
Development Manager
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Jean-Jacques Jullienne
Head of Operations
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Marbella Division Manager

SUBSIDIARIES

GROUP FUNCTIONS
Laurent Béga
Group Engineering Manager

Jean-Claude Bellepeau

Benoit Béchard

Christopher Blackburn

General Manager
Drymix Ltd

General Manager
Espace Maison Ltée

General Manager
Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée

Mr Laurent Béga, born in 1979, joined
the Company as Group Engineering
Manager in May 2014. He has since been
responsible for all engineering services,
machinery maintenance and supplies,
as well as projects, both in Mauritius and
overseas, where his expertise in heavy
machinery and experience in Africa have
been invaluable to the Group.
Cécile Boyer
Group Financial Controller
Ms Cécile Boyer, born in 1989, joined the
Company as Group Financial Controller
in April 2020. Ms Boyer holds a Masters in
Management with a specialisation in Finance
from Kedge Business School in Bordeaux,
France. She has eight years of experience in
the Finance Sector in Mauritius and abroad.
Alan Cunniah
Group Human Resource Manager
Mr Alan Cunniah, born in 1968, holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Actuarial
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Mr Bryan Gujjalu, born in 1976, holds a
‘Diplôme d'Ingénieur’ from INSA, Lyon
(MEng) and an MBA from the ‘Institut
d'Administration des Entreprises’ (IAE),
France. He is also a registered CRPE
and EUR ING (European Engineer) and
a Certified Practitioner Coach (Business
and Life). He joined the Company as
Group Business Development Manager
in March 2017. Prior to this, Mr Gujjalu
worked in the APAVE Group for 12 years,
where he left as CEO of APAVE Indian
Ocean group and APAVE International’s
Deputy MD for the Southern AfricaIndian Ocean-Australia region. He also
served as Non-Executive Director on
the Board of the Mauritius Institute of
Directors (MIoD), and was appointed
Director of UBP Coffrages Ltée in May
2019.
Gino Gunness
Group Assets and
Procurement Manager
Mr Gino Gunness, born in 1967, holds
a ‘Brevet de Technicien en Fabrication
et Maintenance Mécanique’ from the
‘Lycée Polytechnique Sir Guy Forget’
in Flacq, Mauritius. He also followed
several training courses in stone
crushing equipment maintenance and
management. He joined the Company as
Technical Assistant for the maintenance
of crushing plants in July 1989 and
was promoted to the post of Plant
Manager in 1991. He managed several
plants within the Group, including

Dwight Hamilton
Group IT Manager
Mr Dwight Hamilton, born in 1974,
holds a Professional Graduate Diploma
in
Information
Technology
from
the National Council for Vocational
Qualification (NCVQ). He joined the
Company as Systems Coordinator in
May 2004 where he was responsible for
the implementation of the ERP for the
Group. In 2011, he was promoted to the
post of IT Manager for the Group.
Bhooneshi Nemchand
Head of Corporate Secretarial Services
and Company Secretary
Mrs Bhooneshi Nemchand, born in 1987,
holds a BA (Hons) Law and Management
and an MBA (International Business)
from the University of Mauritius and is
an Associate member of the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
(UK). She joined the Group as Company
Secretary Designate in May 2015, after
having spent six years in the financial
services sector. She was appointed
Company Secretary in October 2015
and in February and July 2016, Mrs
Nemchand was appointed Company
Secretary of several companies within
the Group.
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Bruno de Spéville

Bryan Gujjalu
Group Business Development Manager

Welcome Industries in Rodrigues, until
2003. Between 2004 and 2011, he was
expatriated to Madagascar to act as
General Manager of UBP Madagascar.
Back in Mauritius in 2012, he was
appointed Assistant Production Manager
before being promoted to the position of
Service Manager of the heavy machinery
department of our Engineering Division
in 2013. In April 2017, he was promoted
to the po st of Group Assets and
Procurement Manager.
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UBP

Mr Stéphane Ulcoq, born in 1977, joined
the Company as Assistant Works Manager
in September 2000 and was promoted to
Workshop Manager in 2007. In January
2012, he was promoted to the post of
Production Manager where he oversaw
all production units, both in Mauritius
and overseas, and in December, the
Board appointed him as Deputy CEO. He
then gradually handed over his duties as
Production Manager and was appointed
CEO of the Company in January 2015
and subsequently, Group CEO with effect
from July 2015.

Science from the University of Calgary,
Canada and an MBA specialising in
Human Resource Management from the
University of Mauritius. Prior to joining
the Group in July 2018, he worked as
Head of Human Resources for ENL
group for ten years.
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Stéphane Ulcoq
Group CEO and Executive Director
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Christophe Quevauvilliers
Group CFO and Executive Director
Mr Christophe Quevauvilliers, born
in 1968, is a Fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He joined the Company
as Finance Manager and Company
Secretary in May 2002. In 2015, he was
appointed as Executive Director to
the Board. He also sits on the Board of
several companies within the Group.
Dhuenesh Rambarassah
Group Finance Manager
Mr Dhuenesh Rambarassah, born in 1976,
is a Fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and
holder of an MBA with a specialisation
in strategic planning from the Edinburgh
Business School of Scotland. He joined
the Company as Financial Accountant in
February 2006 after having spent more
than eight years successively in the Audit
and Assurance department of Ernst &
Young and De Chazal Du Mée (now
known as BDO). Mr Rambarassah was
designated Financial Controller of the
majority of companies within the Group
in July 2013 and Group Finance Manager
in 2020.

UBP
Rémi de Gersigny
Project and Business Development
Manager
Mr Rémi de Gersigny, born in 1953, joined
the Company as supervisor in January
1978 and was promoted to the post
of Plant Manager in 1981. In the early
nineties, he was appointed Area Manager
of the western and central regions where
he was in charge of three crushing plants.
In 2004, Mr de Gersigny was promoted
to the post of Operations and Project
Manager where he was in charge of all
operational matters for our plants in
Mauritius and overseas. In January 2012,
he was promoted to the post of Project
and Business Development Manager for
our core business activities.
Jean-Jacques Jullienne
Head of Operations
Mr Jean-Jacques Jullienne, born in
1966, holds an MBA from the University
of Paris-Dauphine and a National
Diploma in mechanical engineering from
the Technical College of Durban. He

36 - UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

Francis Koenig
Quarry and Field Manager
Mr Francis Koenig, born in 1957, joined
the Company in May 1980 and was in
charge of Stone Utilities Ltd. The same
year, he was promoted to the post of
Plant Manager for Terre Rouge, Roche
Bois and Coromandel plants. In 1982,
he was promoted to the post of Area
Manager for the northern region until
1991 when he moved to the southern
region. In February 2012, he was
promoted to the post of Quarry and
Field Manager where he has since been
in charge of our Land Reclamation Unit
involved in quarrying operations and the
supply of raw materials to the majority of
our production sites.
Amaury Lacoste
Production Manager
Mr Amaury Lacoste, born in 1985, holds
a Master in Civil Engineering ‘Conception
d’Ouvrage d’Art & Bâtiment’ from the
‘Université Paul Sabatier’, Toulouse,
France. In January 2010, he joined
the Company as Project Engineer and
Coordinator within the Engineering
Division up to January 2013 when he was
appointed Assistant Production Manager
for our crushing and block-making
activities. In January 2015, Mr Lacoste
was appointed as Production Manager
for the central and southern regions up
to July 2017 when he was promoted
Production Manager of all crushing and
block-making activities within the Group.

Mr Edley Michaud, born in 1951,
joined the Company as Production
Supervisor in February 1973, and became
Personnel Manager in July 1987. He is
closely involved in all safety, health and
environmental regulations within the
Group. He is also a Fellow member of the
British Safety Council and a registered
Safety Officer under the Occupational
Safety & Health Act.
Ashwin Ramsaha
PPB Division Manager
Mr Ashwin Ramsaha, born in 1959,
holds an MSc in Civil Engineering with a
specialisation in Structural Engineering
from the University of Architecture, Civil
Engineering and Geodesy-Sofia. He is a
Registered Professional Engineer of the
Council of Engineers in Mauritius and
Member of the Institution of Engineers.
He has been practicing continuously in
the private and public sectors in Mauritius
and in Toronto since 1987. In November
2007, Mr Ramsaha joined the Company
as Assistant Manager of our PPB Division
which is involved in the production of
precast concrete slabs. In February 2015,
he was promoted to the post of Manager
of that division.
Bruno de Spéville
Marbella Division Manager
Mr Bruno de Spéville, born in 1960,
followed an induction course with Euro
Brevet in a cement tiles factory in the
UK. He joined the Company as Sales
Manager in September 1994 after having
managed Bocaro Ltd from 1979 to 1987
and worked as Sales Manager at Rogers
Building Materials Products Ltd from
1988 to 1994. In 2002, he was appointed
Project and Commercial Manager of
Espace Maison Ltée. In January 2016,
he was appointed Manager of UBP –

Marbella Division where he is since
responsible for the production of precast
products, concrete pipes, roof tiles and
rustic pavements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Jean-Claude Bellepeau
General Manager - Drymix Ltd
Mr Jean Claude Bellepeau, born in 1963,
holds a ‘Diplôme d’Ingénieur Chimiste’
from (ECPM), Strasbourg, France. After
having spent ten years in the textile and
industrial chemicals sectors in Mauritius,
he joined the Lafarge Group to launch
the cement terminal in Mayotte. He
then joined Pre-Mixed Concrete Ltd as
Operations Manager in February 2003
and was promoted to General Manager
of Pre-Mixed Concrete Ltd and Dry
Mixed Products Ltd in 2008. In 2011,
further to the reorganisation of the two
companies, he directed the integration
of Dry Mixed Products Ltd into the UBP
Group and is henceforth the General
Manager of the company, now known as
Drymix Ltd.

Christopher Blackburn
General Manager - Compagnie de Gros
Cailloux Limitée
Mr Christopher Blackburn, born in 1969,
holds a ‘Brevet de Technicien Agricole’
with a specialisation in ‘Jardin Espace
Vert’ (France), a Bachelor of Commerce
in Marketing from Curtin University
Australia and a Master’s degree in
Strategic and Consulting Organisation
with ESCP Paris. He joined the Group as
General Manager of Compagnie de Gros
Cailloux Limitée in May 2012 after having
worked as General Manager of the
Landscaping and Nursery department at
Médine Ltd.
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Mr Jean-Marc Selvon, born in 1962,
holds a Higher Diploma in Integrated
Marketing and Communication from
AAA South Africa. He joined Pre-Mixed
Concrete Ltd as Sales Representative in
1982 and successively held the posts of
Assistant Sales Manager, Sales Manager
and Sales & Marketing Manager until
2012. Between 2012 and March 2015, he
moved to Dry Mixed Products Ltd as Sales
& Marketing Manager. Thereafter, he
joined UBP as Sales Manager, overseeing
the sales function of our core business.
In July 2020, he was promoted to Group
Sales Projects Manager.

Edley Michaud
Personnel Manager

CORPORATE
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Mrs Samantha Perrier, born in 1978,
holds an Executive Master in Marketing
from the University of Paris-Dauphine.
She joined the Company as Group
Communications Manager in October
2019. She has sixteen years of experience
in the communications field, locally and
abroad.

was the Deputy Managing Director and
the Chief Operations Officer - Oil and
Gas at Forges Tardieu Ltd before joining
the Company as Head of Operations in
September 2019.
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Group Sales Projects Manager
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Samantha Perrier
Group Communications Manager
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Benoit Béchard
General Manager - Espace Maison Ltée
Mr Benoit Béchard, born in 1965, holds an
MBA with a specialisation in Finance from
the Charles Sturt University NSW, Australia,
an ISM Diploma in Management from the
Institute of Leadership and Management
of UK and a Foundation Certificate in Tax
from the Taxation Institute of Australia. He
is a member of the Australian Institute of
Management and of the Taxation Institute
of Australia and an affiliate member of the
Institute of Leadership and Management
of UK. He joined the Group as General
Manager of Espace Maison Ltée in January
2016, after having occupied senior
managerial positions in various sectors of
activity over the past twenty years.

UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020 - 37

Nurture
Tog e t h e r n e s s
With a real drive to facilitate our stakeholders’ engagement and fidelity,
UBP will always strive to build trust and improve your living environment.
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“

STÉPHANE ULCOQ
Group CEO

Notwithstanding a drop in the performance of our core
businesses in the first two months of 2020 and the sharp
decline we experienced after the lockdown was announced in
March 2020, the year was marked by positive developments in
many areas of our businesses:
-
We pursued our digital agenda and deployed Office 365
across the Group, which represents an important milestone
in our digital transformation journey. The roll-out of this new
software was also well-timed, as one of the software’s biggest
advantages is the ability to work from anywhere, on any
device. This was especially beneficial during the lockdown,
as our employees were able to swiftly transition to remote
working with easy access to important documents and
applications, thus enabling us to continue communicating
and collaborating efficiently.
- We appointed a Head of Operations for our core businesses,
whose role is to ensure synergies between our entities.
Equipped with a bird’s eye view of UBP, we believe he will
be instrumental in helping us achieve our performance
objectives.
- We obtained our permit to operate the semi-mobile crushing
plant at La Mecque. The idea is to leverage its mobility
properties to maximise productivity and lower our operating
costs, but also to improve our environmental impact.
- We decided to consider exiting from our subsidiary in Sri
Lanka following years of facing administrative difficulties and
institutional weaknesses.
- The situation in Madagascar remains worrying, even more
so in the COVID-19 era. Our activities came to a complete
stop and have resumed since, but the country continues to
be under a state of health emergency and gatherings of 50
people remain prohibited. This puts a damper on an already
complex situation, which has prompted us to rethink our
future there. We aim to reach a conclusive decision in the
coming year.

SCAN FOR AN ENHANCED EXPERIENCE
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-
Drymix obtained its ISO 9001:2015 certification in 2018,
which attests to the quality of our products and our desire
to align ourselves with high international standards. Soon, it

-
Drymix’s subsidiary in Réunion Island, Drymat, officially
opened its doors in August 2019. In collaboration with our
local partner who holds 20% of shares in the company, we
have secured a strong footing in the market.
- We opened our sixth Espace Maison store in Beau Vallon in
November 2019. Its distinguishing feature is the full-fledged
hardware store designed for construction contractors and
other individuals. The area, which we named Espace Pro, was
built with the customer journey in mind: from its convenient
layout and signage through the aisles, to the simplified
check-out process, all touch points were mapped out to
create a unique retail experience. This is complemented by
a mobile app, Club Espace Pro, dedicated to professionals
in the industry. The Beau Vallon store is set to be the pilot
project, which we then aim to replicate across all our Espace
Maison stores after taking into account customer feedback
and tracking our KPIs.
On the downside, Gros Cailloux experienced yet another
difficult year, with low yields in our vegetable-growing
activities. Despite a 36.4% decrease in our output of sugar
produced, a series of incentives granted by the government
to small growers enabled us to generate an improved profit
in this activity. In line with our ‘Smart Agriculture’ strategy, we
installed a new irrigation system with the aim of increasing our
efficiency through a more uniform distribution of water. Our
results for Gros Cailloux therefore also take into account this
substantial investment of Rs 7.9 million.
Overall, we delivered on our commitments across our five
strategic pillars: (1) capitalise on synergy levers and ensure
efficient processes, (2) ensure a continuous output of innovative
products and services, (3) ensure customer engagement and
satisfaction, (4) build a workforce able to seize opportunities
and (5) continue to build a strong reputation around all our
brands.
WHICH FIGURES BEST HIGHLIGHT YOUR PERFORMANCE
DURING FY2020?
Before providing you with a summary of our performance over
the entire financial year, I believe it is important to first offer
you a snapshot of our results between July 2019 and February
2020, before the lockdown went into effect. You will observe
that the difference before and after COVID-19 is stark.

[...]
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construction could play a key role in
leading Mauritius to recovery. Given this
context, there is no doubt that focusing
on construction will provide economic
relief to the country, at least over the
short term.

The Group’s performance last year was certainly a milestone.
having achieved a record revenue of Rs 3.2 billion for the first
time in our history, we began FY2020 with confidence and
optimism. Between July and December 2019, all our businesses
performed well, with the exception of Gros Cailloux. The trends
and financial indicators during this period suggest that we were
on track to generate yet another year of record revenues.

will also be the island’s and Indian Ocean’s first laboratory
to obtain the ISO/IEC 17025 accreditation for the testing
of tile adhesives. Indeed, Research & Development forms
the bedrock of Drymix’s ability to consistently innovate. For
instance, the “Ti Béton” concrete bags launched last year
received a very positive response from the market. This
gives us fresh impetus to continue innovating and focusing
on product differentiation in a drive to help our consumers
undertake their DIY projects. Alongside this, we increased our
shareholding in Drymix from 51% to 54.6% during the year.
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“In many respects, I do believe

A FTE R AC H I E VI NG A RECORD RE VE NUE I N 20 1 9,
FY20 20 WA S SE T TO BE A TRA NSFORMATI VE YE A R
FOR TH E UBP GROUP. H OW D I D TH E GROUP
P E RFORM BE FORE TH E A DVE NT OF TH E PA ND E MI C
I N MA RC H 20 20 ?
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INTERVIEW WITH THE GROUP CEO

Espace Maison’s online presence played an important
role in helping us offset part of our losses. Despite this, our
performance for the year was impacted by exceptional stock
provisions and by the expected low performance of our new
Beau Vallon store.
Gros Cailloux’s vegetable-growing activities were affected by
a drop in yield and prices, despite an appreciable increase in
agricultural produce since the end of lockdown as consumers
have begun favouring local producers. The leisure park’s
activities have naturally seen a sharp decline, a trend we expect
to subsist throughout 2020 and even 2021. Our performance
was also impacted by an adverse valuation of our consumable
biological assets. Consequently, our Group profit decreased
substantially from Rs 207.3 million for FY2019 to Rs 21.9 million
for the financial year under review.
Even though our budget for FY2021 is based on a level of
activity we used to generate three years ago, we take comfort
in knowing that had we continued on our trend, despite the
unfavourable weather conditions in the beginning of 2020,
the Group would have generated 8% more revenue than in
the previous year. This leaves us with the confidence that our
strategic directions are sound.
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As the pandemic reached Mauritius in March 2020, the
government ordered a two-week complete lockdown, which
was later extended, as a precautionary measure to curb the
spread of the virus. As a result of these bold measures, we
became free of COVID-19 as early as May 2020. This is a huge
feat given that Mauritius was identified as being one of the most
“high risk” countries by the World Health Organisation due to
our high volume of international travel and population density.
But before I dive into the current state of our business, I
want to start with what I consider to be our greatest asset:
our people. Despite the environment of uncertainty and fear
that was prevailing, I remain amazed by the speed at which our
team members reacted from the very onset. Our employees’
instinctive reaction was to step up to support our company,
each other and customers. They took up their respective
responsibilities with a level of willingness, ownership and
motivation I could not have imagined. Many voluntarily left
the comfort of their homes to secure our production sites
overnight, with only one thing in mind: the safety of our
people. It was nothing short of incredible to witness our team
members display such kindness and solidarity even in moments
of heightened stress. One indicator that clearly illustrates this
is the Employee Engagement, which increased from 75% to
78% in the survey carried out this year. This only reinforces my
belief in the values we have been instilling into our culture. The
UBP Group truly is one big family. The very next day, we began
setting up a plan of action to ensure business continuity. Our
first priority was to secure our sites and offices and implement
a Work-from-Home protocol. I must say the transition was
smooth, thanks to our digitization efforts over the years. Office
365 was particularly useful in keeping everyone connected and
productive.
Next, we set up a Facebook page through which we could
maintain frequent communication with our employees. It is in
times of uncertainty that we realise how much our employees
depend on us as trusted sources. We were determined to be as
frank and transparent as possible, with regard to what we knew,

More details on page 124
In June 2020, our core management team got together
to review our strategic priorities. We defined a short-term
COVID Plan with the objective of building more agility into
our organisational structures, leadership, culture, products and
services. A major component of this roadmap is investing in
and empowering our key personnel so they are equipped with
the skills and confidence to not only capitalise on emerging
opportunities, but also respond to threats. This roadmap
ultimately brings us a step closer to our long-term strategy,
which remains as relevant as ever, even in today’s disruptive
landscape.

Third, we began exploring scenarios for business recovery and
resilience: how can we leverage our technology and strengths
to adapt to the new normal? How do we address emerging
customer needs? How do we maintain our cash flow?
Certain businesses, like Espace Maison, were more equipped
than others to kickstart their activities. Having launched the
latest version of its e-commerce website not long before
lockdown, Espace Maison was relatively prepared to serve
the urgent needs of customers. The challenge was that with
no time to run the necessary tests prior to launch, we knew
we would likely encounter technical difficulties. Under the
circumstances, speed was of the essence and failure was not
an option: with families confined to their homes, demand for
Royal Canin products escalated
and the number of online queries
multiplied. We therefore carried on
operating. To our pleasant surprise,
Espace Maison’s team rose to
the challenge and managed to
resolve the issues along the way,
all while offering high levels of
customer service. Despite the
technical setbacks and delays, our
clients, many of whom are regular
shoppers at Espace Maison, were
appreciative of our sincere desire
to help. Through our humane
approach, we forged a stronger
bond with them in this period.
In fact, one of the unexpected
benefits of this crisis was the
conversion of customers who
were previously resistant to using
digital platforms. Espace Maison
“I believe the greatest
experienced a significant surge in
the number of users during the
challenge we face is remaining
lockdown, which has translated
profitable in a world ridden
into a more widespread adoption
of our e-commerce platform since
with uncertainty, while also
then.
Having met the initial challenges
of the pandemic, the next step
was to establish a set of Back to
Work guidelines for our different
activities, which clearly outline the

upholding our promise of
supporting our employees and
preserving employment in all
our subsidiaries.”
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various phases of gradually returning back to the workplace
once the lockdown was lifted. All departments and functions
were apprised of the new mandatory safety regulations, as well
as the new practices in the areas of logistics, meetings or even
customer-facing interactions.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

It is no understatement to say that the world has changed
dramatically in 2020. The speed and magnitude of the COVID-19
crisis is unlike anything we have experienced in our lifetime.
A tragic number of people have lost their lives despite countries
implementing nation-wide lockdowns, quarantines and social
distancing measures. But beyond the human toll, the economic
and social damage is already alarming. Production flows are
disrupted, demand for non-essential goods is plummeting, and
income losses and financial hardships are bringing SMEs and
households to their knees. Sadly, I believe we have yet to face
the full force of the downstream effects of the pandemic, like
deepening existing inequalities, and that the shock will be felt
for years to come.

but also what we did not know. Through video messages, we
opened an ongoing line of dialogue, providing information
on how to remain safe and maintain social distancing, how to
balance the blurring work/home boundaries and what priorities
would guide our decisions. All our leaders, myself included,
made themselves accessible to our staff so we could maintain
a sense of calm and reassurance. This is when our shared sense
of purpose and humanity really revealed themselves. In our
common enemy that is COVID-19, we reaffirmed our unity as
a Group.

CAPITAL
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Our revenue and profitability for the first two months of 2020
were somewhat impacted by bad weather conditions and
delays encountered by ongoing major projects, which added
to an increase in the production cost of our core business.
Upon the announcement of the lockdown in March 2020,
we witnessed a decline in revenue due to the halt of all our
operations and activities. The virus was spreading at a rapid
pace and social distancing measures were implemented
strictly. Our priority was, and remains, the safety and wellbeing of our employees, and we made a clear decision to not
reopen our production sites unless we were certain we could
do so safely. Retail stores that were deemed non-essential
were forbidden from operating, and public gatherings were
banned. Fortunately, Espace Maison was able to supply pet
food through home delivery, before being authorised to open
its shops and operate under a contactless Click & Collect
model only. These restrictions impacted our overall revenue,
which declined by 47.4% to Rs 422.5 million for the quarter to
June 2020 (compared to Rs 803.7 million for the same quarter
in 2019). After obtaining the Work Access Permits (WAPs) for
our production and sales activities in May 2020, our revenue
took a turn for the better, increasing progressively in June 2020
to reach Rs 2.9 billion for the financial year (FY2019 – Rs 3.2
billion).

THE O U TBREAK OF COV ID- 19 HAS DISRUP TE D
COU N TRIES , BU S IN ES S ES AN D CO M MUNI TI E S
ACROS S THE WO RLD. HOW DID THE U B P GROUP
RES PO N D TO THIS U N PRECEDEN TED CRISI S?

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

As stated earlier, the Group began the year on a very promising
note and generated a revenue of Rs 1.8 billion between July and
December 2019, compared to Rs 1.7 billion for the same period
the previous year. This 6.1% growth in revenue was driven by
a solid performance in our core business and retail segments
locally. Espace Maison, for its part, recorded a revenue of
Rs 540.1 million, a 7.6% rise compared to the previous year.
Our Group operating profit stood at Rs 188.2 million, up by
1.4% compared to December 2019.
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CON ST RU CTIO N H A S LO N G B EEN A DR I V ER OF
THE I SL AND ’ S ECO N O M I C G ROW T H A N D IS N OW
S E T TO P L AY A MAJ O R RO L E I N O U R R ECOV ERY. IS
THIS A R E ASO NABL E EX PEC TAT I O N ?

WHAT ARE THE G REATES T CHALLEN G ES FAC I NG TH E
G RO U P AN D HOW DO YOU PL AN ON ADDRE SSI NG
THEM ?

In many respects, I do believe construction could play a key
role in leading Mauritius to recovery, especially because the
impact of the pandemic on some of the island’s core industries
have been far more severe.

I believe the greatest challenge we face is remaining profitable
in a world ridden with uncertainty, while also upholding
our promise of supporting our employees and preserving
employment in all our subsidiaries.

Tourism and hospitality, being dependent on tourist arrivals,
are the hardest hit and will likely be among the last sectors to
resume their activities. Even since our borders have reopened,
tourists have been hesitant to travel due to tighter budgets and
health-related fear. Alongside this, the financial services sector’s
reputation has been tainted by the European Commission’s
decision to place Mauritius on its list of high-risk countries for
money laundering and the financing of terrorist networks. All of
this is exacerbated by our over reliance on imports to procure
raw materials or even food for the population.

Gros Cailloux will no doubt be one of our focus areas this
year. With reduced activities in landscaping and leisure, and
a resulting decline in revenue, our priority will be to increase
our agricultural capacity and capitalise on the growing trend
of consumers choosing to purchase locally-grown produce,
particularly those that are certified by ‘Made in Moris.’ In parallel,
we are also seeking new opportunities to enhance our offering
in terms of leisure activities. Overall, we anticipate FY2021 to be
another challenging year for Gros Cailloux.

Given this context, there is no doubt that focusing on
construction will provide economic relief to the country,
at least over the short term. The government has thrown a
lifeline to our industry through an investment of Rs 41 billion
and initiatives like the building of social housing units, bus
terminals, roads, bridges, dams, hospitals and the completion
of the Metro System and fly over road projects. Beyond these
measures, these large-scale projects are labor-intensive and
contribute to generating employment. This is critical, as the
social and psychological impact of unemployment cannot be
overstated. The loss of jobs is not only the loss of income; it also
strips people of dignity and meaning. If placing construction at
the heart of our recovery plan will preserve thousands of jobs,
I support it wholeheartedly.
This context seems encouraging and I believe UBP is heading
into this new financial year on stronger footing than many other
businesses. But we must not rest on our laurels. That’s because
in the best or worst of times, the health of the construction
industry is tied to the state of the economy. Declining tourist
arrivals, the depreciation of our currency against the USD and
the EURO and a high inflation rate means that private sector
businesses will hold off on large expenditures; likewise, the
private dwellings market, which makes up about 60% of our
core business revenue, is increasingly reluctant to spend large
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In parallel, the retail industry is expected to plummet due
to a disrupted global supply chain, rising import prices and
extremely unfavourable foreign exchange rates. Consumer
habits have shifted and indicators suggest that these habits
will endure beyond the crisis. As a direct result, Espace Maison
should experience declining revenues as from January 2021.
We are in the process of revising our sales strategy in line with
new customer behaviours and a different risk environment.
It is unclear how the pandemic will play out or what the longerterm economic impacts will be. With no visibility into what the
future holds, we are focusing our attention on our strengths
and core capabilities:
-
The management team has taken protective measures to
embark on a Group-wide cost containment programme,
which we believe is key in navigating the current landscape.
To this end, we are either deferring or cancelling a number of
planned investments so we can manage our cash flow more
carefully. These do not include digital innovations, which we
in fact intend to accelerate. Our goal, ultimately, is to ensure
that our cost structure can support the Group over the next
12 months.

Security is yet another of our big challenges. On a sad note,
I am devastated to share that we lost a valuable member of
our UBP family in a tragic accident on October 14, 2019. No
words can adequately describe our sorrow at the demise of
Swaley Cheekhoory, who spent 31 long years with the Group.
Unfortunately, production sites are by nature prone to certain
risks and hazards. To those who have lost a dear friend and
colleague in Swaley, allow me to reassure you that we are
redoubling our efforts to strengthen our safety procedures.
Beyond the routine checks by Health and Safety officers, we
are in the process of setting up a Health and Safety Strategic
Committee, whose role will be to maximise employee safety.
On behalf of the Group, I would like to convey our sincere
condolences to Swaley’s family.
IN ADDITION TO CHALLENGES, MANY OPPORTUNITIES
ARE EMERGING FROM THIS PANDEMIC. HOW IS THE
UBP GROUP PL ANNING TO RESET FOR GROWTH
BEYOND THE CRISIS? WHAT ARE YOUR IMMEDIATE
PRIORITIES AND LONGER-TERM OBJECTIVES?
I believe the greatest challenge we face is remaining profitable
Every crisis, whether it is the 2008 financial crisis or the
COVID-19 pandemic, has presented opportunities to reshape
our economies and societies in lasting ways. If played out
well, a crisis of this scale could result in long-term success.
Our reactions and actions during the lockdown have revealed
that we have the capabilities to adapt to unexpected situations:
we swiftly migrated to new ways of working, with virtual
meetings and other forms of digital collaboration becoming
standard.
INNOVATION AND DIGITALISATION
The crisis has accelerated existing trends and created an
environment in which digitalisation and innovation are king.
The e-commerce activity peaked during lockdown as online
shopping became the safest and most convenient way to
procure necessities. Espace Maison’s performance illustrates
this trend. It experienced a spike in demand from existing users
and new demographics, like older generations, who continue
to favour online purchases today. Knowing that consumer
behaviour has altered permanently and that competition has
heightened, we are multiplying our efforts to provide a seamless

Beyond e-commerce, our strategy entails consistent
digitalisation along our value chain. Notable examples include
the migration of our head office server to cloud services and
the implementation of a new CRM for Drymix, UBP and Espace
Maison. In conjunction with our UBP 2.0 project, which is
centred on digitalising our production processes to gain in
efficiency and agility, we are developing solutions that will no
doubt enable our employees to carry out their day-to-day
functions from anywhere and be more nimble to customer
needs. I am proud that our efforts and investments in a robust
digital transformation strategy over the last few years are
paying off, but we still need to progress to be ahead of the
curve in this area.
ADAPTING TO NEW CONSUMER HABITS
As consumers are increasingly recognising the need to prioritise
local brands in a drive towards more self-sufficiency, this
presents a major opportunity for our activities at Gros Cailloux.
We aim to meet the growing demand for local produce by
continuing to develop our smart agriculture techniques.
Consumers have also paused to reflect on their consumption
as they lose confidence in the global food-supply chain. They
are now shopping more mindfully and cost-consciously,
choosing to go down the DIY path. This is not only applicable
to home improvement projects, but also home vegetable
and fruit gardening. We have found that by combining the
complementary activities and products of Espace Maison
and Gros Cailloux, we are uniquely positioned to meet this
unprecedented interest in DIY projects, which will certainly
outlive COVID-19.
H AVE SUSTA I NA BI LI T Y A N D C SR TA KE N A B AC KSE AT
I N TH E COVI D -1 9 E RA ?
Today, headlines are revolving around the pandemic, but
climate change could cause economic damages that are far
worse than those caused by COVID-19. The pandemic has
exposed the environmental damage and social inequalities
driven by our current economic system. Now is the best time to
reflect on the world we are leaving behind for our children. To
us, a resilient recovery means developing sustainable building
solutions, as well as getting our vulnerable communities back
on their feet.
During the year, we increased our on-the-ground engagement
beyond contributing to the national COVID-19 Solidarity
Fund. We were active participants in the cleanup effort

[...]
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- Containing our costs will grant us the agility and flexibility
to pursue growth-focused strategies. For this, organisational
efficiency is crucial. We are reconsidering the effectiveness
of our operating model, products, markets and channels
in a way that focuses on high-value and future-oriented
projects. Our newly onboarded Financial Controller and Risk
& Compliance Officer will both be instrumental in helping
us achieve these goals and build resilience so that UBP can
thrive in a post-COVID-19 world.

digital experience to our customers: we are continuing to
upgrade our mobile platform and remain connected to our
clients via social media, while ensuring that our brick-andmortar shops offer innovative features that enhance the instore shopping experience.

MANAGEMENT
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For this recovery to be durable, there is an urgent need to
tackle the existing challenge of unskilled labour in our industry.
A key element of the government’s plan is an emphasis on the
development of skills—an initiative we strongly support. There
is no better time to train the new generation of workers in
skills related to construction and other ancillary services so we
can revitalise the industry and ensure we achieve sustainable
success.

	But cost-cutting to us does not mean simply tightening the
belt; it also means redirecting our costs to the right growth
drivers. This brings me to my second point.

CORPORATE
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amounts of money on anything beyond essentials. If that
persists, our Group will not come out of this crisis unscathed.

CAPITAL
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Even as we confront this uncertain climate, whose impact is
clearly visible in our figures for the year, we must recognise
that we did not face the same challenges as businesses in other
industries. Barring two months of standstill, our activities were
quick to resume in May 2020. In fact, I believe UBP is uniquely
positioned: we can use this window of opportunity between the
first wave of the pandemic and the predicted second wave to
develop adequate strategies that will, at the very least, cushion
the blow. This is not the case for industries like tourism and
hospitality, that are still suffering from the absence of tourists.
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Please refer to page 112 for more details on our
Sustainability endeavours.

Preserving the livelihoods of our affected communities has
never been more pressing. Our responsibility as citizens
of Mauritius extends beyond distributing dividends to our
shareholders. Our newly formed Sponsoring Committee
was active in supporting our beneficiaries to the tune of over
Rs 1.6 million during the year, while gathering volunteers
from the Group to help us carry out projects in the areas of
Poverty, Education, Sports, Culture and the Environment –

ABOUT US

DO YO U HAV E AN Y CLO S IN G THOU G HTS ?
I would like to begin by thanking the management team
and the Board of Directors for helping us navigate what we
can only describe as an unusual year. I am grateful for their
responsiveness, reliability and sound advice in these difficult
times.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

		

forward-thinking approach. We have also accomplished
transformative work to build a more resilient UBP through our
investments in digital, sustainability and our human capital. The
result? Engaged employees, strong brands and loyal customers.
These are not only the pillars of our past success, but also the
foundation for our future success.

I also extend my gratitude to our shareholders, customers and
partners for their ongoing trust and confidence in our Group.

CORPORATE
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following the MV Wakashio Oil spill, contributing material,
equipment and logistics to the cause. We also pursued our
sustainability agenda, with a strong emphasis on energy
efficiency. Some of the most notable measures include
the upgrade of our fuel monitoring system to reduce fuel
consumption and emissions, the implementation of Le
Geste Vert d’Espace Maison to encourage recycling and the
integration of the UN’s 17 Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs) into our daily actions. At the same time, we continue
to explore the development of eco-friendly products.
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Last but not least, a heartfelt thank you to our 1,399 team
members. I am so proud of the way they have come together
in true spirit of solidarity, even in uncharted territory. Thank you
for bringing our values and mission to life in a more meaningful
way.

Refer to page 130 for more details.

As we look ahead to 2020 and beyond, even in the midst of
an uncertain economic climate, we are rather optimistic about
what the future holds for our Group. We know we are fortunate
to be operating in an industry that is less vulnerable than
other sectors and that has already been experiencing growth.
Despite the two-month setback during the lockdown period
and assuming a second wave of infections doesn’t strike, we
are expecting our core business to return to the activity levels
we were accustomed to three years ago. Given the current
circumstances, this is an extremely positive scenario.
We expect our core business segment to pick up in the first
six months of FY2021 due to the resumption of major public
infrastructure and property development projects that were
underway when the lockdown was imposed. In contrast, several
new property development and smart city projects have been
delayed or may be cancelled altogether, and the retail segment
will be severely affected by a shrinking purchasing power and
imported inflation. As for Gros Cailloux, we are rethinking our
strategy in a way that will likely bear fruit in the next two years.
Bearing the above in mind, we expect a slowdown in revenue
in the second semester of FY2021.
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Before I end my message, I would like to share some lessons I
have drawn from this crisis, both from the perspective of a CEO
and in a more personal capacity. When confronting a challenge
of this scale, you have two ways out: you can either get trapped
in a downward spiral of “what-ifs”, or you can accept that
uncertainty is an unavoidable part of life. With this mindset,
you can focus on taking action over the aspects that are within
your control. Play on your strengths, trust those around you,
continue serving and living your purpose, and most importantly,
let us not forget that we are stronger together.

FINANCIAL
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LOOKING AHE AD TO 2 0 2 0 A N D B EYO N D, WHAT
D OE S THE F U T U R E LO O K L I K E F O R U B P G RO U P?

Stéphane Ulcoq
Group CEO

I do not know for certain if Mauritius will be hit by a second
wave of infections. But what I do know is that resilience is a
recurring theme in UBP’s history. Rather than rely on forecasts,
we choose to rely on our highly adaptive business model that
has served us well in good and bad times. Over the years, the
Group has worked hard to maintain a strong balance sheet
and healthy levels of cash on hand, thanks to a prudent and
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Every year in our integrated report, we
provide a section on the major ‘drivers of
change’ that may affect our business. These
global macro forces shape socio-cultural
and economic trends (and vice-versa) which
directly impact our business. 2020 marks the
beginning of a new decade, punctuated by
an unprecedented health crisis, a resulting
global economic downturn, increasing
climate emergencies, and political and social
fragmentation at the global level. As our world
increases in complexity and uncertainty, this
section of our report is ever more important.

Developed countries are getting older, and so is Mauritius, a worrying
trend for a country that has not accumulated the same amount of wealth
as its Western counterparts. Governments in Europe and Japan give us a
glimpse of our future: attempts to address fertility rates through flexible
working hours, advancements in robotics and more retirement homes. As
the productive tissue of Mauritius is set to decrease in the coming decade,
more than half of the projected global population rise up to 2050 will be
concentrated in just nine countries, namely: India, Nigeria, Pakistan, Congo,
Ethiopia, Tanzania, Indonesia, Egypt and the US. In these same countries,
we also witness an increase in urbanisation and consumption.

2.

R I S I NG I NEQUAL I T I E S
A ND ‘ T HE LO S S O F FU T U R E ’
Despite rising global prosperity, the division between the wealthy and poor
is widening and so are the inequalities between generations. Across the
globe, countries are expecting the next generation to be poorer than they
are “Millennials are 10% less likely to sit in the same economic bracket than
Baby Boomers were at their age.” (IPSOS). The 2017 Central Intelligence
Agency (CIA) report ‘The World in 2035: Paradox of Progress’ underlines
that, for the first time, a worse future seems inevitable. This is a massive shift
from the last half-century of post-World War II optimism.

Our short analysis is based on sources such as
the latest IPSOS report, the World Economic
Forum World Risk Report, various sources on
global industry trends, and the local news and
social media platforms – including, of course,
the 2020 National Budget. The selection
of ‘drivers of change’ below is not meant to
be exhaustive; rather, we have singled out
those we believe will have a greater impact
on our industry and businesses. Predicting
the full breadth of impact of the pandemic
and the success or failure of both global and
local responses is not possible at the time
of writing. At this stage, we may only infer
certain short and medium term possibilities.

Over the past decade, Mauritius has experienced an average annual per
capita growth of 3.6%, with an increase in purchasing power and urbanisation
for middle-class families. This was however accompanied by increasing
inequality. The World Bank (2017) shows that household income inequality
has widened significantly from 0.36 in 2001 to 0.42 in 2015, particularly in
the aftermath of the global economic downturn and terms-of-trade shock
that hit Mauritius between 2008 and 2015. As it battles with the effects of
COVID-19 and of being placed on the EU’s risk blacklist, combined with an
expected rise in inflation and import costs and the potential loss of certain
financial and investment companies and services – Mauritius may well join
the West in its anxiety about the future.

3.

T EC H NO LO GI C A L
E VO LU T I O N
Today, technology and its increased ability to connect and communicate, is
leading to unprecedented socio-economic change. The 2020s will be the
decade in which Artificial Intelligence (AI), geodata, the Internet of Things
(IoT), bioscience and quantum computing will be given the opportunity to
reshape our world. Automation will make production more resource and
time efficient, but it will also change the labour market and it is unlikely
to benefit the disadvantaged. While technology may change work-life
patterns, facilitating more flexibility, it will erase jobs from the economy
in the medium term. COVID-19 has offered us an unexpected glimpse of
how our lives will look in the future, in terms of what technology can and
cannot achieve, especially in our work life patterns and the e-commerce
space. There is a general feeling that technology can enable efficiency and
freedom, but that the ‘human touch’ and spontaneity are not yet replicable
by robots and digitalisation. Regardless, both the speed of the evolution of
technology and its ubiquity are likely to impact our economy and how we
organise our work life.
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4.

5.

Over the past few years, the relative stability of our unipolar international
system has been replaced by a fragmented, complex and tense multipolar
world. Geopolitical tensions are high, from the US-China trade wars and
Russia’s rise as a disruptor, to the rise of protectionism and populism in
the West. Misinformation, election meddling and cyber-attacks are now
mainstream, further adding to the tensions. “We rely almost entirely on our
information infrastructure, and we cannot accurately track how it is being
sold, who to, or why” (IPSOS).

1.	With fewer new young families on the
horizon, the new-home construction
market will likely decrease in the coming
decade.

The looming threat of a post-COVID-19 global recession exacerbates
international tensions, underlined by increasing global debt and resource
conflicts. Social, economic, environmental and political value systems are
shifting and impacts will be felt in this coming decade. In Mauritius, it is easy
to feel a sense of disconnect from global geopolitics and global recessions,
especially as we were mostly spared from the brunt of the 2008-10 financial
crisis. A decade later, this new crisis feels more real and relevant to Mauritius
than ever, highlighting the interconnectedness of the world we live in.

3.	
There is a strong emerging trend
showing that simplicity is increasingly
seen as a luxury (63% according to
IPSOS survey), particularly in a world that
is becoming ever more complex. This
is epitomised by the success of Marie
Kondo’s ‘The Life-Changing Magic of
Tidying’ and the increased prevalence
of books dealing with topics like
‘zero-waste home’. Anecdotal evidence
shows COVID-19 has only reinforced
this sentiment.

TH E TH REAT O F
C L I M ATE C H A N G E
As previously stated in our 2019 Integrated Report, climate change is the
global challenge that links us all globally and which is having major impacts
on our collective social values. This is one of the rare cases in which we
can say with absolute certainty that changing values are translating into
consequential behavioural changes and actions. The 2020 World Economic
Forum World Risk Report highlights that for the first time ever, the top risks
facing the world concerns environmental issues, even surpassing terrorism
and cyber-attacks. Climate and health concerns have merged, a trend
which was apparent well before COVID-19 and has only been reinforced
by the pandemic. The health of the planet and that of individuals are
intrinsically linked and this link has never been clearer.
One major area of concern, particularly for industries like ours that depend
on the availability of raw materials, is the threat of resource depletion, be it
water, soil fertility or rare earths, provoking new technical and economic
challenges, and social tensions. Conflicts over resources are also on the
increase, as a direct result of countries and companies prioritising their
economic prospects over the sustainable use of resources. Mauritius hasn’t
been spared, with an increased number of legal cases and petitions against
both public and private sectors.
As the climate emergency and technological evolution occur
simultaneously, we see a strong emerging trend in Cleantech (Clean
Technology) – technological innovations that aim to reduce green gas
emissions and deliver a cleaner, smarter future. While many argue that a
profound social and economic transformation is necessary to avoid the
worst impacts, Cleantech has emerged as one of the most impactful
solutions.

2.	
An increase in local consumption in
support of local initiatives, for both
climate and health perspectives.

4.	The desire to lead a healthier lifestyle
is another trend that has emerged
over the last ten years. With millennials
ageing and experiencing an increase
in their buying power, this trend is only
likely to rise. Once more, anecdotal
evidence shows COVID-19 has only
reinforced this trend .
5.	Discerning consumption is on the rise.
According to IPSOS, 78% of consumers
globally believe it is possible, and even
expected, for a brand to support a good
cause. In addition, due to previous
experiences of ‘greenwashing’ and
other misleading information, many
consumers are seeking genuine
communication and authenticity from
brands.
6.	
The growing popularity of social
commerce (instashopping), and other
forms of e-commerce have grown,
creating new avenues to sell and
engage with consumers. Despite this,
many still prefer the traditional medium
of physically seeing or touching an
item before purchasing it, meaning that
brick-and-mortar shops are not yet
history.
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1.

The aforementioned macro forces may
have a significant impact on market
trends and consumption behaviour in the
following ways:
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Drivers
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NATURAL CAPITAL
We understand the high importance of natural elements
and resources for our operations and the society as a whole
and our responsibility to positively impact the environment.

>3.0 million tonnes of
boulders
15.3 million kWh of
electricity

Fuel for company
vehicles and industrial
consumption: 2.3
million litres

AGGREGATES
PRODUCTION
AND BLOCK
MAKING

OUTPUTS

CO2 emissions calculation
(electricity)
Scope 2 only: 14,641 tonnes

•	Exploring and implementing sustainable and energyefficient practices throughout the Group.
•	Understanding our exposure to climate risks and applying
mitigating procedures within our supply chain to protect
assets.

226 tonnes of gas

639 employees trained
809 hours of training
60 individual training programmes

•	Fostering a safe, inclusive, and ethical organisational culture
and environment.
•	Developing the skillsets of the workforce at all organisational
levels.
•	Engaging and aligning individual employee values with
organisational values and providing a framework for
increased personal and professional growth.
•	Ensuring ease of communication throughout the Group.

Continued digitalisation
Drymix ISO/IEC 17025
certification

•	Ensuring that all emerging intellectual property is
protected.
•	Educating staff on socially responsible use of different
systems.
•	Understanding the need for organisation-wide principled
practices.

HUMAN CAPITAL
Our human capital remains integral to the Group. We seek to
develop and leverage the diverse competencies, capabilities
and experience of our workforce to add sustained value to our
service and the economy.

1,399 employees

Investment in training:
Rs 3.1 million including
Rs 0.5 million for
certification courses

READY-TO-USE
DRY MORTAR

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
The intangible assets embodied within the Group have proven
vital to maintaining our efficiency, competitive advantage and
brand reputation within our operating markets. We constantly
pursue the improvement and protection of our processes
through copyrights, patents and software systems in different
capacities in our companies.

Know-how, expertise,
systems
Club Espace Maison
> 78,000 members

E-ticketing, employee
mobile app, mobile app
for B2B, new version of
e-commerce site

RETAIL

SOCIAL CAPITAL
As a Group, we understand that we are not an individual entity.
Rather, we are part of a large network of stakeholders and a
community. It is with this understanding that we strive to build
and uphold honourable relationships based on shared values,
ethics and behaviours that are beneficial to all parties involved.

>250 local suppliers
across UBP Group

>65 construction
professionals

>70 retailers (UBP Group)

MANUFACTURED CAPITAL
Manufactured capital remains a vital pillar in our industrial
operations. Apart from our contribution in providing clients
with this capital, our daily use of buildings, equipment and
infrastructure focuses on maximising productivity, efficiency,
and innovation.

CSR spending: Rs 1.9 million
Sponsoring projects:
Rs 1.6 million
COVID-19 Fund: Rs 3.0 million

Raw materials used in
our production:

Recycled Glass: 147
tonnes

Cement: >50,000
tonnes

Fertilizers: 180 tonnes

Additions to Property,
Plant and Equipment:
Rs 287.9 million

Total assets:
Rs 5.6 billion

AGRICULTURE
AND LEISURE

FINANCIAL CAPITAL
Our financial capital remains a linking factor amongst the
other capitals. This capital continuously allows us to develop
different areas of our business through investments and
purchases for sustained value creation.
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Payment to suppliers:
Rs 2.0 billion

ONE STOP SHOP

>3.0 million tonnes of aggregates
& rocksand
>20 million blocks
>50,000 tonnes of dry mortar
1,300 tonnes of vegetables
396,000 plants sold

Cash generated from operations:
Rs 474.4 million
Total wealth created: Rs 1.0 billion
Salaries and other benefits paid:
Rs 631.0 million
Dividends paid: Rs 50.4 million

INTRODUCTION

STAKEHOLDER RESPONSIBILITY

•	Ensuring the sustainability of our companies.
•	Supporting initiatives aimed at improving communities.
•	Interacting with different key stakeholders in a
trustworthy manner.
•	Improving overall quality of living for stakeholders

•	Providing quality products whilst safeguarding our
competitive advantage.
•	Minimising waste by improving our processes.
•	Conserving or increasing our output levels and capacity
to meet market demand.
•	Incorporating innovative products and services into our
product lines.

•	Allocating funds responsibly throughout the Group.
• Reporting in line with prevailing laws.
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INPUTS

CAPITAL
REPORTS

Business
model

ABOUT US

MANAGEMENT APPROACH
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MANAGEMENT APPROACH

MANAGEMENT APPROACH

2. Inbound
logistics and
distribution:
Coordinating the secure
storage and transportation of
goods. Ensuring the safe and
timely delivery of products
through our well-established
distribution network.

3.

We always strive for ease
of access to our products
for our clients, increasing
physical and digital point
of sales across the island.
Espace Maison’s digital
services have improved
this year, including a Click
& Collect system during
the lockdown.

1.
4.

5. After-sales
services:
Repair and return services
are available at all our shops,
complaint procedures and
resolution procedures are
transparent and quick, and
we continue to offer both
digitalised and personal
interactions.

2.
4.

6. End of life:

3. Production:
UBP, Drymix and Gros
Cailloux have production
sites across the island
that are equipped and
maintained through capital
expenditure
and
our
seasoned workforce. Safety
is an imperative on all of our
sites, and physical distancing
as well as the wearing of
masks and other protective
equipment are mandatory.
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6.
5.

We reduce waste to
landfill by repairing broken
equipment, selling our used
oil and metals to recyclers,
reprocessing rejected blocks
and offering discounts and
donating damaged products.

UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020 - 55

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

3.

4. Point of sales:

CAPITAL
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Obtaining the required
materials at the optimal
time to maintain stock levels
and meet market demand.
When possible, we favour
sustainable inputs such as
locally recycled glass in
Drymix products, recycled
water at Gros Cailloux, and
an increase in eco-friendly
products at Espace Maison.

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1. Procurement:

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

ABOUT US

Value
chain

INTRODUCTION

MANAGEMENT APPROACH

MANAGEMENT APPROACH

Generate cash flow now
and in the future by
capitalising on our assets

Invest in key resources to
meet existing demand

Continuously update the necessary
digital tools adapted to each
company’s and the Group’s needs
(1) 
CAPITALISE ON SYNERGY LEVERS
to streamline processes.
AND ENSURE EFFICIENT PROCESSES

Empower employees in
their roles to act, delegate,
collaborate, coordinate
Evolve towards an integrated Group
and establish the organisational
and legal structures as and when
required.

As a pillar of the local business community since 1953, UBP is fortunate to be part of a robust and resilient group. To thrive in
an unstable and complex era marked by rapid changes, it is imperative to build on our achievements and further develop our
business agility. This implies organisational structures and processes, leadership and culture, innovation, products and services.
Our ‘Strategy 2020’, still serves as our guidance in the long term. However, in order to be better aligned with the current context
and our AGILITY goal, we have brought about some changes. We have created a detailed short-term plan and adapted our
objectives as part of a long-term continuous strategy.

Diversification of our products and
outputs.

Following COVID-19, our short-term priorities have been laid out as follows:
1.	Capitalise on the Group’s synergistic capabilities and through the continuous digitalisation of our processes, create a Group
Sales structure to streamline inter-company processes and protocols.

OUTCOME
Drymix is testing its Customer Relationship
Management tool (CRM) whereas those
of UBP and Espace Maison are currently
being developed. Our employees will
be trained in its use. At Gros Cailloux,
Navision has been implemented, while
Espace Maison is concentrating on its
digital sales platforms.

A new Head of Operations was appointed
towards the end of 2019. The Group
is accompanied by consultants on
our UNIVISION project to improve
coordination, synergy and collaboration.

At Gros Cailloux we reviewed our
agricultural products to differentiate
ourselves from others in the market, while
staying true to our smart agricultural
practices.
At UBP, we introduced our new bagging
plant back in FY2019. Improvements on
packaging and processing are underway.

(2) 
ENSURE A CONTINUOUS OUTPUT
OF INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS AND
SERVICES

2.	Ensure continuous innovation of products and services by reinforcing our R&D team, capitalising on emerging opportunities
and naming a new R&D Manager.
3. Create a unified communication ‘front’ by digitalising all our communication channels and updating all necessary information.
4.	Build the capability of middle managers to utilise digital tools and to become independent, analytical and confident in their
roles.
5.	Monitor our externalities closely through frequent PESTLE analysis, engagement with research companies and local thought
leaders, frequently reviewing our operational risks to include and monitor new COVID-19 related risks.
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Evolve towards more sustainable
and eco-friendly materials and
services for the built environment.

We plan to continue developing products
and services that are more sustainable,
from agriculture and paints to blocks.
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Embrace change and
together rally around our
common objectives

STRATEGIC ORIENTATION

CAPITAL
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Agility

Our long-term goals are:

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our role as a leading Mauritian company in these troubled times is to create a trusting and safe environment for all our stakeholders.
It is important that our shareholders, employees, clients and all those who rely on us, feel confident to entrust us with their livelihoods,
time and dedication. To ensure strategic alignment with this necessity, the core management team met in June 2020 to review the
Group’s strategic priorities. We have agreed that our focus as a Group should be geared towards gaining in AGILITY.

ABOUT US

Strategy

INTRODUCTION

MANAGEMENT APPROACH

MANAGEMENT APPROACH

ABOUT US

Strategy

INTRODUCTION

MANAGEMENT APPROACH

Customer-related Standard Operating
Procedures
(SOPs)
and
protocols
have been reviewed and improved in
collaboration with employees. These will
be implemented in our digital tools and
training is planned.

(3) ENSURE CUSTOMER
ENGAGEMENT AND
SATISFACTION

Meet customers’ evolving needs and
market demand.

At the end of 2019, Espace Maison
opened its sixth shop in Beau Vallon,
which operated successfully until the
lockdown. Espace Maison then shifted as
many necessities as possible to a Click &
Collect system during the lockdown to
continue serving its customers.
Gros Cailloux also adapted its model to
ensure meal deliveries to local businesses
from its ‘Le Tekoma’ restaurant. It
also strived to increase its agricultural
capacities to meet demand.

Capacity building for our middle
management.

SOPs for production have been reviewed
and a plan is currently being worked out
by the HR in collaboration with Production
Managers to implement operational Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs).

Quality Management Systems.

Drymix is certified ISO 9001:2015, which
will now be implemented at department
level. Our laboratory is in the process of
being ISO 17025 certified.

Enhance employee engagement
through ethical business practices.

Negotiations with unions have been
underway since the end of the lockdown
and the announcement of the new laws
in the June National Budget.

(4) BUILD A WORKFORCE ABLE TO
SEIZE OPPORTUNITIES AND TAKE
INITIATIVES
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LONG-TERM OBJECTIVES

(5) C
 ONTINUE TO BUILD A STRONG
REPUTATION AROUND ALL OUR
BRANDS

Embark on a gradual shift towards
sustainability.

OUTCOME
MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

Continuously
invest
in
the
appropriate resources and review
our customer-facing protocols and
processes.

STRATEGIC ORIENTATION

An action plan is being prepared. A list
of activities will then be selected and
implemented in the coming year.
Continuous community
engagement and sponsorship,
especially in times of need.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

OUTCOME

CAPITAL
REPORTS

LONG-TERM OBJECTIVES

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

STRATEGIC ORIENTATION
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Materiality
matters

1.

Business ethics

2.

Innovation and diversification of our products
and materials

3.

Digital innovation in communication and sales

4.

Occupational health, safety and employee
wellness at work

5.

Building up employability and competencies
for today and tomorrow

6.

Developing intrapreneurship

7.

Modernisation and efficiency of our operations

With regard to our material matters, our employees believe that
we should concentrate on:

8.

Inscribing sustainability in our way of doing
business

1. Ethics and good governance (SDG 16);
2. Occupational Health and Safety (SDG 3);
3. Human development and training (SDG 4 & 8);
4. Efficiency and modernisation (SDG 9 & 12); and
5.	Management of our impacts on the environment (SDG
12,13,14,15).

In addition, we carried out an internal survey amongst our employees. The 100 respondents were mostly in managerial roles.
The aim of this questionnaire was firstly to reconnect with our employees and have them share their experience of the lockdown,
and secondly ask them what they believe the role of the Group ought to be in Mauritius over the next 12 months.
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of those surveyed believe
that society-wide changes
are necessary for the
future well-being of
Mauritius.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

SDG’S

66%

The top 3 changes deemed necessary for Mauritius are:

CAPITAL
REPORTS

In the meantime, we held a workshop with the management team to align our COVID-19 strategy with our most internal material
matters over the next 12 months:

Interestingly :

1.	working conditions become more flexible with the ‘Work
from Home’ model;
2.	living more simply and prioritising the ‘essentials’ of a good
life; and
3.	promoting a sustainable economic development that
nurtures and protects the environment.

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

It is premature at this stage to draw any society-wide conclusions on how COVID-19 will impact or change what matters are most
important to our external stakeholders, the durability of that change and the degree of that change. As such, creating a complete
materiality matrix for this year seems incongruent.

MATERIAL MATTERS

INTRODUCTION

MANAGEMENT APPROACH

In light of the above, employees believe that our role as a
Group should be to:
1.	continue being an employer of choice;
2.	
take social actions for communities who live close to
where we operate; and
3.	
continue to move forward, produce and innovate.

The results show a broad alignment between what our
managerial employees think and what the strategy dictates.
These findings have emboldened our journey as one team
towards a common goal.
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The clearest impact of this crisis has been the accelerated
digitalisation of our working practices. Luckily, all systems were
in place to swiftly transition to a ‘Work from Home’ model, and
to capitalise on digital sales platforms at Espace Maison. Though
the tools were in place, our culture and habits had yet to make
the same leap. While digital tools will not replace all human
interactions, many of these changes have been embraced and
are here to stay. It will therefore be imperative to accelerate
our own digitalisation journey across all our companies and to
bring our products and services closer to our customers.

Economic
Before the pandemic, Mauritius enjoyed steady growth, especially in the
construction sector which has continued to be an important driver of growth
over the past three years. We are now expecting a GDP contraction between 13%
and 15% locally for 2020. Globally, the situation is as dire. Despite the opening
of our borders since the month of October, all tourism activities are still very
low. The blacklisting of Mauritius by EU institutions will only make matters worse.
While at UBP Group we are not directly affected by this, the entire country is
impacted given that the tourism directly and indirectly contributes up to 20% of
our GDP. In addition, the threat of such an uncertain future is causing markets
to stagnate, while the departure of many expatriates and rising unemployment
will affect the local purchasing power. Yet, as a Group, we consider ourselves
fortunate. Despite a forecasted contraction of 20% for the calendar year 2020,
the construction sector is one of the least affected and will be able to rely on
the announced government budgetary measures. Our Group companies will also
be able to capitalise on certain emerging market trends such as the renewed
importance of ‘localism’, ‘food security and greener thumbs’.

Social
In a crisis of this magnitude, fear, anxiety and unemployment prevail, bringing
about the additional threat of social unrest. The pandemic has lifted the veil on
existing social inequalities globally and threatens to widen the gap between the
rich and poor. However, a bleak outcome is not certain and can be avoided.
Mauritians have demonstrated that they are motivated to come together,
to cooperate and work hard to build together a better future for our country.
There is an opportunity here to reinforce our relationship with our workforce,
and between our companies, in joining forces and sticking together. We are as
committed as ever to building a better living environment for all Mauritians.
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•

•

•

•

Legal
Many legal and policy changes are currently unfolding, with a
total of 12 Bills introduced at the National Assembly between
May and July this year. Asides from legislation affecting our
tax regime, other amendments impacting the construction
industry are as follows:
•

•
•

•

•

Waived fees related to the Building and Land Use Permit
(BLUP) for construction of pharmaceutical manufacturing
factories, food processing plants and warehouses.
Facilitating purchases of immovable properties by foreign
citizens through digital powers of attorney.
Extending the Construction of Housing Estate Scheme and
Acquisition of Newly Built Dwellings Scheme for another
period of two years and raising the eligibility threshold
under these schemes from Rs 6 million to Rs 7 million.
Allowing for payment of VAT as from the date of receipt
instead of the date of invoice for Government contracts in
relation to construction works.
Public projects with investments of less than Rs 300
million, and where pre-qualification is not required by the
Central Procurement Board, will be opened to Mauritian
companies only.

Amendments impacting the Agro-Industry are as follows:
•

•

Introduction of a comprehensive National Agri-Food
Development Programme to promote the Farm to Fork
concept, to ensure food security and reduce dependence
on imports.
A centralised digital Land Bank of State and Private Agricultural
Land will be set up under Landscope Mauritius Ltd. This
platform will help match demand and supply for land that
can be used for food production. 20,000 acres of abandoned

•

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

On November 07, 2019, the incumbent Prime Minister won a second mandate to
govern Mauritius for a full 5-year term. The government handled the COVID-19
crisis with decisiveness, choosing to keep its people safe from the virus. The June
2020 budget has brought about many changes to our policy and legal environment,
the consequences of which, both positive and negative, we are still grappling with.
While we, in Mauritius, live in relative peace and stability, the crisis has highlighted
pre-existing global geopolitical trends, fracturing social and political stability
worldwide. While there have been many acts of solidarity on the international
front, many countries are also acting unilaterally to protect their own short-term
interests. As a vulnerable small island nation, we must remain vigilant and agile,
while seeking all possible opportunities for our island to develop peacefully.

land will be made available on the platform for immediate
use.
Small planters having up to 10 acres of agricultural land will
be allowed to convert up to 10% of the land for residential or
commercial purposes.
The Food and Agricultural Research and Extension Institute
(FAREI) will develop the necessary standards and norms for
production, storage, transformation and commercialisation
of superfoods.
The Agricultural Marketing Board Act will be amended to
broaden the role and functions of the Agricultural Marketing
Board (AMB).
Under the Fruit Protection Scheme, a grant of 50% of the cost
of permanent netting structures will be provided to orchard
owners.
For distressed companies affected directly by the pandemic
in the agricultural sector, the Development Bank of Mauritius
(DBM) will provide loans at a concessional rate of 0.5% per
annum.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Technological

CAPITAL
REPORTS

COVID-19 impact

Political

Environmental
COVID-19 has shed light on the symbiotic relationship between
nature’s wellbeing and that of humans. A recently published
study calculated that the “cost of preventing further pandemics
over the next decade by protecting wildlife and forests would
equate to just 2% of the estimated financial damage caused
by COVID-19” (The Guardian). Together with the climate crisis,
the number of arguments, including economic imperatives,
in favour of protecting the environment are truly piling up.
Increasingly, we must make business decisions that are in line
with this need, and that respond to market demands for more
eco-friendly products and services.

RISK GOVERNANCE
The Board is ultimately responsible for the setting up and
monitoring of the risk governance process, including setting
the risk appetite and the adequacy and effectiveness of the
internal control systems. It is assisted in its duties by the Risk
Monitoring Committee and the Audit Committee, as well as
our newly recruited Risk & Compliance Officer.
	 
For more information on our risk management framework,
please refer to the Risk Section in the Corporate
Governance Report on page 91.
The table overleaf only outlines those risks that are high-level
risks pertaining to our strategy and to the Board’s objectives.
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Given the current context, the management
of our external operational environment is
crucial to ensure agility and resilience. The
future is still uncertain, and we need to
plan on facing the unknown. To this end,
we need to have the right resources in the
right places so that we can respond rapidly
and decisively in the event of another
crisis. To have the right risk management
plan in place, we first needed to recognise
and understand these new and changed
externalities.

ABOUT US

Risk management
report

INTRODUCTION

MANAGEMENT APPROACH

MANAGEMENT APPROACH

ABOUT US

Risk management
report
Ongoing

Health and Safety
(H&S) risks on our
production sites.

Objectives 4 & 5 Potential operational
delays, loss of
employee goodwill
and reputational
damage.

- More visual cues
have been added on
our production sites.
- Communication
with Health & Safety
officers has been
enhanced.

- Further H&S measures
will be implemented.
- H&S audits are
conducted regularly.
- Training sessions are
held on a recurrent
basis.
- Recruitment of a H&S
Officer for the Group.

Health & Safety (H&S)
- COVID-19

Objectives 4 & 5 Potential operational
delays, loss of
employee goodwill
and reputational
damage.

-A
 s reported in the
Human capital
section, strict
measures were
implemented
with the help of a
communication
plan before and
throughout the
lockdown.
-W
 ork from Home
Policy, was defined
with laptops
provided for those in
need.

- We will continue
to practise all
safety measures in
accordance with
the most recent and
relevant scientific
information and local
laws.

Objectives 2 & 4 Direct impact on our
ability to innovate and
seize opportunities.

-A
 new Group HR
Manager has joined
the Group since July
2018.
-A
 n engagement
survey was
conducted to gauge
the engagement
level of employees
and the results have
been communicated.
Actions will be
taken based on the
findings.
-A
 job-grading
structure was
implemented and
an alignment of pay
with market trends
has been effected.

- Internal development
programmes based
on Learning Needs
Analysis (LNA) are
devised on a yearly
basis.
- The implementation
of a Performance
Management System
(PMS) is underway.
- Human resources and
succession planning
policies are being
outlined.

Inability to recruit
and retain talent in
an evolving business
environment.
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Risk Category

Risk

Strategic Implication

Completed

Ongoing

People and
operations

Another full or partial
lockdown due to
COVID-19

All - Impacted
business model,
morale of employees,
and limited ability to
produce.

- Protocols and
processes are now in
place to ensure the
continuity of as many
of our operations as
possible in case of
another lockdown.
- Employee Facebook
page and other
communication
means to ensure we
stay connected to
one another.

Marketing and
customer risks

Poor customer
relationship
management and
lack of visibility and
communication
across departments
with regard to the
efficient handling of
customer complaints.

Objectives 1 & 3 Impact our ability
to have seamless
processes and to
engage with our
customers in a
professional manner.

- A digital notification
platform pertaining
to a reward system
has been elaborated
for truck owners.
- A sales mobile
application has been
launched.

-A
 Customer
Relationship
Management (CRM)
system is in progress
for UBP, Drymix and
Espace Maison.
-A
 customer care
service department
will be set up.

Operational

Scarcity of raw
materials due to
extreme weather
events, climate
change and COVID-19
impact on supply
chains.

Objectives 2 and
5 - Affects our ability
to have the right
level of stock and
products on time
for our customers,
possibly damaging our
reputation and brands.

- Stocks of goods and
needed supplies are
well maintained.
- Suppliers reviewed
and prices
negotiated.

- Sustainable
procurement and
stock measures are
pursued.
-M
 itigation strategies
to adapt to climate
change are adopted.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

Completed
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Strategic Implication
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People

Risk

Risk-Mitigating Actions
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Risk-Mitigating Actions
Risk Category
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ABOUT US

Risk management
report
Ongoing

Risk Category

Technological &
legal, compliance
and regulatory
risks

Financial

Operational

Vulnerability to
damage resulting from
natural disasters and
increasing climate
variability affecting
crops.

All - Business
interruption.

- Business
Continuity Plans
(BCP), including
comprehensive crisis
communication
protocols, have
been devised for the
Group.
- Crop management
and planting
season adaptation
measures.

- The Group
subscribes to
insurance policies to
mitigate the financial
impact of natural
disasters.

Technological

Likelihood of
cybercrimes.

All - Loss of valuable
data and business
interruption.

- IT security measures
were heightened.
- Cyber-attack
awareness sessions
were held in 2019.

- Continuous security
software upgrades.
- The possible
extension of the
Group’s insurance
cover to include
cybercrimes.

Objectives 1 and
4 - Affects our ability
to have continuous
efficient procedures
and have staff able
to problem-shoot IT
related issues.

- A heightened
focus was put on
the training of our
middle management
on all IT processes
and tools as part of
our strategic focus
2018-2020.

- A Succession Plan
Policy was defined.

All - Technology
today permeates all
aspects of business
and social life,
potentially affecting
our ability to
innovate, engage with
customers, ensure
synergy between inter
alia departments and
companies.

- Switch to Office 365
- Launch of the
new version of
the e-commerce
website of Espace
Maison.

- A Group-wide
digitalisation and
modernisation plan
of all systems is
being pursued.

Technological and
people

Technological &
marketing and
customer risks

IT Resource
allocation, with high
dependencies on
certain IT personnel.

Risk of falling behind
the technological
development
curve and risk of
obsolescence.
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Risk

Strategic Implication

Completed

Ongoing

Potential loss of data.

Objective 5 - Loss
of valuable data and
business reputation as
well as potential legal
implications.

- The Company
embarked on a
Data Protection
Management
Program (DPMP), in
line with prevailing
laws, in view of
safeguarding the
personal data of its
data subjects.
- Delocalisation of the
data servers to a fullfledged registered
data centre.

-T
 he implementation
of the DPMP within
the Company.
-T
 he DPMP is
being extended to
subsidiaries.

Adverse fluctuations
in foreign exchange
rates and rising local
inflation.

All - The business
units which are mainly
exposed to forex risks
are Espace Maison,
Drymix and UBP’s
engineering division.

- Forward buying of
main currencies
- Holding excess
funds in foreign
currencies.

-W
 ell defined treasury
management
policies and
agreements.

Decreased market
demand due to the
global pandemic.

All

- Reviewed shortterm business
strategy.
- Increased focus on
marketing and sales.
- Efficient financial
management and
budget reviews.

- Continued vigilance.
- Cost-Cutting Plan.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

Completed
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Strategic Implication
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REPORTS

Risk

Risk-Mitigating Actions
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Risk-Mitigating Actions
Risk Category
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Risk management
report
Objectives 1, 4 and
5 - Has affected our
ability to expand
business activities, to
make the appropriate
analysis and thus to
build our brand.
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- A methodology
has been devised
for substantial
investment
opportunities.

Ongoing
- The Group Business
Development
Manager assesses
opportunities
and monitors
our international
activities.
- Evaluation of
the impact of
COVID-19 and
identifying business
opportunities,
using the Group’s
commercial
strength.
- Evaluating the
means to increase
the Group’s
resilience further to
COVID-19.
- PESTLE Analysis on a
regular basis.

Risk Category

Risk

Strategic Implication

Completed

Ongoing

Business
environment &
market

Changing consumer
trends with the
global focus on
waste management,
climate change and
plastic pollution.
Our customers are
becoming more
political in their
purchasing choices.

Objectives 3 and 5 –
If we are to continue
to build our reputation
and engage with our
customers, we must
follow these trends
and respond to market
demand.

- Establishment of a new
irrigation system at
Gros Cailloux resulting
in increased efficiency
of the following
resources: Labour,
water and electricity
- Le ‘Geste Vert’
campaign was
launched by Espace
Maison to encourage
better waste
management practices
and to promote
recycling.
- Espace Maison shops
are favouring ecofriendly products.
- Promotion of
e-ticketing at Espace
Maison shops
to reduce paper
consumption and
waste.
- La Savonnerie Créole
has launched a new
range of products
which uses AB organic
farming certified raw
materials. The products
are also ‘Made in Moris’
certified.

-O
 ngoing R&D and
the introduction of
innovative products
and services that
take environmental
sustainability as a
key criterion.
- Development
of green spaces
(carbon offsetting)
as part of climate
change adaptation
strategy.

Legal, compliance
and regulatory
risks and country
risks.

Non-compliance with
laws and regulations.

Objective 5 - Affects
the ability of our
overseas entities
to be financially
independent.

- Corrective actions
taken with respect to
compliance audits
being conducted to
ensure adherence to
applicable laws and
regulations.
- Consistent impact
analysis of new laws
and regulations on
the operations of the
Group.

- Comprehensive
compliance audits are
conducted within the
Group.
- Strategic plans
are being devised
to address the
operational problems
being encountered.
- We are considering
to exit our business
in Sri Lanka and we
are re-assessing
our operations in
Madagascar.

Operational difficulties
in our overseas
operations.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

Missed opportunities
locally and abroad
linked to an
inadequate evaluation
of investment
opportunities.

Completed
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Business
environment &
market

Risk

Risk-Mitigating Actions
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Risk-Mitigating Actions
Risk Category
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Reporting Period: June 30, 2020
The Board of Directors of The United Basalt Products Limited confirms that to the best of their knowledge, the Company has fully
complied with all the principles of the Code of Corporate Governance of 2016 (the “Code”), in all material aspects except for the
following:
- C
 omposition of the Audit Committee: While the Chairperson of the Audit Committee has been replaced and is an Independent
Non-Executive Director (INED), the two other members, who were formerly INEDs, no more qualify as such, since they
have served the Board for more than nine years. However, the Board is of the opinion that the two other members of the
Committee have sufficient financial management knowledge and experience and are able to exercise independent judgement
in discharging their responsibilities.

The Board of Directors acknowledges that the Code of Corporate Governance of 2016 (‘the Code’) sets out the best practices
in terms of corporate governance and recognises that the principles under the Code have been applied within the Group,
as explained in the report.

The Board is committed to adhering to sound principles of corporate governance to sustain the pursuit of the Group’s strategic
orientation aimed at building and sustaining long-term stakeholders’ value. The corporate governance framework of the Group
is illustrated below.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

On behalf of the Board

Guiding
principles

Key
Pillars

Marc Freismuth 				
Stéphane Ulcoq
Chairman 				Group CEO
November 09, 2020

Tr a n s p a r e n c y

Integrity

Accountability

Adherence
to advocated
principles, rules
a n d a p p l i c a b l e
regulations

Sound corporate
governance
structures and
processes

The Group promotes ethical and responsible decision-making as part of its corporate culture. Beyond compliance and adherence
to the law, the Group is managed with utmost integrity. The Code of Ethics governs the relationship with key stakeholders and
sets out the professional and ethical behaviour required by employees for both internal relations and external interactions.
Setting the tone from the top is an important part of the Board’s role and helps to foster a culture centred on those guiding
principles. High levels of trust, together with a strong business reputation, facilitate the operations of the Group, help attract
and retain employees, customers and suppliers, contribute to the community in which the Group operates and pave the way to
confidently explore new business opportunities.
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Name of Public Interest Entity (“PIE”): The United Basalt Products Limited

The United Basalt Products Limited was incorporated as a public company in July 1953. The shares of the Company have been
listed on the Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd since 1989. The Company is qualified as a Public Interest Entity
(“PIE”) under the Financial Reporting Act 2004.
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(as per Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act 2004)

Corporate governance
report
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2. GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group’s governance structure, as further illustrated below, caters for clear delegation of authority and lines of
responsibility while the role of stewardship is bestowed upon the Board.

MANAGEMENT
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

BOARD COMMITTEES

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has delegated the
day-to-day running of the
business to the Group CEO and
regularly monitors the Group’s
performance. The Group CEO is
responsible for leading the senior
management team of the Group’s
business in consistency with the
defined strategies and objectives
within approved budgets.

The Board delegates certain duties and
responsibilities to Board Committees,
namely the Corporate Governance
(Nomination
and
Remuneration)
Committee, the Audit Committee
and the Risk Monitoring Committee,
which have clearly defined mandates
to ensure a more comprehensive
evaluation of specific matters. This
delegation does not however lessen
the overall responsibility of the Board.
A reporting mechanism has been
devised so that matters affecting the
affairs of the Group are escalated to
the Board by the Chairpersons of these
Committees and as relevant, to the
Boards of subsidiaries.

UBP

SUBSIDIARIES

ASSOCIATES

GROUP FUNCTIONS

Project & Business
Development Manager:
Rémi Brousse de Gersigny

Compagnie de
Gros Cailloux Limitée
General Manager:
Christopher Blackburn

Terrarock Ltd
Plant Manager:
Cindy Calou

Group Engineering Manager:
Laurent Béga

Marbella Division Manager:
Bruno Doger de Spéville
Head of Operations:
Jean-Jacques Jullienne
Quarry and Field Manager:
Francis Koeing
Production Manager :
Amaury Lacoste
PPB Division Manager:
Ashwin Ramsaha

Drymix Ltd
General Manager:
Jean-Claude Bellepeau
Drymat SAS
Manager:
Bertrand Thomas
Espace Maison Ltée
General Manager:
Benoît Béchard
La Savonnerie Créole Ltée
Sainte Marie Crushing Plant Ltd
Plant Manager:
Fabrice Salaun

Group Financial Controller:
Cécile Boyer
Group Human Resources
Manager:
Alan Cunniah
Group Business Development
Manager:
Bryan Gujjalu
Group IT Manager:
Dwight Hamilton
Head of Corporate Secretarial
Services:
Bhooneshi Nemchand
Group Communications Manager:
Samantha Perrier

Société des Petits Cailloux

GROUP CEO
Stéphane Ulcoq

1.

Audit Committee

2.

Corporate Governance
Committee

3.

Risk Monitoring Committee

Société d’investissement Rodriguais
Welcome Industries Ltd
Manager:
Jean-Pierre Rose
UBP Coffrages Ltée
General Manager: Vacant

Group CFO:
Christophe Quevauvilliers
Group Finance Manager:
Dhuenesh Rambarassah
Group Sales Projects Manager:
Jean-Marc Selvon

UBP International Limited
	
	United Granite Product (Private) Limited
Manager: Buddika Perera
		

DHK Metal Crusher (Private) Limited

		

Sheffield Trading (Private) Limited

UBP Madagascar
Manager: Vacant
Operational
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Dormant
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The Company is led by a unitary
Board, which oversees the
Group’s activities and provides
leadership and guidance towards
the achievement of the Group’s
strategy within a framework
of effective control and risk
management, while ensuring
adherence to legal and regulatory
requirements.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

GROUP CEO
Stéphane Ulcoq

SHAREHOLDERS

INTRODUCTION

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board Composition

Board Structure

While the Board is responsible for controlling the Group’s overall
operations, all employees also play a crucial role in enforcing good
governance. To this end, a collaborative environment prevails to
ensure that key information and guidance documents are made
available to all employees.

A Board Charter, aiming to regulate how business is conducted
by the Board, was endorsed by the Board in May 2018 and shall
be reviewed every five years or as may be required by law from
time to time.

Board Size

The Board of the Company is of the opinion that based on its
size and the specificities of its operations, it possesses the right
balance of Executive, Non-Executive and Independent NonExecutive Directors.

 he above-mentioned documents are available on the
T
Company’s website - www.ubp.mu.

Responsibilities
The key responsibilities,as further detailed in the Charter, pertain
to, inter alia:
•
group’s strategies;
•
risk management and internal control;
•
statement of accountability;
• 	accounting and financial monitoring and reporting;
•
significant corporate activities; and
•
corporate governance and ethics.

 heir respective profiles are detailed on pages 79 to 80 of
T
this report.
Company’s Constitution
In 2004, the shareholders adopted a new Constitution which
complies with the provisions of The Companies Act 2001 and
those of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd.
There are no clauses of the Constitution deemed material for
specific disclosure.
	
A copy of the Constitution is available on the Company’s
website.
3. THE BOARD
Mandate
The Board determines the Group’s purpose and provides effective
leadership and direction to build and sustain long-term value
creation for the Group while ensuring that all legal and regulatory
requirements are met. The Board determines all key matters
relating to the strategy, practices, management and operations
of the Company and of its subsidiaries, both locally and abroad.
The general powers of the Board are conferred in the Company’s
Constitution.
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Independent
Non-Executive
Directors

Mr Arnaud Lagesse resigned on July 14, 2020 and was replaced by
Mrs Christine Marot on July 16, 2020.

17%

8

Non-Executive
Directors

Executive
Directors

Key Governance Positions
The Board promotes sound corporate governance practices
to create and sustain value creation. The Chairman, the Group
CEO, the Group CFO and the Company Secretary, holding key
governance positions, play an important role in ensuring that such
practices permeate throughout the Group.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors reinforce impartiality
on the Board and enhance the mix of competencies, knowledge
and experiences which enriches board discussions and contributes
towards a high performing and effective Board.

2

2

The Non-Executive Directors come from broad industry and
professional backgrounds with varied expertise and experiences
aligned with the needs of the Group’s business.

17%

66%
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The Board approved a Board Charter, a Directors Charter,
Positions Statements, and job descriptions clearly defining the
roles and responsibilities of the Board, the Chairman, Executive
and Non-Executive Directors and the Company Secretary. The
role and responsibilities of the Chairman leading the Board are
distinct to those of the Group CEO who manages the Group’s
business on a day-to-day basis.

At the time of writing, the Company was headed by a committed
and effective unitary Board of 12 Directors as detailed hereunder:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Principles and Methodologies
The Board exercises its powers and performs its duties through the
following principles and methodologies, inter alia:
•	the Chairperson of the Board shall be a Non-Executive Director;
•	
the existence of an appropriate balance of Executive, NonExecutive and Independent Non-Executive Directors on the
Board;
• the creation of Board Committees;
•	
the adherence to the Group’s Code of Ethics and other
governance policies, such as the Share Dealing Policy and the
Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transactions Policy;
•	the approval of the strategic orientation of the Group and the
monitoring of management in respect of the implementation of
the plans and strategies and compliance with set policies;
•	the existence of clear lines of responsibility and accountability
throughout the Group and compliance with the regulatory
framework;
•	the review of reports in respect of the Group’s internal control
systems;
•	the approval of the Group’s risk appetite and the monitoring of
the risk management framework;
•	the existence of a formal Directors’ remuneration policy; and
•	the provision of accurate information in a timely manner to
stakeholders.

9
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Key Roles and Responsibilities

The Company’s Constitution stipulates that the Board shall consist
of a minimum of 7 and a maximum of 15 Directors.

INTRODUCTION

Role and Responsibilities
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2. GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (CONTINUED)
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3

Male

75%

Female

25%

The 2 Executive Directors are the Group CEO and the Group CFO.
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Mr Jan Boullé was appointed as NonExecutive Director to the Board in
November 2018. Born in 1957, he qualified
as an ‘Ingénieur Statisticien Economiste’
(France) and pursued post graduate
studies in Economics at Université Laval,
Canada. Mr Boullé has been the NonExecutive Chairman of IBL Ltd since
July 1, 2016. Prior to this nomination, he
worked for Constance Group from 1984
to 2016 and occupied various executive
positions and directorships. Mr Boullé is
also a member of the Board of Directors
of several major listed companies, namely
Alteo Limited, BlueLife Limited, Lux Island
Resorts Ltd, Phoenix Beverages Limited,
Phoenix Investment Company Limited,
The Bee Equity Partners Ltd and other
non-listed Mauritian companies.

François Boullé
Non-Executive Director
Mr François Boullé was appointed
Director of the Company in May 2004.
Born in 1948, Mr Boullé holds a degree
from the 'Institut d'Etudes Politiques de
Paris' (Sciences Po - Section Économique
et Financière). During his professional
career, he has been involved mainly in
the leadership of companies engaged in
distribution and trade. Until March 2016,
Mr Boullé was the Managing Director of
Suchem Ltd, a company specialised in
importation and distribution of industrial
chemicals, textile auxiliaries, plastic rawmaterials, agro-chemicals and sprayers
for agriculture. He was also the Managing
Director of Archemics Ltd, distributor
of consumer goods such as adhesives,
cosmetics and detergents from Henkel
Germany, and industrial products for
cleaning, laundry, pools, and textile
fabrics. Mr Boullé is now retired and sits
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Catherine Gris
Independent Non-Executive Director
Mrs Catherine Gris was appointed as
Independent Non-Executive Director
to the Board in October 2018. Born in
1958, she holds a ‘Diplôme en Sciences
Politiques’ from the ‘Institut d’Études
Politiques’ of Paris, France. She has
proven experience in strategic economic
development and project development.
Mrs Gris was the CEO of the Association
of
Mauritian
Manufacturer
(AMM)
from October 2009 to June 2018 and
is currently coach animator of the
‘Association Progrès du Management’.
She is also an independent member
of the Board of Trimetys Ltd and Cap
Tamarin Ltée. She also serves as Special
Adviser to the Association of Mauritian
Manufacturers (AMM) and was appointed
as Board member of the Economic
Development Board (EDB) in March 2020.
Joël Harel
Non-Executive Director
Mr Joël Harel was appointed Director of
the Company in July 2006. Born in 1967,

Laurent de la Hogue
Non-Executive Director
Mr Laurent de la Hogue was appointed
Director of the Company in December
2011. Born in 1975, Mr de la Hogue
holds a Master’s degree in Management
and Finance from the ‘Ecole Supérieure
de Gestion et Finance’ in Paris, France.
In 2001, he joined GML Management
Ltée as Treasurer for the setting up of
the group central treasury management
unit and then occupied the position of
Finance Executive - Corporate & Treasury
in 2011 where he was involved in project
development. He was appointed Head
of Financial Services of IBL Ltd in July
2016. He is currently the Non-Executive
Chairman of AfrAsia Capital Management
Ltd, Eagle Insurance Limited, IBL Treasury
Ltd and LCF Securities Ltd. He also serves
as Director on a number of organisations
operating in the industrial, commercial,
financial and investment sectors.
Arnaud Lagesse
Non-Executive Director
Mr Arnaud Lagesse was appointed
Director of the Company in August 2011.
Born in 1968, Mr Lagesse holds a Master’s
in Management from the ‘Université
d’Aix-Marseille’ and is a graduate of the
‘Institut Supérieur de Gestion de Paris’.
He attended a Professional Development
Program at INSEAD, Fontainebleau,
France, an Advanced Management
Program (AMP180) from Harvard Business
School, United States, and a Breakthrough
Executive Program with Egon Zender/
Mobius in Portugal. In 2016, he initiated
the merger of GML Investissement Ltée
and Ireland Blyth Limited, creating the

Mr Lagesse resigned as Director of the
Company on July 14, 2020.
Stéphane Lagesse
Non-Executive Director
Mr Stéphane Lagesse was appointed
Director of the Company in November
2011. Born in 1959, Mr Lagesse holds a
degree in ‘Gestion des Entreprises’ from
the University of Paris IX Dauphine. Mr
Lagesse participated in the setting up of
two garment manufacturing companies
in Mauritius and is the Alternate Director
of Mr Thierry Lagesse on the Board of IBL
Ltd.
Thierry Lagesse
Non-Executive Director
Mr Thierry Lagesse was appointed
Director of the Company in December
1989 and subsequently Chairman of the
Board in December 2002 until August
2013. Born in 1953, Mr Thierry Lagesse
holds a ‘Maîtrise des Sciences de Gestion’
from the University of Paris Dauphine. He
was the non-executive Chairman of IBL
Ltd, Alteo Limited and Phoenix Beverages
Limited. Mr Lagesse is presently a Director
of several well-known companies listed
on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd,
namely: Alteo Limited, IBL Ltd, Lux Island
Resorts Ltd, Phoenix Beverages Limited
and Phoenix Investment Company
Limited. He is also the Executive Chairman
of Parabole Group, a direct to home
satellite TV broadcaster. Mr Lagesse is a
member of the Company’s Corporate
Governance Committee.

Mrs Christine Marot was appointed
Director of the Company in replacement
of Mr Arnaud Lagesse on July 16, 2020.
Born in 1969, Mrs Marot is an Accountant
by profession and followed an Executive
Management Programme from ESSEC
Business School. She started her career
with De Chazal du Mée & Co (now known
as BDO) and was the Finance Executive
of GML Management Ltée where she was
involved at a senior level in businesses
across the IBL Group, formerly known
as GML Group. She was also appointed
as Acting CEO of BlueLife Limited in
November 2014 and Chief Executive
Officer in May 2015. She has been
since July 1, 2020 the Group Head of
Technology and Sustainability of IBL Ltd.
Christophe Quevauvilliers
Group CFO and Executive Director
Mr Christophe Quevauvilliers, born
in 1968, is a Fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He joined the Group as
Finance Manager and Company Secretary
in May 2002 after having spent ten years
in public practice at De Chazal Du Mée &
Co (now known as BDO) and four years
in the industrial sector. In 2013-2014
he completed a General Management
Program delivered by the ESSEC (Ecole
Supérieure des Sciences Economiques
et Commerciales) Business School.
In September 2015, Mr Quevauvilliers
resigned as Company Secretary and
was appointed as Executive Director to
the Board, effective as from October 1,
2015. He also sits on the Board of several
companies within the Group.
Kalindee Ramdhonee
Independent Non-Executive Director
Mrs Kalindee Ramdhonee was appointed
as Independent Non-Executive Director to
the Board and nominated as Chairperson
of the Audit Committee in November
2018. Born in 1963, she is a highly
accomplished
finance
professional
and fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mrs Ramdhonee has over 20 years of
experience in finance and operations
management
within
world
class
local
and
international
business
environments
in
sectors
such
as Technologies, Telecommunications,
Mining, Construction, Financial and
Property Development. She has proven
competences
in
accounting
and
finance extending to IT, HR, business
development and general management
functions. She has occupied senior
management positions for decades and
largely contributed to establishing and
grooming business excellence in local
groups such as Harel Mallac, Currimjee
Jeewanjee as well as international groups,
namely African Alliance, Canal + and BIA
Group in Belgium and across Africa. Mrs
Ramdhonee is currently the Managing
Director of Karics Partners Ltd engaged in
financial services and BPO sectors.
Stéphane Ulcoq
Group CEO and Executive Director
Mr Stéphane Ulcoq, born in 1977, holds
a ‘Diplôme d’Ingénieur en Mécanique’
from the ‘Institut National des Sciences
Appliquées’ (INSA) of Rouen, France
and an ‘MBA International Paris’ from
the Paris Dauphine and La Sorbonne
Universities. He also holds a Certificate
in Global Management awarded by
INSEAD after having completed three
Executive Education Programs at INSEAD
Fontainebleau, France and INSEAD
Singapore in 2011 and 2012. Mr Ulcoq
joined the Company as Assistant Works
Manager in September 2000 and was
promoted Workshop Manager in 2007. In
January 2012, Mr Ulcoq was promoted
to the post of Production Manager
where he was in charge of all production
units, both in Mauritius and overseas.
In addition to his responsibilities as
Production Manager, Mr Ulcoq was
appointed Deputy CEO by the Board of
Directors in December 2012. He then
gradually handed over his duties as
Production Manager and was appointed
CEO of the Company in January 2015
and subsequently Group CEO with effect
from July 2015.				
				[...]
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Mr Marc Freismuth was appointed
Director of the Company in March 2006
and Chairman of the Board in August
2013. Born in France in 1952, Mr Freismuth
holds a ‘Diplôme d’Etudes Supérieures
de Sciences Economiques’ from the
University of Panthéon-Sorbonne (Paris).
Holder of an aggregation in Economics
and Management, he was a lecturer at the
University of Montpellier up to July 1988
when he decided to join the University
of Mauritius as lecturer in management
and finance up to July 1994. Whilst in
this position, Mr Freismuth contributed to
the setting up of the Stock Exchange of
Mauritius Ltd as consultant to the ‘Stock
Exchange Commission’ and member of
the ‘Listing Committee’. Mr Freismuth is
currently self-employed as consultant
in management and finance. Fellow
member of the Mauritius Institute of
Directors (MIoD), he sits as independent
Director on the Board of several public
companies.

Christine Marot
Non-Executive Director

ABOUT US

Jan Boullé
Non-Executive Director

entity, IBL Ltd, which became the no 1
group in Mauritius and the second largest
group in the region excluding South
Africa. Mr Lagesse is the Group CEO of
IBL Ltd. He is a member of the board of
Directors of several of the country’s major
companies listed on the Stock Exchange
of Mauritius Ltd and is the Chairman of
Alteo Limited, Phoenix Beverages Limited
and The Lux Collective Ltd inter alia.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

Marc Freismuth
Chairman and Non-Executive Director

Mr Harel holds a National Higher Diploma
in Mechanical Engineering from Cape
Technikon in Cape Town. He is currently
the Chief Executive Officer of Emineo Ltd,
a company involved in the engineering
and the realisation of projects, mainly in
the sugar cane sector and its associated
by-products, operating both locally and
overseas. Mr Harel is the Chairman of
the Company’s Corporate Governance
Committee and is also a Director of a few
non-listed companies.
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Profiles of Directors

as Director on the Board of these two
companies which form part of the Harel
Mallac Group.
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All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and for providing guidance to Directors concerning their duties, responsibilities and powers.
The Company Secretary administers, attends and prepares minutes of all Board and shareholders’ meetings. She assists the Chairman
in ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that the Company’s Constitution and relevant rules and regulations are complied
with, and in implementing and strengthening good governance and ethical practices and processes within the Group with a view to
enhance long-term stakeholders’ value.

NAME OF DIRECTORS

LISTED COMPANIES

OTHER PUBLIC INTEREST ENTITIES

MR MARC FREISMUTH

BMH Ltd
Constance Hotel Services Limited
Constance La Gaieté Company Limited
1
The United Basalt Products Limited

Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée
Espace Maison Ltée

MR FRANÇOIS BOULLÉ

The United Basalt Products Limited

Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée
Espace Maison Ltée

MR JAN BOULLÉ

Alteo Limited
Bluelife Limited
1
IBL Ltd
Lux Island Resorts Ltd
Phoenix Beverages Limited
Phoenix Investment Company Limited
The Bee Equity Partners Ltd
The United Basalt Products Limited

Alteo Agri Ltd
Bloomage Ltd
Camp Investment Company Ltd
Espace Maison Ltée
GML Ineo Ltée
Haute Rive Holdings Limited
Haute Rive IRS Company Ltd
Mon Loisir Ltée
Pick and Buy Limited

MRS CATHERINE GRIS

The United Basalt Products Limited

Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée
Espace Maison Ltée

MR JOËL HAREL

2

Terra Mauricia Ltd
The United Basalt Products Limited

Espace Maison Ltée

MR LAURENT DE LA HOGUE

Eagle Insurance Limited
Lux Island Resorts Ltd
The United Basalt Products Limited

Espace Maison Ltée

MR ARNAUD LAGESSE

1

The profile of the Company Secretary is detailed hereunder:
Bhooneshi Nemchand
Head of Corporate Secretarial Services and Company Secretary
Mrs Bhooneshi Nemchand is an Associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (UK). She joined the
Group as Company Secretary Designate in May 2015 after having spent six years in the financial services sector. She was appointed
Company Secretary in October 2015. In February and July 2016, Mrs Nemchand was appointed Company Secretary of several
companies within the Group. She has been promoted to the post of Head of Corporate Secretarial Services since July 2019.

Afrasia Bank Limited
Alteo Agri Ltd
Bloomage Ltd
1
Camp Investment Company Ltd
City Brokers Ltd
Esperance et Compagnie Limitée
Lagfin Ltée
Mon Desir Limited
Pick and Buy Limited
1
The Lux Collective Ltd
Seafood Hub Limited
1

MR STÉPHANE LAGESSE

2

MR THIERRY LAGESSE

Alteo Limited
IBL Ltd
Lux Island Resorts Ltd
Phoenix Beverages Limited
Phoenix Investment Company Limited
The United Basalt Products Limited

Alteo Energy Ltd
Alteo Milling Ltd
Alteo Refinery Ltd
Camp Investment Company Ltd
Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée
Consolidated Energy Co Ltd
1
Espace Maison Ltée
Ferney Limited
GML Ineo Ltée

MR CHRISTOPHE QUEVAUVILLIERS

The United Basalt Products Limited

Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée
Pre-Mixed Concrete Limited

MRS KALINDEE RAMDHONEE

The United Basalt Products Limited

Espace Maison Ltée
Mammouth (Mauritius) Ltd

MR STÉPHANE ULCOQ

The United Basalt Products Limited

1

1
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Alteo Limited
Bluelife Limited
IBL Ltd
1
Phoenix Beverages Limited
1
Phoenix Investment Company Ltd
The United Basalt Products Limited

Chairman

2

IBL Ltd
The United Basalt Products Limited

Espace Maison Ltée
GML Ineo Ltée

2

Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée
Espace Maison Ltée
Pre-Mixed Concrete Limited

Alternate Director
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The Chairman and the Group CEO, assisted by the Company Secretary, are responsible for fixing the agenda and the date for each
Board meeting.
The Chairman and the Company Secretary ensure that the Directors receive the right information in a timely manner to enable them
to make informed business decisions.

	
The Charters of the respective Board Committees,
which set out, inter alia, their roles, responsibilities,
composition and meeting requirements are available
on the Company’s website - www.ubp.mu.
The Charters shall be reviewed as may be required by law from
time to time.

The attendance record of Board meetings for the year under review is as shown on page 86.
Corporate Governance (Nomination and Remuneration)
Committee

Focus Areas

As per its Charter, the Committee shall consist of at least three
members, with a majority of Non-Executive Directors. The
Committee is constituted as follows:

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

The Board determines the frequency of Board meetings, which are held at least on a quarterly basis. Meetings are scheduled up
to one year in advance so that Directors are able to attend and participate in person. The Board promotes open and rigorous
discussions, constructive debates, and active participation during meetings. Special meetings may also be called from time to time
as required.

Composition

3

Joël Harel (Chairman)
Marc Freismuth (Member)
Thierry Lagesse (Member)

Minimum members

The Board met four times this year to examine, consider, discuss or approve, inter alia the focus areas detailed hereunder. The Board
has also approved some decisions by way of written resolutions.

Strategy and
performance
•

•

•

•

The activity reports
of the Group
CEO, including
the performance
of subsidiaries
and associates
companies
The operational
strategy and
performance
of overseas
subsidiaries and
investments
The increase in
the shareholding
of one of our
subsidiaries
The impact of
COVID-19 on the
Group

Risk Management
and Internal
Control

Governance

•

•
•
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Reports from
the Chairman of
the Corporate
Governance
Committee
Board evaluation
exercise
The review of the
remuneration
of Directors,
members of Board
Committees, senior
management and
staff in general

•

•

•

•

Reports from the
Chairman of the
Risk Monitoring
Committee
Information
Technology
Disaster Recovery
Plan
Adequacy of the
Group’s insurance
cover
Reports from the
Internal Auditor

Other
Agenda Items

Financial

•

•

•

•

Reports from the
Chairperson of the
Audit Committee
The Group’s
financial
performance
against the budget
The audited
group financial
statements and
the Annual Report
for the year ended
June 30, 2019
The quarterly
unaudited
abridged group
interim financial
statements

•

•

The Annual
Meeting of
Shareholders
The purchase of
a property, partly
leased by the
Company

Mandate
The Corporate Governance Committee advises the Board of
Directors on all aspects of corporate governance and ensures
that the principles of the Code are applied.

The Chairman as well as the other members are Non-Executive
Directors.
The Committee met four times during FY2020 to, inter alia,:

The Corporate Governance Committee is also responsible for
Nomination and Remuneration aspects and its functions are as
follows:
•	In its role as Nomination Committee, it reviews the structure,
size and composition of the Board, it ensures the right
balance of independence, skills and expertise on the Board,
it assesses and evaluates the role and independence of each
current and potential Director and makes recommendations
to the Board on the election and re-election of Directors and
on matters relevant to succession planning.

ABOUT US

The Board delegates certain duties and responsibilities to the
three Board Committees, namely the Corporate Governance
(Nomination and Remuneration) Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Risk Monitoring Committee, tasked with
providing a more comprehensive evaluation of specific matters.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Board Meetings

•	
determine, discuss and approve the remuneration of the
Group CEO, senior management, Directors, Committee
members and the staff in general;
• examine corporate governance compliance issues;
• discuss conflicts of interest arising;
• recommend a Board evaluation exercise; and
•	
recommend the review of the Corporate Governance
Committee Charter.
Attendance

•	In its role as Remuneration Committee, its terms of reference
include inter alia the development of the Group’s general
policy on senior management remuneration including the
definition of performance measurement criteria and specific
remuneration packages for Executive Directors and senior
management and the making of recommendations to the
Board on all aspects of remuneration.

The attendance record of Committee meetings for the year
under review is as shown on page 86. A quorum of two members
is currently required for a Corporate Governance Committee
meeting. The two Executive Directors are in attendance at
almost all meetings of the Committee.

The Committee confirms that it has assumed its responsibilities
in accordance with its terms of reference for the year under
review.

The remuneration of the Chairman and of each member of the
Corporate Governance Committee for the year ended June
30, 2020 amounted to Rs 100,000 (2019: Rs 100,000) and
Rs 75,000 (2019: Rs 75,000) respectively.

Remuneration
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The Committee ensures the integrity of accounting and financial
reporting and reviews internal control systems and procedures
in order to assist the Board of Directors in carrying out its
responsibilities. The Committee also monitors the role and
scope of work of internal and external auditors and ensures
compliance with legal and regulatory provisions.

As per its Charter, the Committee shall consist of an equal number of Executive and Non-Executive Directors. The Committee is
constituted as follows:

In so doing, the Committee reviewed internal control systems
and procedures in place in all the subsidiary companies within
the Group.
François Boullé (Chairman)
Christophe Quevauvilliers (Member)
Kalindee Ramdhonee (Member)
Stéphane Ulcoq (Member)

Attendance
The Committee confirms that it has assumed its responsibilities
in accordance with its terms of reference for the year under
review.
Composition
As per its Charter, the Committee shall consist of a minimum of
three Non-Executive Directors, the majority of whom shall be
independent. The Committee is constituted as follows:

The attendance record of Committee meetings for the year
under review is as shown on page 86. A quorum of two members
is currently required for an Audit Committee meeting. The Group
CFO is in attendance at all meetings of the Committee whilst
the Group CEO, the internal and external auditors and some
members of the management attend the meetings on invitation
depending on the agenda.
Remuneration
The remuneration of the Chairman and of each member of the
Audit Committee for the year ended June 30, 2020 amounted
to Rs 150,000 (2019: Rs 150,000) and Rs 100,000 (2019: Rs
100,000) respectively.
Risk Monitoring Committee

3

Kalindee Ramdhonee
(Chairperson)
François Boullé (Member)
Joël Harel (Member)

Minimum members

The Chairperson of the Committee is an Independent NonExecutive Director while the other members of the Committee
no more qualify as being independent pursuant to the guidelines
of the new Code since they have been members of the Board
of Directors for more than nine years. However, we are of the
opinion that the other current members of the Committee are
able to exercise independent judgement in discharging their
responsibilities given their financial management knowledge
and many years of experience in our business activities.

The Chairman is a Non-Executive Director. Mrs Ramdhonee is an Independent Non-Executive Director while the two Executive
Directors are the Group CEO and the Group CFO, the latter also acting as the Chief Risk Officer.
The Committee met two times during FY2020, mainly to:
•	review the Group’s insurance policies to ensure adequate coverage;
• discuss the risk monitoring exercise within the Group;
•	discuss and recommend the appointment of a Risk and Compliance Officer; and
•	discuss and agree on the Information Technology Disaster Recovery Plan (DRP).
Attendance
The attendance record of Committee meetings for the year under review is as shown on page 86. A quorum of three members is
currently required for a Committee meeting.

Mandate
Remuneration
The Committee assists the Board in the discharge of its duties
relating to the setting up and monitoring of the risk governance
process, including setting the risk appetite and monitoring
relevant risk portfolios and management’s performance against
such risk appetite as well as the approval of risk management
policies for recommendation to the Board.

The remuneration of the Chairman and of each member of the Committee (excluding the two Executive Directors) for the year
ended June 30, 2020 amounted to Rs 75,000 (2019: Rs 75,000) and Rs 50,000 (2019: Rs 50,000) respectively.

The Committee confirms that it has assumed its responsibilities
in accordance with its terms of reference for the year under
review.

The Committee met six times during FY2020, mainly to:
•	
review and recommend to the Board for approval the
audited group financial statements, the Annual Report and
the audited abridged group financial statements for the year
ended June 30, 2019;
•	
review and recommend to the Board for approval and
publication the quarterly unaudited abridged group interim
financial statements;
• review the compliance reports for the subsidiaries;
• review the audit reports of the Internal Auditor;
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•	
review the report of the Security Officer on the security
aspects within the Group;
• review the report of EY on IT General Controls;
•	review the external audit Management Letters for 2019 from
Messrs. Ernst & Young; and
•	review the Engagement Letters of the new External Auditors
Messrs. Deloitte Mauritius.
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3. THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

4. DIRECTOR APPOINTMENT PROCEDURES

Meetings Attendance

Selection, Appointment and Re-election

The meetings attendance for the year ended June 30, 2020 was as follows:

The Board through the Corporate Governance Committee and its role as a Nomination Committee (NC), follows a rigorous, formal
and transparent procedure to select and appoint new Directors.

1

Risk Monitoring
Committee

Annual Meeting
of Shareholders

Marc Freismuth

4 out of 4

François Boullé

4 out of 4

Jan Boullé

4 out of 4

1 out of 1

Catherine Gris

4 out of 4

1 out of 1

Joël Harel

3 out of 4

Laurent de la
Hogue

4 out of 4

1 out of 1

Arnaud Lagesse1

2 out of 4

1 out of 1

Stéphane Lagesse

3 out of 4

1 out of 1

Thierry Lagesse

4 out of 4

Christophe
Quevauvilliers

4 out of 4

Kalindee
Ramdhonee

4 out of 4

Stéphane Ulcoq

4 out of 4

4 out of 4

1 out of 1
6 out of 6

4 out of 4

2 out of 2

6 out of 6

1 out of 1

1
2

1 out of 1

6 out of 6

2 out of 2

1 out of 1

2 out of 2

1 out of 1

2 out of 2

1 out of 1

Identiﬁcation and selection of Director(s) by the NC, by having regards to inter alia,
the knowledge required to ﬁll a gap on the Board, the skills required to add value and
the extent to which the individual may meaningfully contribute to the affairs of the
Board. The Board favours diversity, including gender, to be in line with sound principles
of corporate governance.

Recommendation

1 out of 1

2 out of 4

Identiﬁcation
& Selection

The NC recommends the nomination of the Director(s) to the Board.

Appointment
In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, the Board has the power to appoint
any person to be a Director, either to ﬁll a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Directors but so that the total number of Directors at any time does not exceed
the number ﬁxed by the Constitution.

3
Re-election

Mr Arnaud Lagesse resigned as Director on July 14, 2020.

4

A Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next following Annual Meeting
of shareholders and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The Company’s Constitution does not provide for the rotation of Directors. Although being of the opinion that the holding of
office by Directors relies on their experience and knowledge of the Group’s activities to ensure that they exercise the appropriate
degree of leadership, skill and judgement required to achieve a sustainable performance over the years, the Corporate Governance
Committee has decided to include the re-election of all Directors at the agenda of the Annual Meeting of shareholders of the
Company. The Board also continuously encourages its members to acquire new skills.
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The Company’s leadership model caters for an appropriate
balance of power. The roles of the Chairman and of the Group
CEO are distinct. They share a positive and constructive working
relationship. The key responsibilities of the Chairman and of the
Group CEO are detailed hereunder.

The Share Dealing Policy of the Company sets out the Group’s
policy in respect of dealings in the shares of the Company by
Directors, designated employees and their associates, thereby
providing clear guidance on the practice to be followed to avoid
any misuse of price-sensitive information.

 ore information on their roles is available on the
M
Company’s website - www.ubp.mu.

The Directors of the Company use their best endeavours to
abide to the principles set out in the Share Dealing Policy of the
Company and in the Model Code on Securities Transactions
by Directors as stipulated in Appendix 6 of the Listing Rules of
the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd. The Company Secretary
maintains a Register of Interests, which is available for
consultation by shareholders upon written request.

The Chairman, with the assistance of the Company Secretary, devises a formal and tailored induction programme for new Directors
to enable them to develop a sound understanding of the Company and of the Group to effectively contribute to strategic discussions.
They are also made aware of their fiduciary duties and responsibilities. The induction programme comprises, inter alia:

Key information
and documents

One to one briefings with
the Chairman and the
Group CEO

Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transactions

Briefings with
Senior Managers
Professional Development and Training
Directors are encouraged to keep themselves abreast of the
latest workplace trends and professional practices.
Time Commitments
The Directors are expected to devote time and meaningfully
contribute to the affairs of the Board and to ensure that their
other responsibilities do not impinge on those as Director of the
Company.
The Board of the Company does not believe that its members
should be prohibited from serving on the Board of other
organisations unless the number of directorships limits the
amount of time they are able to dedicate to being a Director of
the Company.
The Executive Directors are however not authorised to hold more
than two directorships in listed companies outside the Group,
including overseas companies. The Board of the Company must
give its approval prior to an Executive Director accepting a seat
on the Board of any company outside the Group.

Group CEO

Effectively leads
the Board.

Oversees the
implementation of the
strategy approved by the
Board.

Site visits

5. DIRECTORS’ DUTIES, REMUNERATION AND
PERFORMANCE
Directors’ Duties and Responsibilities
All Directors, whether Executive, Non-Executive or Independent
Non-Executive are bound by fiduciary duties. They have both a
legal and moral duty to act independently, in good faith, with due
care and skill, and without fetter or instruction. The Directors’
Charter duly endorsed by the Board enables the Directors to
better perform their duties and ensure that their contribution is
fully effective and meets the standards expected from them in
terms of independence, ethics and integrity.
Non-Executive and Independent Non-Executive Directors are
individuals of calibre and credibility who have the necessary
skills and experience to constructively analyse, independent
of management, issues of strategy, performance evaluation,
resources, equal opportunities and standards of conduct.
They play a particularly vital role in providing independent
judgement in all circumstances.

Succession Plan

Executive Directors on the other hand, exercise their
management responsibilities and their fiduciary duties in the
best interests of the Company.

Upon the recommendation of the Corporate Governance
Committee, the Board has endorsed a Succession Planning
Policy for Directors in order to ensure a proper diversity and
an appropriate balance of knowledge, skills and experience on
the Board.

Once appointed on the Board, Directors receive the key
documents pertaining to their duties and responsibilities.
Furthermore, charters, position statements and job descriptions
have been devised so that there is a clear division of
responsibilities.
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Chairman

Guides and monitors the
functioning of the Board of
Directors, to encourage active
participation of Directors,
to ensure a smooth and
timely flow of information to
shareholders and to ensure
the accurate documentation
of proceedings.

Is responsible for the dayto-day management of the
Group.

Encourages a culture
of openness, respect
and trust and ensures
constructive board
discussions.

Access to Information
Directors are provided with concise, adequate and timely
information to enable them to make informed decisions and to
discharge their duties and responsibilities.
Professional Advice

A Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transactions Policy
has been endorsed by the Board to provide the framework for
Directors and designated employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries to effectively identify, evaluate, disclose and manage
potential, actual or perceived conflicts of interest as well as
related party transactions which may arise in relation to the
activities of the Group. While the Board is ultimately responsible
for developing appropriate policies on conflicts of interest and
related party transactions and exercises this responsibility via
the Corporate Governance Committee, the Audit Committee is
responsible for addressing questions pertaining to conflicts of
interest and related party transactions and thereafter reports to
the Board on such matters.
Directors are expected to discharge their duties and
responsibilities objectively and in the best interest of the
Company. They should avoid conflicts of interest or situations
which might be reasonably perceived as such. Any Director who
is directly or indirectly interested in a transaction or proposed
transaction is required to disclose the nature of his/her interest,
and he/she should not participate in the debate or vote on the
matter. Related party transactions of the Group are conducted in
line with the internal policy.
	
Please refer to note 30 of the Notes to the Financial
Statements on page 232 for details of related party
transactions.

The Directors perform their duties and exercise their powers
to the extent permitted by law. They have the right to seek
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company
to enable them to discharge their responsibilities effectively.
Directors’ and Senior Officers’ Insurance and Indemnification
The Directors and the Company Secretary benefit from
an indemnity insurance cover for liabilities incurred while
performing their duties, to the extent permitted by law.
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Please refer to Other Statutory Disclosures on page 104 for a
table of total emoluments and benefits received by Directors
from the Company and subsidiary companies for the year
ended June 30, 2020. Non-Executive Directors received a fixed
annual directorship fee only and no remuneration in the form
of share options or bonuses associated with the organisation’s
performance. The current remuneration package of the Group
CEO comprises a basic salary, an annual performance bonus
and other benefits in kind. The proportion of variable pay to fixed
pay is significant and aims at aligning the interests of the Group
CEO to those of the Group.

The significant expenditure budgets pertaining to IT for each of
the Group’s entities are discussed and approved on an annual
basis by the respective Boards of Directors.

Long-term Incentive Plan

Management is responsible for implementing the policies,
procedures and practices to protect the Group’s information, in
line with regulatory and industry norms. The Group ensures that
access to information is only available to authorised parties while
having physical and logical access controls in place. While the
Audit Committee evaluates the effectiveness of related internal
control systems, the set-up provides for independent assurance
via the internal audit function which acts as an additional line of
defense to assess the suitability of the security policies, standards
and related procedures within the Group’s entities.
	A description of the Group’s IT policies is available on
the Company’s website - www.ubp.mu.
The Board of Directors and the management of the Company are
also committed to complying with all relevant laws in respect of
personal data including the General Data Protection Regulation
(GDPR) and the Data Protection Act (DPA) for the protection of
the rights and freedoms of individuals whose information are
collected and processed in the course of its activities. A Data
Protection Management Program has been devised to this end.

The Company does not have any long-term incentive plan yet. A
‘Performance Management System’ is being designed to reward
employees based on the achievement of short term and long
term objectives.
Share Option Plan
The Company does not have any Share Option Plan.
Board Evaluation
At the initiative of the Corporate Governance Committee, a Board
evaluation, in the form of a questionnaire and covering, inter alia,
the key aspects of the Board’s function, was commissioned in
2020. All the members of the Board were consulted and the
report was communicated to the Board in view of improving its
effectiveness and its functioning.

ABOUT US

The Group is committed to instilling a risk and performance
culture. To this end, a risk governance framework is key.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

The Group is committed to safeguarding the confidentiality,
integrity, availability and protection of information, backed
by an adapted information technology (IT) system. The Board
ensures that prudent and reasonable steps are taken to ensure
that the IT governance forms an integral part of the overall
corporate governance of the Group and is managed according
to set policies. To fulfill this obligation, the Board is supported
by the Risk Monitoring Committee for reviewing information
technology risks and actions taken to mitigate them.

Risk Governance

Risk Governance
The Board of Directors is responsible for the
governance of risks and embeds a robust risk
management framework as a core competency.
The Group’s internal control system is designed
to manage the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. The Board is ultimately responsible for
the setting up and monitoring of the risk governance
process, including setting the risk appetite, and
the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control
systems.

CORPORATE
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While the responsibility for information governance with the
Company is bestowed upon the Board, the management of
information technology and the governance of information
security are delegated to the IT function.

6. RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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Furthermore, the Group lays significant emphasis on appointing
the right people with the right experience and expertise
whilst rewarding them adequately to ensure engagement and
commitment to long term value creation. In the same vein,
the Group Remuneration Policy, endorsed by the Board, sets
out rules to ensure equity, transparency and consistency in the
remuneration practices across the Group, in accordance with
market practices.

The Risk Monitoring Committee and Audit Committee
assist the Board in the discharge of its duties in relation
to risk management and internal control respectively.
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Management is responsible for implementing internal
control and risk management systems under the
supervision of the Audit Committee and of the Risk
Monitoring Committee respectively to ensure their
effectiveness. The aim is to ensure that the assets of
the Group are safeguarded, that proper accounting
records are maintained and that the strategies and
policies adopted by the Board are being implemented.
The Board acknowledges that the Group’s systems
of risk management and internal controls provide
reasonable, but not absolute assurance that the
Group will not be adversely affected by an event that
can be reasonably foreseen.

Remuneration Policy
The Corporate Governance Committee in its role as
Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board with regard to the definition
and development of the Group’s general remuneration policy,
including determining performance measurement criteria and
specific remuneration packages for Executive Directors and
senior management and the level of remuneration of NonExecutive Directors.
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Risk Monitoring

Risk Architecture

Following the implementation of the ERM, a risk monitoring exercise was initially undertaken by Messrs. BDO & Co in view of
monitoring and reporting the key risks across the Group. Further to the control assessment, a report was submitted to the Risk
Monitoring Committee on three types of risks, namely the business management risks, Board risks and emerging risks.

With a view to fully identify, measure, assess and mitigate our exposure to risks, an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework
and a Business Continuity Management (BCM) plan were implemented within the Group in 2016.

The key risk categories relevant to the Group, remain as follows:

INTRODUCTION

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

ABOUT US

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Risk Hierarchy is illustrated hereunder:

Risk Hierarchy

Risks associated with recruitment and
retirement, on-going talent
management and succession
planning, relations with trade unions

Risks associated with uncertainties
and opportunities embedded in the
Group’s strategic plan and the
manner in which they are executed.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

The Group’s strategic objectives were defined and the risk appetite was determined for each of these objectives based on a groupwide approach considering risks across all departments, functions and activities.

Strategic Risks
People Risks
Risks associated with all events that
can cause serious injury and harm to
the Group’s workforce and
customers.

Risks associated with maintaining the
quality and reputation of our branded

Marketing and
Customer Risks

3rd line of
defence

GROUP INTERNAL AUDIT
Carry out internal audits on a
risk basis. Provide assurance on
adequacy of controls across
specific risk areas (including risk
management).

CHIEF RISK OFFICER
Review and approve risk reviews.
Approve appropriate action to bring organisational risks within tolerance level.
Report to the Risk Monitoring Committee on the key risk/control indicators.

DEPARTMENT HEADS (RISK OWNERS)
Attend periodic meetings to discuss risk management reports.
Maintain oversight of their respective risk/control owners.

RISK &
COMPLIANCE
OFFICER
Implementation
of the risk
management
framework.

2nd line of
defence

Risks relating to macro-economic
evolution, politics, foreign
investments and climatic conditions
that are outside our control.

Business
Environment
and Market
Risks

Health and
Safety Risks

CAPITAL
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to customers.

Key Risk
Categories

1st line of
defence

Risks linked to the legislations and
regulations surrounding the
operations and functioning of the
Group e.g. competition laws, the
Employment Rights Act, Environment
Protection Act, Data Protection Act,
General Data Protection Regulation,
health and safety regulations and the
Code of Corporate Governance.

Legal Risks

Risks that hardwares and softwares are
not operating as intended thereby
compromising the integrity and reliability
of data and information and exposing
significant assets to potential loss or
misuse or exposing the Group’s ability to
maintain a high standard in its main
business processes. They include all IT
and telephony systems and the use of
latest technologically-prone equipments.

Technology
Risks

Financial
Risks

Operational
Risks

Risks defined as risks of loss resulting
from inadequate or failed internal
processes and procedures, human error
or system failure or from external events.
They include all processes and sub
processes from the time the raw
materials are extracted and the
manufacturing process up to the point of
receipt by the customer.

Risks linked to liquidity, interest rates,
foreign currency exchange rates,
capital structure and profitability.

A report on the key risks inherent to our activities can be found on page 62 to 69 of this report.
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Approve and maintain the Risk Management Policy.
Set and review the Risk Appetite on a periodic basis.
Maintain oversight of the Risk Management Framework.
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disciplinary issues.

Way Forward
A Risk and Compliance Officer was recently appointed. The
Group intends to strengthen the risk monitoring function
and ensures reporting to the Board, via the Risk Monitoring
Committee.

Committee and the Company and the auditors’ independence,
objectivity and professional scepticism.
Pursuant to Section 41A of the Financial Reporting Act 2004, as
amended by the Finance (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2016
and a subsequent regulation Government Notice No 64 of
2017 pertaining to the rotation of auditors for listed companies,
the Company appointed Messrs. Deloitte Mauritius, as external
auditors.

management, dishonoured cheques, the retail and operational
review of Espace Maison, stock controls of the PPB division and
the fleet management and consumption of diesel.
This year again, no financial problems were identified which
would materially affect the figures reported in the financial
statements. The recommendations are gradually being
implemented by management under the close follow-up of the
internal auditor.

Whistleblowing

Once the risk registers will be up to date, each risk owner will
pursue the risk monitoring exercise within the set framework
and actions plans will be tracked by the Risk and Compliance
Officer, who will report to the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) to that
effect.
To ensure that the Board has an enhanced view of the Group’s
overall risk profile, the CRO will regularly report to the Risk
Monitoring Committee in respect of the evolution of the key
risks and the implementation of agreed treatment plans.
Insurance Coverage
The Board, via the Risk Monitoring Committee, ensures that the
Group’s insurance policies are regularly assessed to guarantee
adequate coverage of the significant risks faced by the Group.
During the year under review, the Group subscribed to a political
violence cover in view of the risks associated with tensions due
to the COVID-19 impact.

At the time of writing, the post of internal auditor within the
Company is vacant and due to be filled. Hence, the Board has
decided to engage Messrs. BDO & Co. to conduct the internal
audit of the Group during the ensuing year.
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To further ensure that the objectivity and independence of
external auditors are not compromised in the conduct of the
audit, the Audit Committee approves any non-audit services
provided by them, which are moreover limited to ad hoc advice
and assistance.
 lease refer to Other Statutory Disclosures on page 106
P
for the details of the auditors’ remuneration

7. REPORTING WITH INTEGRITY
Internal Audit
The Board is responsible for the preparation of an Annual Report
and financial statements in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations. Pursuant to the prevailing Companies Act of
Mauritius, the Directors are also required to ensure that financial
statements are in compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.
The Directors are further responsible for the adequate
maintenance of accounting records, which disclose at any
time and with reasonable accuracy, the financial position and
performance of the Company and the Group. They also have
the duty to maintain an effective system of internal control and
risk management to safeguard the assets of the Company and
of the Group and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
Being a listed Company, it is imperative that our stakeholders
be kept fully informed about our activities and that our financial
disclosures meet the highest ethical standards. This report
sets out the financial, social, environmental and performance
outlook relevant to the Group.

The Group’s internal audit function is responsible for providing
independent, objective assurance to the Board regarding the
implementation, operation and effectiveness of internal control
systems, risk management and governance of the Group.
The objective is to ascertain the extent of compliance with
procedures, policies, regulations and legislation, using a riskbased approach and to recommend improvements in control,
performance and productivity within the Group. The Audit
Committee monitors the independence and the objectivity of
the internal audit function.

CAPITAL
REPORTS

The risk registers will also be updated and linked to the objectives
of the Board, so that appropriate treatment plans be elaborated
in respect of the key risks falling outside the tolerance limits of
the risk appetite.

In view of upholding the highest level of ethical conduct, the
Board has endorsed a Whistleblowing Policy to provide a
framework for its employees to raise concerns about any aspect
involving malpractices without fear of reprisal or victimisation.
The policy provides details of the process to follow to raise a
concern as well as the possible outcomes related thereto.
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Being mindful of the evolution of the business environment,
the Risk Monitoring Committee and the Chairman of the Board,
will review and redefine the risk appetite and the Board risks,
including their impact and tolerance, which will be thereafter
submitted to the Board, for approval.

The Board relies on the internal and external audit functions to
report on any weaknesses and to make recommendations via
the Audit Committee and as relevant, via the Risk Monitoring
Committee, the objective being to ensure the effective and
efficient use of available resources and ascertaining the accuracy
of information used in the preparation of financial statements.
No restrictions are placed over the right of access by the internal
auditor to the records, the management and/or the employees
of the Group.

Internal Controls
	
Furthermore, a soft copy of the Annual Report of the
Group is available on the Company’s website
www.ubp.mu.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control systems
and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Group’s internal control
framework seeks to ensure the reliability of financial reporting,
operations and systems whilst guaranteeing compliance with
internally established policies and procedures as well as with
laws, regulations and codes of business practice in order to
protect the Group’s assets and reputation.

8. AUDIT

The internal control framework is devised to tackle the key
risks identified under the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) of
the Group. The internal audit function thereafter assesses the
effectiveness of the internal controls in mitigating those risks.

The Audit Committee evaluates the independence and
work effectiveness of external auditors before making a
recommendation to the Board for their appointment and reappointment. The evaluation encompasses an assessment of
the qualifications and performance of the auditors, the quality
and integrity of the auditors’ communications with the Audit
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in the discharge of this
responsibility and oversees the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control systems. Processes are in place to monitor the
effectiveness of internal controls, to identify and report any
significant issues, and to ensure that timely and appropriate
corrective actions are taken. In carrying out its duties, the Audit
Committee receives regular reports from the internal audit
function of the Group.

ABOUT US

6. RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)
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Further to the assessment of their expertise and independence,
Messrs. BDO & Co. were engaged in April 2015 to conduct the
internal audit of the Group, based on a 3-year internal audit
plan, duly approved by the Audit Committee. The methodology
used was based on the selection of specific business cycles, the
identification of inherent risks, the verification of key controls in
place in view of eliminating or reducing the risks to an acceptable
level, the verification of the said controls to ensure they are
operating satisfactorily, the performance of walk-through tests
on procedures and processes and the formulation of necessary
recommendations
An internal auditor was thereafter recruited. The reports
issued by the internal auditor during the year relate to stock
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Shareholding Structure

Key Stakeholders of the Group

The shareholding structure of the Group at June 30, 2020 is as detailed hereunder:
ABOUT US

9. RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER KEY STAKEHOLDERS

In line with its values, the Company fully engages itself towards responding to its different stakeholders’ expectations and taking on
board their interests in the decision-making process, as further detailed in this Integrated Report.

SUBSIDIARIES

100%

100%

100%

100%

Espace
Maison
Ltée

Compagnie
de Gros Cailloux
Limitée

Société
d’investissement
Rodriguais

UBP
International
Limited

UBP
Madagascar

90%
UBP
Coffrages
Ltée

76.5%

54.6%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Sainte
Marie Crushing
Plant Limited

Drymix
Ltd

Land
Reclamation
Limited

Stone and
Bricks Limited

The Stone
Masters
Co. Ltd

Pricom
Ltd

100%

75.9%

77%

100%

80%

La Savonnerie
Créole Ltée

Welcome
Industries Ltd

United Granite
Product (Private)
Limited

Société des
Petits Cailloux

Drymat SAS
(Réunion)

Employees

Key Stakeholders
of the Group

100%
DHK Metal
Crusher
(Private)
Limited

CAPITAL
REPORTS

Government
and regulatory
authorities

100%

100%
Sheffield Trading
(Private)
Limited

ASSOCIATES

Suppliers and
partners

Financial institutions

49%

46%

34%

25%

25%

20%

Pre-Mixed
Concrete
Limited

Terrarock
Ltd

Prochimad
Mines et Carrière
SARL*

Sud
Concassage
Limitée

Cement
Transport
Ltd

Compagnie
Mauricienne
d’Entreprise Ltée

Operational

Dormant

* Via UBP Madagascar

The share capital of the Company amounts to Rs 265,100,420 made up of 26,510,042 ordinary shares of no par value.
The Company has as Holding Company IBL Ltd, incorporated in Mauritius.

Community at large
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THE UNITED BASALT PRODUCTS LIMITED

Customers

INTRODUCTION

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Common Directors

Number of shareholders

Number of shares owned

Percentage (%)

4,378

7,861,885

29.66

Insurance and assurance companies

13

235,552

0.89

Pension and providence funds

75

3,150,343

11.88

Investment and trust companies

61

790,794

2.98

304

14,471,468

54.59

4,831

26,510,042

100.00

Individuals

The list of common Directors with the shareholder companies holding more than 5% of the share capital of the Company at
June 30, 2020 was as follows:

Directors

UBP

IBL Ltd

Jan Boullé

∞

∞

Other corporate bodies

Arnaud Lagesse

∞

∞

Total

Thierry Lagesse

∞

∞

In accordance with the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd, at least 25% of the shareholding of the Company is in
public hands.
Share Registry and Transfer Office

Number of Shares

% Holding

IBL Ltd

8,785,100

33.14

The National Pensions Fund

1,335,172

5.04

Shareholders

Total Shareholders’ Return

Except for the above, no other entity or individual had an interest of 5% or more in the ordinary share capital of the Company.
Shareholding Profile
The share ownership and categories of shareholders at June 30, 2020 were as follows:

Number of shareholders

Number of shares owned

Percentage (%)

3,258

297,898

1.12

501 – 1,000

361

263,763

1.00

1,001 – 5,000

703

1,648,351

6.22

5,001 – 10,000

216

1,521,029

5.74

10,001 – 50,000

226

4,564,756

17.22

50,001 – 100,000

35

2,373,244

8.95

100,001 – 250,000

25

3,551,975

13.40

250,001 – 1,000,000

5

2,168,754

8.18

Over 1,000,000

2

10,120,272

38.17

4,831

26,510,042

100.00

1 - 500

Total
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The Company’s Share Registry and Transfer Office is administered in-house.

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Share price at the end of the current year

Rs

83.00

115.00

125.50

131.25

128.50

Share price at the end of the previous year

Rs

85.00

83.00

115.00

125.50

131.25

Increase/(Decrease) in share price

Rs

(2.00)

32.00

10.50

5.75

(2.75)

Dividend per share

Rs

3.00

3.25

3.50

3.80

1.90

Total return per share

Rs

1.00

35.25

14.00

9.55

(0.85)

Total return based on previous year’s share price

%

1.18

42.47

12.17

7.61

(0.65)
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The shareholders holding more than 5% of the share capital of the Company at June 30, 2020 were as follows:
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Shares in Public Hands

Substantial Shareholders

Size of shareholding
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Category of shareholders
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RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER KEY STAKEHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
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9.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

INTRODUCTION
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For the year ended June 30, 2020

	Please refer to Financial Highlights on pages 149 and 150 for indicators and dividend paid per ordinary share over the past
five years to June 30, 2020.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view of the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of the Company. In so doing, they are required to:
•
select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
•
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•	comply with the provisions of the Companies Act 2001 and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and
explain any material departure thereto;
•	prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue in business in the foreseeable future.

Shareholders’ Agreement
At the time of writing, there is no shareholders’ agreement to the knowledge of the Company.
Annual Meeting of Shareholders
The Company’s Annual Meeting is the main forum where the shareholders exercise their rights to decide on the Company’s affairs
and receive direct feedback from Board members. The external auditors also attend the meeting.
Shareholders are also informed in a timely manner of any relevant information concerning the Company and the Group such that
they are able to take decisions in full awareness of their implications. These communications are made either by announcements in
the press, the publication of quarterly abridged group financial statements and disclosures in the Annual Report.
Shareholders’ Calendar of Events
Further to the financial year-end in June, the calendar of key events is as follows:

The Directors are also responsible for the proper maintenance of accounting records which disclose at any time and with
reasonable accuracy, the financial position and performance of the Company. They are also responsible for maintaining an
effective system of internal control and risk management, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for taking all reasonable
steps to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors acknowledge that they have exercised their responsibilities as described above and confirm that they have complied
with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020. They also acknowledge the
responsibility of the external auditors to report on these financial statements and to express an opinion as to whether they are
fairly presented. They further acknowledge that they have ensured compliance to the Code of Corporate Governance of 2016
(the “Code”) and provided reasons in case of non-compliance with the Code.
The Directors confirm that they have established an internal audit function and report that proper accounting records have been
maintained during the year ended June 30, 2020 and that nothing has come to their attention which could indicate any material
breakdown in the functioning of the internal control system and have a material impact on the trading and financial position of
the Company.

CALENDAR OF KEY EVENTS

On behalf of the Board
NOVEMBER
Publication of
audited abridged
group year-end
results to June 30

NOVEMBER
Publication of
unaudited abridged
group first quarter’s
results to
September 30

DECEMBER
Annual Meeting of
shareholders

FEBRUARY
Publication of
unaudited abridged
group half-year’s
results to
December 31

MAY
Publication of
unaudited abridged
group third quarter’s
results to March 31

MAY
Declaration of
dividend

JUNE
Payment of
dividend

Marc Freismuth 				
Stéphane Ulcoq
Chairman 				Group CEO

The calendar has been exceptionally modified this year following the COVID-19 impact.
November 09, 2020
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the preparation of financial statements and internal control.

On June 08, 2020, the Company declared a dividend of Rs 1.90 per share in respect of FY2020, payable on July 15, 2020.
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The Company has no formal set dividend policy. The payment of dividend is subject to the Company’s performance, its cash flow
position, its capital expenditure and debt servicing requirements as well as its foreseeable investments and growth opportunities.
In so doing, the Board of Directors attempts to distribute a yearly dividend which, under normal circumstances, should remain
sustainable in the medium to long term.
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Dividend Policy

Statement of Directors’
responsibilities
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(Pursuant to Section 221 of the Companies Act 2001)

ACTIVITIES

Subsidiary Companies

United Granite Products (Private) Limited

Land Reclamation Limited

The principal activity of the Group remains the manufacture
and sale of building materials which consist mainly of our
core products: aggregates, rocksand and concrete blocks.
Other products include precast concrete slabs, ready-to-use
dry mortar, various concrete building components including
paving-blocks and roof tiles, imported floor and wall tiles,
sanitary ware and a complete range of home building and
decorating products, fittings, tools and garden accessories.
Services rendered consist mainly of engineering works by the
Company’s workshop and contracting services.

Espace Maison Ltée

Messrs:
			
			

Messrs:
			

Besides Mauritius, the Group is present in Rodrigues,
Madagascar and Sri Lanka. During the year under review,
the Company disposed of its 15% shareholding in a company
manufacturing clay bricks in Zambia.
DIRECTORS
Members of the Board of Directors at June 30, 2020 were:
The Company
Messrs:
			
			
Mrs:
Messrs:
			
			
			
			
			
Mrs:
Mr:		

Marc Freismuth - Chairman
François Boullé
Jan Boullé
Catherine Gris
Joël Harel
Laurent de la Hogue
Arnaud Lagesse
Stéphane Lagesse
Thierry Lagesse
Christophe Quevauvilliers
Kalindee Ramdhonee
Stéphane Ulcoq

			
			
			

Mr Arnaud Lagesse resigned as Director to
the Board on July 14, 2020 and was replaced
by Mrs Christine Marot on July 16, 2020.

Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée
Messrs:
Stéphane Ulcoq – Chairman 		
			
François Boullé
			
Marc Freismuth
Mrs :
Catherine Gris – Appointed on May 25, 2020
Messrs:
Thierry Lagesse
			
Christophe Quevauvilliers
		
UBP Coffrages Ltée
Messrs:
			
			

Laurent Béga
Bryan Gujjalu
Christophe Quevauvilliers

Messrs:
			
			
			

Thierry Lagesse – Chairman
Michel Pilot
Christophe Quevauvilliers
Stéphane Ulcoq

Drymix Ltd
Mr:		
Marc Freismuth – Chairman		
Mrs:	Kalindee Ramdhonee – Appointed on May
25, 2020, in replacement of Mr Thierry
Lagesse who resigned on the same date
Messrs:
-alternate: Christophe Quevauvilliers
			
Colin Taylor
			
-alternate: Eric Adam
			
Urs Rolland Straub
			
- alternate: Mr Guillaume Dubreuil
			
Stéphane Ulcoq

Messrs:
			

Joël Harel
Christophe Quevauvilliers

The Stone Masters Co. Ltd
Messrs:
			

Joël Harel
Christophe Quevauvilliers

Pricom Ltd		
Messrs:
			
			

Thierry Lagesse – Chairman
Joël Harel
Stéphane Ulcoq

			
Mr Alexis Caude resigned as Director on
March 17, 2020.

Welcome Industries Ltd
Messrs:
			
			

Thierry Lagesse – Chairman
Christophe Quevauvilliers
Stéphane Ulcoq

UBP International Limited
Messrs:
			
			

Thierry Lagesse – Chairman
Marc Freismuth
Joël Harel

UBP Madagascar
General Manager: This post will be filled in due course.
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Stone & Bricks Limited
Sainte Marie Crushing Plant Limited
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Thierry Lagesse – Chairman
François Boullé
Jan Boullé
Catherine Gris
Marc Freismuth
Joël Harel
Laurent de la Hogue
Stéphane Lagesse
Kalindee Ramdhonee
Stéphane Ulcoq

François Boullé
Joël Harel
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The Group is also involved in sugar cane cultivation, the sale of
agricultural products, landscaping services and leisure activities
through one of its subsidiaries.

Messrs:
			
			
Mrs:
Messrs:
			
			
			
Mrs:
Mr:		

Rémi de Gersigny
Christophe Quevauvilliers
Stéphane Ulcoq
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Other statutory
disclosures
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR OFFICERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

Total remuneration and benefits received by the Directors, at June 30, 2020, from the Company and its subsidiary companies
were as follows:

The Directors’ and Senior Officers’ interests in the ordinary shares of the Company at June 30, 2020 were as follows:

FROM THE COMPANY

FROM SUBSIDIARIES

Direct

2020
Rs

2019
Rs

2020
Rs

2019
Rs

1,000,000

1,000,000

120,000

122,500

Francois Boullé

250,000

180,000

120,000

130,000

Jan Boullé

250,000

118,269

120,000

65,705

Catherine Gris

250,000

135,000

120,000

65,705

Joël Harel

250,000

180,000

120,000

100,000

Non Executive Directors
Marc Freismuth (Chairman)

Laurent De La Hogue

250,000

180,000

120,000

Indirect

Category

Number

%

Number

%

Marc Freismuth - Chairman

NED

-

-

-

-

François Boullé

NED

13,000

0.050

-

-

Jan Boullé

NED

-

-

11,484

0.043

Catherine Gris

INED

-

-

-

-

Joël Harel

NED

-

-

-

-

Laurent de la Hogue

NED

-

-

-

-

Arnaud Lagesse

NED

-

-

12,200

0.046

Stéphane Lagesse

NED

218

0.001

45,137

0.170

Thierry Lagesse

NED

2,136

0.008

45,137

0.170

600

0.002

12

0.000

Directors

100,000

Arnaud Lagesse (Resigned on July 14, 2020)

250,000

180,000

-

-

Stéphane Lagesse

250,000

180,000

120,000

100,000

Thierry Lagesse

250,000

180,000

640,000

570,000

Kalindee Ramdhonee

250,000

118,269

120,000

65,705

Christophe Quevauvilliers
Kalindee Ramdhonee
Stéphane Ulcoq

ED
INED

-

-

-

-

ED

-

-

-

-

0.002

-

-

Executive Directors
Stéphane Ulcoq (Group CEO)

9,903,604

7,496,466

40,000

40,000

Christophe Quevauvilliers (Group CFO)

4,705,500

5,817,433

40,000

40,000

Senior Officers
Edley Michaud

*

605

ED – Executive Director
NED – Non-Executive Director
INED – Independent Non-Executive Director
* Except for the above, none of the other Senior Officers had an interest in the shares of the Company, either directly or indirectly.
None of the Directors and Senior Officers of the Company had an interest in the shares of the subsidiary companies.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS
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Except for Messrs Stéphane Ulcoq and Christophe Quevauvilliers who each have a contract of employment with the Company,
there is no service contract between the Company and any of the Directors.
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION

Company Secretary’s
certificate

ABOUT US

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

For the year ended June 30, 2020
The Directors and the Company Secretary benefit from an indemnity insurance cover for liabilities incurred while performing their
duties, to the extent permitted by law.
SHAREHOLDERS

INTRODUCTION

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the Company has filed with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as
are required of the Company under the Companies Act 2001.

Substantial Shareholders
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The shareholders holding more than 5% of the share capital of the Company at June 30, 2020 were as follows:
Number of shares

% Holding

IBL Ltd

8,785,100

33.14

The National Pensions Fund

1,335,172

5.04

Bhooneshi Nemchand
Company Secretary

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Shareholders

November 09, 2020

Except for the above, no other entity or individual had an interest of 5% or more in the ordinary share capital of the Company.
CAPITAL
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
No Director or any substantial shareholder had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in a contract of significance entered
into by the Company or its subsidiaries.
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DONATIONS
The Company and its subsidiary companies have donated Rs 5,693,205 during the year ended June 30, 2020 (2019: Rs 2,486,219)
out of which Rs 2,387,368 (2019: Rs 1,884,433) were political donations.
AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The auditor’s remuneration was as follows:
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

2020

2019

2020

2019

Rs’000

Rs’000

Rs’000

Rs’000

Deloitte

2,997

-

1,300

-

Other firms

1,204

2,941

500

1,259

-

-

-

-

493

1,677

183

1,381

Audit fees :

Non-audit fees :
Deloitte
Other firms

The non-audit fees were paid by the Group to Ernst & Young for tax services and assistance for a VAT review for Rs 492,710
(2019: Rs 726,776).
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Validate
Cre at io n s
Our need for the better will never stop, nor will our mission to continuously
and relentlessly improve our stakeholders’ lives and experiences.

SCAN FOR AN ENHANCED VISUAL EXPERIENCE
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Natural capital
Human capital
Intellectual capital
Social capital
Manufactured capital
Financial capital
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Natural
capital

CLIMATE CHANGE CONTRIBUTIONS

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) sensitisation
In January 2016, world leaders agreed on an action plan based on
17 goals that will help make the world a better place to live in by 2030.
All countries, including Mauritius, are called upon to contribute to the
protection of our planet.

Imported goods

Electricity
Total Co2e for
FY2020 : 14,641 tonnes

Thus, our ambition is to raise awareness among the Group's employees
on these 17 SDGs so they become more engaged in sustainability actions
both at work and in their everyday life. Each week, for a duration of 17
weeks, an internal communication is sent for each one of the 17 SDGs,
illustrating examples of simple actions that can be taken to implement
them.

In terms of electricity use, we observed a 10.3% reduction in Co2e emissions
this year. However, this is mostly attributed to the COVID-19 lockdown, as
well as some gains in efficiency at Gros Cailloux (see Resource Management
overleaf). Furthermore, we are transitioning from a low-voltage metering
system to medium-voltage metering at our Geoffroy and Poudre D’Or sites.
This will not only help us improve efficiency but also enable us to benefit from
more advantageous tariffs.

KWH USED

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

Noise and dust
pollution

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

DOORSTEP COMMUNITIES

After analysing the results and recommendations given by ISODOM regarding
our transport fleet, we decided to support the migration from fossil-based
energy to other alternatives such as renewable sources for our transport
activities. We have modulated our car scheme to encourage our employees
to switch to hybrid and electric cars. We are also promoting an incremental
improvement of our fuel management system. The importance of an accurate
fuel measurement system is key in helping us keep track of the fuel used by our
transport fleet. We have recently implemented a card-based fuel monitoring
system within the Group that will allow us to improve fuel efficiency, while
sensitising vehicle users on how their driving style will impact fuel consumption,
emissions, and costs.

CAPITAL
REPORTS

Our key impacts are:

ABOUT US

Energy Management

For the past two years, we have strived as a Group to explore
avenues to better manage our environmental impact. We
believe that it is crucial that we, as individuals, companies
and consumers, become more mindful in our strategic
management, as well as day-to-day decisions and activities.
We also believe in offering products and services that are
both innovative and more environmentally friendly.

CO MPARI NG E L EC TRI C I T Y COMSUMPT ION

1,800,000

FINANCIAL
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1,600,000
1,400,000

Fuel for company
vehicles and industrial
consumption:
2.3 million litres
226 tonnes of gas

Simultaneously, a quiz competition is organised at regular intervals
to provide a fun and engaging way to learn. In order to develop
intrapreneurship, we will further encourage employees to come up with
projects based on what they have learnt. The winners of the best projects
will be rewarded.

1,200,000
1,000,000
800,000
600,000
400,000
200,000

Fertilizers used in
agricultural activities:
180 tonnes

0
JUL

OTHER ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS

AUG

SEP

OCT

NOV
FY2019

Total tonnes Co2e

DEC

JAN

FEB

MAR

APR

MAY

JUN

FY2020

CAR B O N E MI S S I O N S F R O M ELECTRICIT Y

2 0,0 0 0

1 5,0 0 0

Water consumption
1 0,0 0 0

Soil composition
alteration
Gros Cailloux
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5,0 0 0

0
FY2019

FY2020
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Since the start of the year, Espace Maison has been stepping up green
actions on all fronts. Le Geste Vert d’Espace Maison was launched in order to
promote recycling.
Its offices are equipped with an eco-press (to compress plastic bottles) and
sorting bins for plastic and paper. Its shops are also equipped with bins for
plastic bottles, used light bulbs and batteries, available to employees as well
as customers. In January 2020, Espace Maison launched its e-ticketing offer
for Club Espace Maison customers, who now receive their sales receipts by
email, thus avoiding paper waste. Although only 1% of our loyal customers
have used this service so far, we are encouraging them to go paperless.

Espace Maison has been committed
to improving the sustainability of its
offerings. We have introduced organic
and bio fertilizers with the aim of phasing
out all chemical fertilisers by the end of
2020.
Similarly, we are looking to introduce
organic and bio pest control products
to eliminate less environmental friendly
products from our shelves within two
years.

Berling
Our ecological stance has also led us
to offer Berling paints, which are ecolabelled certified. These products use
less pigments, whilst ensuring adequate
coverage. The pigments are produced in
accordance with strict ecological criteria
and are free from heavy metals.

Espace Maison
Staying faithful to our approach, we have taken steps to promote local natural
products such as sea salt from Les Salines de Yemen, local craftsmanship by women,
as well as natural soaps from our subsidiary, La Savonnerie Créole Ltée.

EFFLUENT MANAGEMENT
UBP

In June 2020 and after years of research, La Savonnerie Créole finally launched its
range of solid shampoo products. The product comes in bar form that can either
be securely wrapped in recyclable paper or not wrapped at all, thus eliminating
waste (especially composite plastic bottles). Through the “Ban the bottle” tagline,
La Savonnerie Créole aims to highlight its package-free products, thus responding
to market demand.

At UBP, settling ponds on our rocksand
washing plants has allowed us to operate
with a closed loop circuit, thus reducing
our freshwater consumption. The resulting
settled sludge consisting of water and fines is
used to refill holes created by our de-rocking
operations in fields.

Trianon Shop

Scan to view enhanced
content

UBP

The raw materials used in the product formula are themselves sourced in a responsible,
sustainable way. They either come from natural sources (Ayurvedic products and
vegans) or respect principles of green chemistry.

Rajnee Bhurosah, Marketing and
Communication Manager.

“For us, it is a way
to promote local
craftsmanship with a
stronger identity,
whether on the Mauritian
market or on the tourism
market. Mauritians are
capable of doing
beautiful things and
together we can
go further“
Lise Maujean, Manager of La
Savonnerie Créole.

“Our raw material suppliers are AB Organic Farming Certified in order to preserve
the quality of the soil, air and water, as well as the health of the producers. We are
also committed to the One Voice Association against animal testing. La Savonnerie
Créole is working in this direction and does everything possible to offer simple,
natural products that are respectful of people and their habitat” says Lise Maujean,
Manager of La Savonnerie Créole.
La Savonnerie Créole is also “Made in Moris”certified.

We are also promoting the elimination of waste through resource recovery
practices, namely in terms of: waste paper, used car batteries and tyres from
our workshop, as well as used cooking oil generated by our canteens, which
are all sent to recyclers for valorisation.
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Espace Maison

“These initiatives have
been welcomed by
our customers and
employees alike. There is
an increasing awareness
that we need to
minimise environmental
impacts associated with
the consumption of a
product or service”
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A new irrigation system was installed at
Gros Cailloux for sugarcane and vegetable
cultivation. The new system ensures a more
uniform water distribution for proper plant
growth by supplying an optimum water flow
rate at the desired pressure. This, in turn, allows
for better pest and disease control. Moreover,
our overall irrigation efficiency was improved
in terms of labour and electricity consumption.
Irrigation per hectare (Ha) is now less labour
intensive and less time consuming. Our energy
consumption per hectare has decreased by
30% thanks to the new system in place.

Espace Maison

La Savonnerie Créole
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began by bringing plants from his
home and planting them himself in
the site’s yard. The effect was such
that the employees followed his
lead and grew a variety of plants,
including fruit trees and aromatic
herbs, around the site.

As of the time of writing, we have provided material, equipment
and logistics contributing towards the national clean-up effort.
We have also been collaborating with other players in the
private sector, NGOs and Business Mauritius, to coordinate
efforts.

An aerial view taken in Mauritius on August 17,
2020, shows the MV Wakashio bulk carrier.
Photo credit : AFP VIA GETTY IMAGES

In addition, trees have the capacity to reduce
temperatures on outdoor working spaces
and on buildings, reducing the need for
air conditioning. Lower temperatures also
decrease the risk of harmful pollutants like
ground level ozone that commonly spike on
hot days in urban areas. And most important
of all for a company like UBP is that trees are
particularly effective at removing particulate
matter (PM) from the air. 1
1

CAPITAL
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FAST

The Wakashio carrier, belonging to a Japanese company
but Panamanian-flagged, ran aground at Pointe d’Esny on
July 25, 2020. The ship had no payload at the time but was
carrying 200 tonnes of diesel and 3,800 tonnes of bunker fuel.
On August 6, 2020, the ship was breached and started leaking
oil into the pristine lagoons.

FINANCIAL
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FAST block section

Following last year’s carbon emission
calculations and climate risk report, UBP
has also decided to get a green thumb. It is
currently looking into the possibility of working
in collaboration with Gros Cailloux to plant
trees and shrubs on its sites across the country.
Different trees have varying capacities to absorb
carbon dioxide from the atmosphere, but
according to a study published in the Journal
Nature African, tropical forests sequester 0.66
tonnes of carbon per hectare per year.

SUPPORT FOR THE WAKASHIO OIL SPILL

https://www.bbc.com/future/
article/20200504-which-trees-reduce-airpollution-best OR
Scan for the
complete web article

Another avenue we intend to explore for our
future climate change adaptation strategy is
the planting of mangroves near one of our
subsidiaries, or alternatively in another site
located close to the sea, potentially at risk in
the event of rising sea levels.

FAST access ramp

116 - UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

UBP

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

PLANTING GREEN SPACES

Flacq
Associated
Stone
Masters Limited (FAST) Oasis:
The Group owns 8.5% shares in
FAST. The company is managed by
UBP and shares the same corporate
culture and values as the Group.
Following an initiative of its Plant
Manager, Mr Preetam Ramluggun,
FAST has been involved in the
creation of green spaces. He

INTRODUCTION

CAPITAL REPORTS

Mauritius is listed in the top 15 countries at
risk of Sea Level Rise. We are in touch with
the local authorities to explore potential
improvements we could make to contribute to
the reforestation and protection of mangroves
and wetlands, which are the natural protectors
of our coastal systems.
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Despite this improvement, we still have a disproportionate number of men (77%). We have also noted a decrease of
1% in the proportion of women occupying Senior Management positions.
It is important to highlight that the Group follows the recommendations of the Equal Opportunities Commission
(EOC) and is committed to providing equal opportunities and treatment to all its employees in terms of recruitment,
training, promotion, transfer, benefits, and discipline, without discriminating on the basis of any personal
characteristics as enunciated by the prevailing legislations.

TOTA L WO R K FO R CE IN 2020, BY G ENDER:

At UBP, where 21% of the workforce are Baby Boomers, a
Knowledge Transfer Programme is being implemented. This
is also aligned with our strategic objective of ensuring proper
knowledge transfer. It is our aim to extend the programme to
the whole Group.
 lease refer to the Intellectual capital on page 126 for
P
further details

PROFI LE BY GEN ER AT I ON FOR T HE GROUP:

Developing our human capital
Women

Men

2019

2020

Difference

23%

Total

77%

Baby Boomers (1946-1964)

239

225

-6%

28%

Senior Management

72%

GenX ( 1965-1980)

484

552

12%

53%

Middle Management

47%

GenY (1981-1999)

463

590

27%

8%

On-site Workers/Staff

92%

GenZ (2000 onwards)

114

32

-72%

The total number of employees trained over the past three years
has progressively increased. For FY2020, the increase is mainly
due to Espace Maison’s focus on its Customer Experience
Excellence training programme. This is part of the 3-year
journey initiated in FY2019 towards becoming a customercentric organisation. The three main components include the
development of our sales force capabilities, good product
knowledge and making the Group’s values part and parcel of the
work culture. An internal coordinator was hired to support the
above initiatives.
The amount invested in training per employee at Group level has
increased by 122%.

G ENDER DISTRIBUT I ON (%) PER COMPAN Y

In addition, our per headcount training investment value
has increased, especially this year, despite an increase in our
total workforce. These efforts are in line with our Strategic
Imperative of upskilling our staff in the use of all digital tools,
and encouraging autonomy and analytical capabilities. A better
trained workforce will ensure productivity and efficiency, as well
as provide our employees with an upward career path within the
Group.

%
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0
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WO M E N

UB P

MEN

WO M EN

DRYMIX

WOM EN
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FY2019
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UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020 - 119

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

In terms of gender parity at Group level, we have positively noted that the gender gap is closing with an increase
of 3% in women with respect to our total workforce. The biggest increase in women employment is at staff level.

CAPITAL
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We have started hiring younger generations to replace those
leaving our Group. This trend will be maintained over the next
few years, as the youngest Baby Boomers are now 56 years old
(born in 1964). Since the average retirement age lies somewhere
between 61 and 65, this could create some challenges for the
Human Resource function if left unmanaged. In the context of a
nationally ageing population, it is imperative for us to replace our
outgoing talent with the required skills and to continue renewing
our workforce over the next few years for a smooth transition.

FINANCIAL
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During the year, we increased our total headcount by 7.6%, reaching a total of 1,399 employees locally. We are proud
that, at the time of writing, none of our employees have lost their jobs as a direct result of COVID-19.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

ABOUT US

Human
capital

INTRODUCTION

CAPITAL REPORTS

Human
capital

Engagement and satisfaction
This year, we carried out an Employee Engagement survey within the Group which assessed how engaged and enabled employees feel.

639

600

E NGAGE ME NT

20

500

451
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GROS CAILLOUX

393

400
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EMPLOYEES T RA I N ED PER COMPA N Y

UBP

Committed and loyal employees,
willing to go the extra mile

O UTCOM ES

300

Operational Excellence

200
100

Customer Loyalty

0
FY2019

FY2020

ENGAGED
PERFORMANCE

481

Financial Performance

ESPACE MAISON
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F Y20 18

FY2020

Attract & Retain talent

14
DRYMIX
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Strong Employer Brand
E NA BLE ME NT
The right people in the right roles,
in an enabling work environment

TRAINING INVES T MEN T VALUE PER EMPLOYEE - GR OUP

Rs
10,0 0 0

8,8 71

9,0 0 0
8,0 0 0
7,0 0 0

• 78 % MALE

6,0 0 0
5,0 0 0

4,0 9 6

3,997

4,0 0 0

1, 18 2

3,0 0 0

1, 10 6

94%

2 ,0 0 0

• 22% FEMALE
• 6 1 % PA RT OF U BP

1,0 0 0
0
FY2018

FY 2 019

FY 2 02 0

Total number
of respondents*

Total number
of valid respondents**

Completion
rate

• 6 3 % OP E RAT I V E S
• 3 7 % S TA F F

S UR V E Y L AUN C H E D - F E B R UA RY 2 0 2 0 • S UR V E Y C LOS E D - F E B R UA RY 2 0 2 0 ( ON L I N E ) / M A R C H 2020 ( O F F LIN E)

* e xc lud ing R o d r igue s * * c o mp le te and v alid q ue stio nnaire s

The overall results were positive for the whole Group (refer to index on the next page), showing that we are above most
benchmarks analysed for Mauritius and worldwide. It is worth noting that the survey highlighted not only areas in which each
company is excelling, but also areas of improvement. The next steps for the Group is to analyse the least performing attributes
and identify opportunities within each department and company. Focus groups are being organised to establish an action plan.
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Engagement and satisfaction (continued)
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The Group

ENGAG EMEN T A N D EN ABLEMEN T I N D EX
UBP
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Espace Maison

Gros Cailloux
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UBP GROUP SCORE

Occupational Health and Safety
We are saddened to report one fatal accident at UBP this year.
In October 2019, we lost one of our colleagues, Mr Swaley
Cheekhoory after he was hit by a third party truck at our
Geoffroy site. Mr Cheekhoory, 55 years old, had been working
with us for over 31 years. It has been an honour and a privilege
to count him as one of us and he will be deeply missed and
remembered.

		
At the time of writing, 741 employees have followed the “work in complete safety” training course. Several types of hazards were
discussed such as falling on the same level and from machines, electrocution, chemicals, fire, noise pollution, working at height,
handling heavy objects, and more general risks which have been added such as road accidents or violence at work.

N UMBER OF ACCI D EN T S WI T H I N J URY LEAV E

The Group

Other proactive actions were undertaken to review the different risk assessments, job safety analysis, health surveillance of our
workers, performing fire drills and organizing regular meetings where workers expressed their concerns about health and safety
issues.

UBP

Drymix

Espace Maison

“This tragic event comes to remind us, in a brutal way, that
some of our professions are risky, by their very nature. Our
strict safety rules help mitigate, if not eliminate, most of these
risks. There is no such thing as zero risk, but the only way
to get as close as possible to it is to make security a state of
mind, and not just a set of rules. It is our duty to all, without
exception, if we are to be able to say: never again.”
Stéphane Ulcoq, Group CEO.
The lagging indicators, incident and severity rates, follow the
same trend as for the past three years. The lockdown period
due to COVID-19 has reduced the number of working days,
causing an increase in rates. One fatality increased the lost
time to 260 calendar days, in addition to one road accident
involving seven workers.
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Our leading indicators towards creating a safer workplace
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34%
It is important for our society to go
back to its pre COVID-19 habits as
quickly as possible

Scan to view our
COVID-19 safety
video

It is important for social changes to
occur as quickly as possible

We have reduced overtime and travelling allowances, not basic salaries.
In May 2020, we published our ‘Back to Work’ guidelines in preparation for the post-lockdown opening of the country’s economic
activities. Overall, whenever possible, we encourage the Work from Home modality and digital meetings. Luckily, at the time of
writing, there are no active COVID-19 cases within the public, meaning that face-to-face meetings and working in the office have
also been possible when required. At this time, no UBP employee has been tested positive.
In terms of Health and Safety on-site, the guidelines covered various topics including:

66%

5. In your opinion, how can we, as an employer, better
contribute to your well-being after this pandemic?

A sustainable development 22%

Better work-life balance 29%

More social actions 15%

Localism and self-sufficiency 12%

Living more simply 22%

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

COVID-19 IMPACTS

Sports and
recreational activities
Support communities
in your localities

For the smooth running of operations and on-site precautions:

Better access to
medical services

(1) Disinfection and cleaning of the Company’s premises, (2) Masks, gloves and safety glasses,
(3) Company’s transport arrangement, (4) Time & attendance and body temperature checks,
(5) Opening of doors, (6) Wearing/removing a personal protective equipment (mask, gloves
and safety glasses) and (7) Getting back home.

CAPITAL
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Better access to
nursery services
Better access to
psychological support

Other day-to-day activities:

0

Supporting our employees

After returning to work, we shared a survey amongst our employees, mainly amongst middle and senior management, to check
in on our employees, their experience of the lockdown and their expectations from us as a Group. Some of their responses below
have given us a better idea of how to ensure our employees’ well-being. In total, we received 99 responses across all companies.

NOU BAZ LIR

2. According to you, which of the two statements is
more relevant to you?

18%
COVID-19 has allowed me to rethink
much of my life and existence
Fear and anxiety 28%

COVID-19 is only a temporary
setback in my life and will not
change the way I live

Boredom 11%
Mixed feelings 17%
Good time with the family 25%
Time to rest and reflect 19%

20

30

40

50

60

RESPONSE RATE %

In their own words

1. How did you experience the lockdown
(in a few words)?

10

Dictionaries, encyclopaedias, grammar books and novels are
among the many books that will soon be at the fingertips of all
our employees.
Our Book Happiness Project initiated in June 2019 has been
rebranded - Nou Baz Lir.

France. These books were made available to UBP as part of a
welfare project to create libraries for our employees.
Geoffroy production plant, UBP Engineering division, Espace
Maison and Gros Cailloux are the first pilot sites to be equipped.

We care for the overall experience of our employees, hence
they were invited to find a name for their new library via a poll
on our Facebook page.
This initiative stemmed from a partnership with the Mauritian
Association ‘Food For Thoughts’ that had about 4,500 books
for youths aged 6 to 17 and adults, recovered from libraries in

82%
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(1) Work from Home for specific employees usually not involved in production, (2) Digital
meetings, (3) Deliveries, (4) Learning and training, (5) Messrooms, canteens and meeting
rooms, (6) Welcoming visitors and guests and, of course, (7) What to do in the event of
symptoms.
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4. If you believe that changes must take place, what
type of change are you referring to?

ABOUT US

3. Following the COVID-19 experience, do you believe
that, in Mauritius:
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Relational
Value of a business
as a result of, inter
alia, relationships with
customers, suppliers,
other businesses,
government
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Organisational
Value of a business
created by, inter alia,
processes, systems,
patents, trademarks,
reputation, innovation

We recently hired a new Risk and Compliance Officer whose
role includes ensuring compliance with the prevailing data
protection laws via a well-defined Data Protection Management
Programme (DPMP). She will assist in the implementation of
a new SharePoint system that will allow us to better manage
our data and information, in a centralised and secure way. This
system will work together with our new CRM being developed
within our group campanies.

HUMAN
Knowledge Transfer Programme
In an increasingly competitive world, our Group is banking on the
fact that employee experience is a growth driver. This is why we
choose to value management based on collective intelligence.
Our employees have extensive knowledge about their individual
roles, business processes, the data that supports their positions,
including how to work as efficiently as possible. As a number of
employees are expecting to retire within the next five years, we
are currently putting together a Knowledge Transfer Programme
which will be integrated in our internal training academy. While
the details of this programme are yet to be finalised, the aim is
to enable the collective sharing of valuable experiences between
our employees to guarantee a sustained improvement in the
Group’s development and performance, to increase the skills of
our employees, reduce the turnover rate of the new generations
and to enable them to acquire new skills that promote
motivation. The programme’s objective is to create connections
and relationships between the different generations. This human
approach is in line with our DNA as a business.

ISO certifications
Following its ISO 9001 certification a few years ago, Drymix has
been levelling up its accreditations as a proof of its expertise,
reliability and impartiality. The new version of ISO 9001
emphasises risk management. In order to meet this requirement,
Drymix has implemented a quality assurance system to minimise
risks of non-conforming products.

Espace Pro by Espace Maison

Drymix
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We have recruited a Group Financial Controller whose role
is to design dashboards and develop management tools in
order to better monitor performance and drive efficiency
within the Group.

ABOUT US

Monitoring operational performance

Data and information management

Human
Value of a business
generated by the skills,
abilities, and talents of its
people
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In the same vein, Drymix’s laboratory is committed to undertaking
a real quality journey. It will soon be the first local and regional
laboratory to obtain the ISO/IEC 17025 accreditation for the
testing of tile adhesives. The implementation of the ISO/
IEC 17025 standard in Drymix’s laboratory was an enriching
experience for all the laboratory staff, as the standard aims at
ensuring a high level of professionalism and instilling a work
culture built on critical thinking and rigorous methodologies that
every laboratory, accredited or not, must demonstrate in order
to produce reliable testing results.
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We have also begun laying the foundations of our next project: UBP 2.0

ORGANISATIONAL (CONTINUED)

An integrated solution will enable our employees to improve productivity by virtue of easier
access to information. We will gain in operational efficiency by enabling cross-functional business
processes to communicate through a single channel, increase data accuracy through automation
and process control and hence speed up decision-making processes. We are currently in the
brainstorming phase, where high-level requirements and risks are being discussed.

IT systems
		
At Espace Maison, we believe in blending digitalisation
with the conventional way of doing business. The current
digitalisation strategies typically focus on increasing
productivity. Demonstrating agility and maintaining
efficiency are, however, equally important as evidenced
by the COVID-19 pandemic. Over time, and now more
than ever, we have understood that our future lies in
digitalisation. Some of the measures we have taken
this year include the introduction of a mobile app for
employees in June 2020 and the launch of Club Espace
Pro, a service and mobile app dedicated to professionals
in the industry. Our vision for the future is to integrate
Virtual Reality (VR) and Augmented Reality (AR) into our
way of conducting business.

CORPORATE
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UBP 2.0 refers to the digital transformation of our value creation processes. Our aim is to improve
operational efficiency, business responsiveness and customer satisfaction with the help of an
integrated digital environment.

RELATIONAL
At Espace Maison, the launching of Espace Pro unveiled the many potential business opportunities within
the B2B segment. Consequently, appropriate strategies have to be adopted to position Espace Maison as a
B2B player. We further aim at developing an annual Pro Book displaying our whole range of products and
new ins. In our opinion, the B2B market offers great opportunities for growth provided that it is supported
by a superior after-sales service.

CAPITAL
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At UBP, our UBP Partner Programme offers a dedicated platform to our truck owners, many of whom are
our direct buyers. We provided dedicated personal support during the lockdown period, which helped
strengthen our relationship with this specific segment. In a view to attract and retain customers, UBP is
now looking forward to revisiting its customer journey, which will include a unique hotline concept.

FINANCIAL
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Building on the B2B market

Since January 2020, the Group has shifted from onpremise solutions to a cloud Office 365 solution for a more
reliable and secure backup of our data. Office 365 further
enables us to create, collaborate and communicate
seamlessly, thereby enhancing effectiveness within the
Group. This was all the more useful in keeping everyone
connected during the lockdown.
Our Application and Database servers, which were until
now hosted in-house, were also relocated to a Tier 4
colocation data centre. The Tier 4 data centre certification
provides us with the following advantages: 99.995%
uptime per year, a fully redundant infrastructure, 96hour power outage protection and low annual downtime
of 26.3 minutes. In terms of security, redundancy,
performance, infrastructure, compliance and costs, the
Group will benefit greatly.
While we have progressed in the area of digitalisation,
we are aware that much remains to be done. We intend
to continue introducing digital tools that enhance our
organisational efficiency.

UBP Server room

Espace Maison - Espace Pro Beau Vallon shop
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In the wake of COVID-19, serving our stakeholders has never been more crucial. As inscribed
in our Code of Ethics, our ambition as a national player and responsible citizen is to continue
to be part of the long-term sustainable development of our communities through meaningful
civic and social actions. This is in line with our values and our raison d’être “Building together a
better living environment”. The Group also highly encourages the participation of employees
in community activities.
MAINTAINING ETHICAL RELATIONSHIPS
Over the years, our Group has built and maintained public confidence by being committed to conducting business
with the highest level of ethical standards, integrity and fairness in its dealings. This remains one of our top priorities
and material matters as a Group. Our ethical obligations and responsibilities are described on our website. For more
information, please refer to the Corporate Governance report on page 73.

OUR CSR FOCUS AREAS FOR FY2020
Total amount spent: Rs 1.9 million
Education and inclusion are two major focus areas that are at the heart of our sustainability agenda and therefore
represent over 50% of our CSR budget. Our ambition is to be a committed partner to NGOs that are specifically
devoted to developing and empowering future generations.

33.2%

20.9 %

18%

22.8%

5.1%

Education
Supporting vulnerable
children and youth

Socio-economic
development
Continued support
to socially excluded
communities living
below the poverty line

Sustainable
development
Concerned about our
ecological impact, we
contribute through
various projects and
actions supported by
our collaborators on a
daily basis

Exclusion
Helping the poorest
and most marginalised
Mauritian families so
they are able to grow
and aspire for better
living conditions

‘Coup de Coeur’
A project supported
by a member of the
Committee

Drymix
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Focus area

New Bambous Geoffroy
Government School

Education

Association Solidarité
Mamans

Exclusion

A.P.E.I.M.

Education

Mouvement Forces Vives
Quartier EDC Rose Belle

Education

SOS Children’s Villages
Mauritius

Education

Crèche Coeur Immaculée
de Marie

Exclusion

Centre d’Accueil de Terre
Rouge

Exclusion

Action for Integral Human
Development (Les amis de
Zippy)

Education

Mauritian Wildlife
Foundation

Sustainable development

Set Up a Research and M&E
Unit at Fondation Joseph
Lagesse

Socio-economic
development

Mission Verte

Sustainable development

Le Pont du Tamarinier

Education

Action for Environment
Protection

Sustainable development

Enn Rev Enn Sourir

Coup de coeur

Youth S.C.E.A.L

Socio-economic
development

SAFIRE – Service
d’Accompagnement de
Formation, d’Integration
et de la Rehabilitation de
l’Enfant

Exclusion
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Total amount spent: Rs 1.6 million
Sport has been a fundamental component of our sponsorship efforts and budget for many years. We diligently
participate in major national sporting events, including the UBP National Tennis Championships, as we believe
that sports is a school of life with the transformative power to drive positive change. It contributes to the holistic
development of the youth by instilling values like hard work, team spirit, discipline, fair play and respect, while
building capacities like leadership and communication skills.

COVID-19 FUND

UBP
UBP is offering financial support
to
the
Climate
Launchpad
Programme (CLP), led by Dynamia
Associates. CLP is an international
innovation competition against
climate change. Initiated by the
European Institute of Innovation
and Technology in collaboration
with Climate-KIC (Knowledge
and Innovation Communities),
this competition aims at helping
people or start-ups get their
green ideas (renewable energies,

sustainable solutions) off the
ground to fight climate change.
As we believe we have an
important role to play in the fight
against climate change, being the
partner of this competition is in line
with the Group’s philosophy. CLP
also creates the opportunity for
Mauritians to express their creative
genius and entrepreneurship spirit.

The Group’s contribution to the national
COVID-19 Solidarity Fund amounted to
Rs 3.0 million. Our participation in the national
effort aimed at offering financial support to
citizens and organisations mostly affected by
the COVID-19 crisis.

Will Fly
CAPITAL
REPORTS

A new Sponsoring Committee was set up during the year. It comprises representatives from the Communication,
Finance, Human Resources, Production, Sales and Sustainability departments. The eight members assess requests
for sponsoring falling under five predefined focus areas: Exclusion, Education, Sport, Culture, Environment, and
Socio-Economic Development. Sponsoring requests are submitted to the Committee, which analyses them based
on set criteria before approval. Every fiscal year, the composition of the committee changes to give other employees
the opportunity to get involved in sponsored projects.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

OUR SPONSORING FOCUS AREAS FOR FY2020

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

EXAMPLES OF PROJECTS BEING SPONSORED

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

In these troubled times, the committee has chosen to focus on projects aimed at limiting exclusion. We have
responded favourably to the call of several associations for improved living conditions of vulnerable groups.

Scan to view the Climate
Launchpad content

10.5 %

49%

13%

4.5%

23%

Culture
We strongly believe
that our local culture
and talent have a
positive impact on
society.

Sport
Mutual support,
humility and
determination are 3
great sporting values
we believe in. We
also try to encourage
and motivate our
athletically gifted
employees.

Education
Supporting
vulnerable children
and our youth.

Sustainable
development
Concerned about
our ecological
impact, we
contribute through
various projects and
actions supported by
our collaborators on
a daily basis.

Exclusion
Helping the
poorest and most
marginalised
Mauritian families so
they are able to grow
and aspire to better
living conditions.
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Komiko Comedy Club
We proudly sponsored ‘Heritaz’,
the last feature film of the Komiko
troupe, which tells the story of a
rich ageing planter. Some of the
Group’s employees were given
tickets for the screening of the
feature film in February 2020.

This project supports the children of Black
River, assisting them with school work and
meals. Will Fly’s mission is to instil a sense of
confidence in these children to enable them
achieve their dreams. UBP donated money
for the purchase of school equipment (bags,
uniforms, textbooks, shoes, among others)
for the start of the 2020 school year.
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•
•
•

Environmental pollution
such as wild littering
Coastal ecosystems
Climate change mitigation
and adaptation

•

Ensure that we leave a
healthy environment for
future generations, thus
contributing to their
well-being

•
•
•
•

OUR STAKEHOLDERS MAP
The professionals who use
our materials and business
partners

UNION

I NST I T U T I ONS
( U OM)

•
•
•

P RO F E S S I O N A L S

•

Internal stakeholders

•
•

CO N SU LTAT IV E

COLL ABORATIVE

•

Strategic direction
Ability to engage and
negotiate with the
government and suppliers as
a Group
Operational and financial
support

•

Continued supply of
construction materials for
the development of public
infrastructure
Abide by laws and regulations

•

Ensure the long-term
sustainability of our
business and provide
capacity building to the
professionals who become
our ambassadors

•

Ensure the continued
cohesion and support for
and between all Group
companies. We are stronger
together than alone

•
•
•

Continue to be a pillar of
the Mauritian economy
by contributing to the
economic development of
our island through ethical
business practices

•

•
•

E M P LOY E E S

I N T E RN A L

U B P COM PA NI E S

High quality products
Ease of use and accessibility
The necessary skills and
knowledge to use our
products
Innovation

•

S H A RE H O L D E R S &
INVESTORS

•
DOORSTEP
CO M M U N I T Y

E X T E RN A L

Public entities

UBP
G RO U P

•
SUPPLIERS &
S E RV I C E P ROV I D E R S

•

•
•

PA SSIONATE
DEFENDER S

G OV E RNM E NT &
RE G U L AT OR S

COMPLIANCE

Direct Stakeholders
(Employees, Board Members)

RES PO N S IV E

•

•
EV ERYDAY
CIT IZ EN S

•
•
•

It is the Group’s policy to provide its stakeholders with relevant, timely, and accurate information. We maintain open channels of
communication that foster an atmosphere of mutual trust and respect. The table below outlines our stakeholders’ expectations
and how we engage and communicate with them:

Shareholders and investors

•
•

Stakeholder
groups

Expectations and
interests
•

The everyday citizens

•
•
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Fair access to education and
employment
Affordable, healthy, and
nutritious food
Affordable housing

The importance of our
engagement
•

Contribute to the equitable
socio-economic development
of communities in line with
our raison d’être of “Building
together a better living
environment”

Our engagement and
communication
•
•
•
•
•

CSR & sponsoring
Smart agricultural practices
Fair and equitable hiring
practices
Affordable housing materials
Frequent communication

•
•

Doorstep community

•
•
•

Diversity, equity and fairness
in recruitment, remuneration, training, promotion and
management practices
Recognition and appreciation for their hard work
Strategic management to
ensure profits
Environmental stewardship
Union negotiation in good
faith

•

Ability to meet production
and financial targets
Modern operations,
technology, and digitalisation to meet targets and
reduce costs
Return on investment
Sustainable development

•

Concerns on dust and noise
pollution
Project sponsoring & CSR
Employment and procurement opportunities

•

•

Build engagement,
satisfaction and a highperformance culture to grow
and perform as a Group.
Consider our externalities
to manage our negative
environmental impacts,
while seeking opportunities
to use our business to create
positive impacts

•
•
•
•
•

Ensure efficient processes
and equipment to secure
production growth and a
healthy financial capital

•
•
•

The safety and wellbeing
of the communities we
operate in is very important
to us, both for our ability to
maintain operations and in
alignment with our raison
d’être as a Group

•
•
•
•

Compliance with industry
regulations
Development of innovative
and sustainable products
Make business decisions
that consider environmental
impacts
Communication with our
employees to build a culture
of environmental awareness
and respect
Partnerships with the
Engineering Faculty of the
University of Mauritius to
develop future skills
Quality control mechanisms
and well-trained employees
Roadshows
Continued communication
Workshops
Ongoing Univision
consultative project
Strategic meetings and
consultations
We respond to Government
tenders involving supply of
materials within our product
portfolio
We uphold all national laws
and principles of good governance
We hold regular meetings
with government officials,
followed by written correspondence
Health and wellness of our
employees
Ensure there is no discrimination in respect of employment and occupation
Implementation of negotiated wage agreements and
work conditions
Employee involvement in
community and environmental projects
Open communication
through the intranet, regular
events, results presentations,
and newsletters
Careful and planned investments in digitalization and
equipment
Maintain our leadership in
the sector
We communicate through
our website’s investors
corner, annual reports, and
financial disclosures
Dust and noise abatement
strategies
CSR & sponsoring
Fair and equitable hiring
practices
Open and transparent
communication
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CAPITAL REPORTS

We experienced a decrease in most of our outputs compared
to FY2019, except for precast slabs. The surface area of precast
slabs sold increased by 13.6%, due to the shifting of customers
from traditional in-situ concrete construction to precast
concrete slabs to catch up on delays in construction projects
caused by the lockdown. Our precast products offered a better
alternative in achieving time and quality effectiveness.

CORE BUSINESS (LOCALLY)

The impact of the lockdown on our aggregates and blocks sales
figures are illustrated in the two graphs below. As previously
mentioned, the impact on the Group was short-lived as we
were able to quickly pick up steam. .

B OUL D E R S C R USHE D

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

During the year under review, we observed a decline in most of our inputs and outputs.
We noted a slight decline as from January 2020, a hard crash in April, and an upward curve
again in May-June as we obtained our work access permits (WAPs) to resume production after
the lockdown was lifted. In the months of May to June, production and sales picked up rapidly
and were slightly above the pre COVID-19 monthly average. As a result, it seems the short and
medium term impact has not been overly severe.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

ABOUT US

Manufactured
capital
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TONNES

4 00,00 0

S AL E S TR E ND F O R AG G R EG AT E S F OR F Y 2 0 2 0 (TON N E S)
CAPITAL
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3 50,00 0
3 00,00 0
250,00 0
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JUL
19

50,00 0
0
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19
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20
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20

JUN
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S AL E S TR E ND F O R B LO C K S F OR F Y 2 0 2 0 (U N I T S)

OUT PUT S

I NPU TS

Boulders (million tonnes)

FY2019

FY2020

> 3.5

> 3.0

Cement (tonnes)

> 60,000

> 50,000

Additives (litres)

> 130,000

> 105,000

Recycled glass (tonnes)

> 225

> 145

Trend in FY2020
Aggregates

-17%

Blocks

-16%

Precast slabs

+13.6%

Beams

-13.8%

Dry mortars

JUL
19
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19

SEP
19

O CT
19

N OV
19

D EC
19

JAN
20

FEB
20

MA R
20

A PR
20

M AY
20

JUN
20

-21%

Geoffroy
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1 50,00 0
1 00,00 0

SALES TREND OVER THE PAST FIVE YEARS
The graphs below show the long-term trends in sales of aggregates and blocks. This also serves as an interesting overview of
the construction sector over the past few years. As mentioned in our 2019 Integrated Report, trends in FY2019 were extremely
conducive for us and we were well positioned to harness the opportunities brought to us by these economic macro-trends. The
impact of COVID-19 on our Group and on the construction sector seems to be a rather short-term one; however, the pandemic
is far from over and other affected sectors and the rest of the world are still reeling from the shock. Although indicators show
stability for us, we remain vigilant and are continuing to work on the improvement of our strategic and operational agility.
S A L E S TREND F O R AGGREG ATES

S ALES T REN D FOR BLOCKS

We have reduced our sugar cane plantations due to the falling sugar prices worldwide, abandoning crops with lower yields
and favouring vegetables cultivation instead. However, despite an increase in vegetables output, overall yields for our major
crops were significantly lower than expected. Bad weather conditions coupled with thefts during the lockdown exacerbated the
situation.
Revenue generated by our leisure park has seen a decline and has yet to return to pre COVID-19 levels.

FY2019

FY2020

Food crop (Ha)

80

95

Sugar cane (Ha)

136

98

6

6

Nursery (Ha)
UNITS

TONNES

RAW MATERIAL INPUT

LAND UNDER CULTIVATION

FY2019

FY2020

Fertilizers (tonnes)

219

180

Chemicals (Rs million)

12.9

8.9

Herbicides (tonnes)

4.0

2.5

Pesticides (tonnes)

3.0

2.5

INTRODUCTION

In line with our strategy to adopt smart agricultural practices, we are pleased to note a decrease in our various inputs in terms of
fertilizers, chemicals, and pesticides per hectare. This decrease is also due to formulation amendments that were made to correct
high magnesium contents in the soil. On the other hand, the lower herbicide consumption is mainly attributed to the decrease
in acreage under sugar cane.

ABOUT US

Manufactured
capital

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

GROS CAILLOUX
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CAPITAL
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FY2 0 16

F Y20 17

FY2018

FY2019

F Y 2 02 0

FY 2 016

AG G R EG AT E S

FY 2 017

FY 2 018

FY 2 019

B LOC K S

ELECTRIC
CABLE

FRESH BLOCKS

FY2020

1,177

1,300

Compost (tonnes)

20

24

Plants (units sold - 000)

455

396

Landscapes created (Rs million)

16.6

26.2

Space rental (Rs million)

8.6

6.4

Vegetables (tonnes)

The layout of our concrete blocks production:

BLOCK MACHINE

FY2019

FY 2020

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

OUTPUTS

FORKLIFT

MIXER

LABORATORY

CEMENT SILO

BLOCK STACKER
STOCK PILE
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OUR NEW PRODUCTION FACILITY
MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

A new facility is being set up at La Mecque, in the west of the island. The Building and Land Use Permit (BLUP) was issued in August
2020 and we aim at beginning operation by the end of 2020. The site will be equipped with one mobile crushing plant purchased
during FY2019 that has been so far used as a backup unit. With the help of the mobile plant, we can quickly move from site to
site, with minimal logistical hassle. We can now operate closer to the quarry site, thereby reducing transport and other recurring
costs. Commissioning and start-ups of such units also require less time.

MOBILE MIXER

CONE CRUSHER

MOBILE STONE
CRUSHER

Rs 4.4
million

Rs 6.6
million

Rs 7.5
million

Rs 4.2
million

TRUCKS

UPGRADING OF SECONDARY PLANTS AND
NEW CRUSHER

EXTENSION OF BLOCK SHED

Rs 24.4
million

Rs 14.8
million

Rs 13.5
million

GRIZZLY FEEDER
PROJECT

PPB MIXER

EXCAVATORS

FORKLIFTS

Rs 14.3
million

Rs 4.5
million

Rs 9.9
million

Rs 5.2
million

FINANCIAL
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BLOCK MAKING
MACHINE

CAPITAL
REPORTS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

UBP main CAPEX Investments for FY2020

Ste Marie
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3,000,000

FY2016

FY2017

2 ,8 79, 2 05

2 ,651 ,4 66

3,500,000

2 ,63 6,4 50

Rs ’ 000

3, 2 3 6,4 2 6

Prior to the COVID-19 outbreak, our performance for FY2020 was on track to be a record one. The construction
industry’s growth rate for calendar year 2019 was 8.5% (2018: 9.5%) while the forecasted growth rate for 2020 was
yet encouraging with several major public infrastructure and property development projects underway and in the
pipeline. Post-COVID, the latest available indicators for calendar year 2020 predicts a decline of around 20% based
on a modest private sector construction-related investment and a pick-up of public infrastructure construction
works during the second semester of 2020. This turnaround has impacted severely our performance and resulted in
a drop of our Group net profit from Rs 207.3 million in FY2019 to Rs 21.9 million for the financial year under review.

2 ,92 7,055

R E V E NUE

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

2 ,500,000

MANAGEMENT
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2 ,000,000
1 ,500,000

Hence, after four years of growth, our Group revenue for FY2020 decreased by 11% to Rs 2.9 billion from Rs 3.2 billion
in FY2019. This drop was mainly attributable to our core business activities segment and this despite an increase of
7% to 8% in our selling prices effective partly as from February 2020.

1 ,000,000
500,000
0

Agriculture

Agriculture

28%
Retail

30%
Retail

F Y2020

FY2020

F Y2019

67%

70%

Core business

Core business

Upon resuming our activities as from mid-May 2020, our core business
sales were boosted by the need for construction sites to catch up
on progress of works while the revenue from our retail activities was
positively impacted by higher spending from customers post-COVID
and by promotional sales. Despite this, our revenue for the quarter to
June 2020 dropped by 47.4% to Rs 422.5 million compared to Rs 803.7
million for the same quarter in 2019.
Consequently, our 11% Group revenue drop for the year under review
was attributable respectively to a drop of 13.6% and 3.7% in our core
business and retail segments revenues and an increase of 9.2% in our
agricultural segment revenue, attributable mainly to our landscaping
activities.

Gros Cailloux nursery
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FY2019

Between July and December 2019, our Group revenue increased by
6.1% compared to previous year, driven mainly by our core business
and retail segments. During the first quarter of 2020, our core business
revenue went down by 13.4% compared to the same period in 2019
due partly to delays encountered by ongoing major projects and to the
bad weather conditions prevailing and also to the lockdown imposed as
from March 20, 2020. Hence, our Group revenue for the nine months
period ended March 31, 2020 increased by only 1% compared to
previous year.

2%

3%

FY2018

FINANCIAL
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SEGM EN TAL R EV EN UE

CAPITAL REPORTS

ABOUT US

Financial
capital

274,085
(33,691)
18,302

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

47,703
(25,843)

258,696
(51,436)

21,860
(3,947)

207,260
(16,686)

Profit for the year
Non controlling interests
Profit for the year attributable
to equity holders of the parent

17,913
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Rs’ 000

1 00,000

50,000

- 3 3, 1 3 0

1 50,000

Total assets

5,562,864

5,102,246

Interest bearing loans and
borrowings

1,064,109

1,039,956

955,686

817,476

3,238,830

3,113,287

0
S EG M EN T
- 50,000

CO R E B US I N E SS

R E TA I L

FY2020

AG R I C ULT UR E

Borrowings excluding
bank overdrafts

0.68

FY2019

*Excluding consolidation adjustments

Our EBITDA decreased by 33% from Rs 540.0 million in FY2019
to Rs 361.7 million for the year under review while our Group
Profit for the year dropped by 89.5% from Rs 207.3 million
to Rs 21.9 million. Consequently, our Earnings Per Share
decreased from Rs 7.19 in previous year to Rs 0.68 this year.

Equity attributable to
shareholders of the parent

Rs
Net assets value per share

Rs

122.17

117.45

2020

2019

Operating margin - %

2.80

8.47

Interest cover - times

2.07

7.35

Dividend cover - times

0.36

1.89

Return on equity - %

0.55

6.12

Return on assets - %

0.32

3.74

Debt to equity - times

0.33

0.33

Rs

1.90

7.19

3.80

MANAGEMENT
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Rs’ 000
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2019

190,574

Earnings per share

Dividend per share

Our share of results from associates for the year decreased
by 57.5% compared to previous year due to the lower
performance of both our ready-mixed concrete and core
business entities resulting from the COVID-19 impact.

2020

Financial Ratios
Rs

Basic, profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent

This year again, our core business segment performance
was impacted by the negative results of our subsidiaries
operating overseas. Hence, the Board is seriously
considering to exit from Sri Lanka and is reassessing our
business potential in Madagascar.

June 30,

CAPITAL
REPORTS

80,567
(40,644)
7,780

June 30,
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Operating profit
Net finance costs
Share of results of associates

2 00,000

- 31,381

539,979
(265,894)

2 50,000

42,209

361,691
(281,124)

3,236,426

Year ended

Rs’ 000

3,0 1 8

EBITDA
Depreciation and amortisation

2,879,205

Statement of Financial Position

S EG M E NTAL O P E R ATING P R O F IT*

1 9 9,4 3 0

Year ended
June 30,
June 30,
2020
2019
Rs’ 000
Rs’ 000

Our Group operating profit decreased drastically by
70.6% from Rs 274.1 million to Rs 80.6 million due to the
downward performance of our core business and retail
segments. Besides the significant impact of the pandemic,
the profitability of our core business locally was also
affected by an increase in production costs attributable
mainly to plant repairs and maintenance. The performance
of our retail segment for the year was further impacted
by exceptional stock provisions and by the expected low
performance of our new Beau Vallon store which was still
in its launching phase since it opened in November 2019.
In terms of our agricultural segment, our operating loss for
the year was slightly lower than for FY2019. This negative
performance was attributable mainly to a drop in yields and
prices from our vegetable-growing activities added to an
adverse valuation of our consumable biological assets and
a drop in leisure revenue resulting from the lockdown.

3 5, 3 6 4

Statement of Profit or Loss

Revenue

INTRODUCTION

CAPITAL REPORTS

CAPITAL REPORTS

Asset in
progress
Total
investment in
Property,
Plant &
Equipment

55,965

50

4 0 0,0 0 0

3 5 0,0 0 0

142,913

244,428

205,044

33,386

29,082

20,693

3 0 0,0 0 0

2 8 4,0 4 0

264

3 0 8,0 8 1

3,885

2 65,0 0 3

Rs’ 0 0 0

2 5 0,0 0 0

2 0 0,0 0 0

24,733

10,543

6,186
1 0 0,0 0 0

5 0,0 0 0

335,289

287,938
0

Investment
in intangible
assets

FY2016

13,702

26,777

FY2017

FY2018

335

1,028

88

The major part of investments made in terms of our core
business segment this year related to the replacement,
upgrading and extension of our existing plants to cater for
increasing market demand, the reinforcement of our quarrying
activities and the improvement of our block delivery service. In
terms of our retail segment, the main investment made this year
related to the building amenities and the fitting out of our new
Espace Maison store in Beau Vallon whereas our agricultural
subsidiary invested mainly in new plant and machinery for its
food crop activities.
In terms of intangible assets, we pursued our digital
transformation plan which included the switching to Office
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FY2019

FY2020

EQUITY AND TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ RETURN

35,262
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Investment
properties

Cash generated from operations decreased from Rs 546.1
million to Rs 474.4 million after adjusting for a favourable
movement in working capital needs, attributable mainly to
inventories and trade receivables. Other significant cash flow
movements comprised of the purchase of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets. The payment of dividends,
which went down from Rs 100.7 million in previous year to Rs
50.4 million this year, was effected after the year end in July
2020, unlike in previous year.

As a result of the above and despite a drop in interest rates,
our finance costs increased from Rs 40.7 million in FY2019
to Rs 44.8 million this year. In addition, our total borrowings
increased by Rs 24.1 million during the year to reach Rs 1.06
billion at year end. However, given the increase in equity, our
debt to equity (gearing) ratio remained stable at 0.33 at June
30, 2020.

1 5 0,0 0 0

270,003

In October 2018, our five-year UBP Bonds worth Rs 560 million
reached maturity. A five year secured Promissory Note (PN)
programme was signed with a major bank for Rs 650 million so
as to refund the bond holders and finance part of our increased
capital expenditure needs for FY2019 while at the same time
restructuring somehow our sources of finance. This year, we
negotiated a moratorium on our finance leases and we increased
our renewable short-term banking facilities via the Money
Market Line (MML) to finance our cash flow needs resulting
from the COVID-19 impact. This year also, our Group adopted
IFRS16 – Lease Accounting which requires the recognition of
an asset and a liability on the Statement of Financial Position for
all lease agreements where our Group companies are lessees.
Consequently, our Group assets increased by Rs 111.0 million
(Right of Use Assets) whilst our Group liabilities increased by
Rs 111.1 million (Borrowings - Lease Liabilities). The impact on
the Statement of Profit or Loss for the year was Rs 27.0 million
representing the depreciation of leased assets for Rs 12.8
million, the amortisation of right of use assets for Rs 8.2 million
and an interest expense on lease liabilities for Rs 6.0 million.

DEPRECIATION

The significant investment in capital expenditure over the past
five financial years, as compared to our yearly depreciation
charge, confirms our Group’s commitment to increase its
production capacity, agility and efficiency in view of meeting
market demand, increasing our market share and improving
our profitability.
Besides the above, our Group invested Rs 19.0 million into two
new subsidiaries during the year, namely UBP Coffrages Ltée
and Drymat SAS. The first entity’s activity consists of the rental
of formworks whilst the second entity is a subsidiary of Drymix
Ltd, incorporated in Reunion Island, in view of expanding our
exports to this country. At June 30, 2020, UBP Coffrages Ltée
incurred a loss of Rs 5.0 million. The market demand for such a
service is well below our expectations. Hence, our investment
in this entity has been impaired by Rs 13.8 million.

As mentioned above, the equity attributable to shareholders
increased by 4% from Rs 3.1 billion in previous year to Rs 3.2
billion this year, despite a drop in profit for the year and the
payment of dividends. This increase was attributable to a surplus
of Rs 367.0 million, net of tax, arising from the revaluation
of land and buildings within the Group as reduced by remeasurement losses of Rs 202.0 million, net of tax, on defined
benefit plans. Dividend Per Share decreased from Rs 3.80 to
Rs 1.90, while our share price went down from Rs 131.25 at
June 30, 2019 to Rs 128.50 at June 30, 2020. Consequently,
the total shareholders’ return for the year dropped from
7.61% for FY2019 to -0.65% this year while the return on equity
went down from 6.12% to 0.55%.

FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
Our financial risks remain linked to customers’ credit facilities,
interest rates on borrowings and foreign exchange rates. In
order to mitigate credit risks, we assess the credit worthiness of
customers based on their financial statements and contracts in
hand and seek to obtain bank guarantees as much as possible.
In addition, our centralised debt recovery service monitors
the situation at Group level and ensures regular follow-ups.
Given the additional risk arising from the COVID-19 impact,
we are considering credit insurance covers. In terms of
interest rates risks, our strong asset base enables us to raise
debt at very competitive rates and from various sources and
our Group treasury is managed centrally. Given the COVID-19
outbreak, interest rates have dropped significantly. Exchange
rates fluctuations affect the conversion of our overseas entities
financial statements and more importantly our importations,
which comprise mainly of spare parts for our crushing plants
and products for our retail Espace Maison activities. To mitigate
our exposure post-COVID, we maintain part of our excess
cash in foreign currencies and deal forward in order to hedge
against the risk of adverse currency fluctuations.
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65,086

Our Group investment strategy remains focused on satisfying
market demand, expanding our range of products and services
by proposing innovative and full-fledged solutions to our
customers, increasing our market share and maintaining our
position as pioneer and leader on the market.

3 2 3, 2 8 8

Rs’ 000

2 8 1 , 1 24

Rs’ 000

FINANCE COSTS AND GEARING
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Motor
vehicles

Rs’ 000

24 8,8 7 2

Plant &
equipment

2020

2 6 4,7 2 2

Leasehold &
land
improvement

2019

24 3, 2 3 6

Freehold land
&
buildings

2018

3 6 3,0 9 4

Our Group invested Rs 323.3 million in capital expenditure for
FY2020 as detailed below:

365 and a new e-commerce platform for Espace Maison.
Besides these, we invested in a new software for our laboratory,
a Customer Relationship Management (CRM) software, a
new asset register for our core business and a new ERP for
Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée.

2 6 5, 3 8 8
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Rs’ 000

52%
Employees

13,855
1,838
67,129

Rs’ 000

(32,456)

265,388
89,836

Government
and parastatal
corporation

FY2017

FY2018

FY2019

FY2020

6,000,000

13%

5,000,000

Rs’ 000

3,500,000
3,000,000

FY2018

FY2019

FY2020

FY2017

FY2018

FY2019

2 ,500,000

4,000,000

Providers of
capital

FY2017

EQ U IT Y ATR IB U TAB L E TO T H E SH A R E H OLD E R S
O F THE PA R E N T

2 ,000,000
3,000,000
1 ,500,000

248,668

355,224

2 ,000,000

1,015,289

1,201,362

1 ,000,0000

1 ,000,000
500,000
0

0
FY2016
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0
FY2016

5,1 02 ,246

11,755
2,276
39,875

3 6 1 ,6 91

50,000

50,000

3,2 38,8 3 0

30%

21 ,8 60

1 00,000
1 00,000

0

51,436

FY2017

FY2018

FY2019

FY2020

FY2016

CAPITAL
REPORTS

FY2020

1 50,000

3,1 1 3,2 8 7

Total wealth distributed and
retained

2 00,000

4,98 7,1 2 7

Reinvested in the Group to
maintain and develop
operations
Depreciation and
amortisation
Retained profit

Rs’ 000

2 50,000

1 50,000

Reinvested

25,843

FY2019

2 00,000

14,850
156,310

FY2018

3,08 7,4 56

95,754
Government and parastatal
corporations
Income tax
(current and deferred)
Environment protection fee
Licences and permits

FY2017

NE T P R OF I T

2 50,000

100,738
40,722

FY2016

3,1 30,790

600

FY2020

E B IT

4,971 ,3 54

Dividend to non-controlling
interests

50,369
44,785

FY2019
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Providers of
capital

FY2018

2 0 7, 2 60

Employees

3 00,000

Providers of capital
Dividend
Interest paid on borrowings

FY2017

9 2 ,4 8 8

622,699

0
FY2016

62%

9%
630,992

1 00,000

0

Distributed as follows:
Employees
Salaries and other benefits

50,000

1 98,7 9 7

Government
and parastatal
corporation

2 00,000

2 9 9,4 1 8

1,201,362

3 00,000

1 00,000

2 3 5, 1 0 0

1,015,289

F Y2020

2 5 2 ,7 8

4%

2 5 0,4 3 0

1,099,305
102,057

50 0,999

4 00,000

4,3 06,48 5

Total wealth created

911,439
103,850

5 3 9,979

274,08 5

500,000

1 50,000

Value added
Other operating income

4 8 7, 3 64

2 00,000

4 6 8, 2 51

Reinvested

600,000

1 7 1 ,63 1

2 50,000

2 1 9, 2 0 0

25%

2 1 7, 1 62

3 00,000

Rs’ 000

2 ,63 1 ,48 1

(2,137,121)

Rs’ 000

E B I T DA

8 0, 5 67

(1,967,766)

3,236,426

O P E R ATING P R O F IT

5,56 2 ,8 6 4

Paid to suppliers for materials
and services

2,879,205

June 30,
2019
Rs’ 000

2 54, 3 24

June 30,
2020
Rs’ 000

14 4, 2 2 5

Value Added Statement

Sale of goods and services
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FY2020
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5. 14

120

1 1 7.4 4

9 9. 2 6

14 0

1 1 6.4 6

Rs

1 1 8.09

N E T A SSETS VALU E P ER SH ARE

5

80

4
0.68

3

40

2

20

1

0

0
FY2019

FY2020

FY2016

FY2017

FY2020

14 0
120
1 .9 0

3.00
2. 50

100

FY2019

FY2020
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1 1 5.0 0

Rs

8 3.0 0

3. 50

3. 2 5

3.0 0

4.00

3. 5 0

Rs

FY2019

SHA R E PRI CE
3.8 0

DIVIDEND P ER SH ARE

FY2018

1 2 8. 5 0

FY2018

131.25

FY2017

1 2 5. 5 0

FY2016

CAPITAL
REPORTS

60

80
2.00
60

1 . 50

40

1 .00

20

0. 50

0
FY2019

FY2020

FY2016

TOTA L S HA R EH O LDERS’ RETU RN P ER SH ARE

3, 5 0 0,0 0 0

35

3,0 0 0,0 0 0

30

2 , 5 0 0,0 0 0

20

1 , 5 0 0,0 0 0

- 0.8 5

1 .00

15

2 ,0 0 0,0 0 0
9.55

14.00

25

10
5

1 ,0 0 0,0 0 0
5 0 0,0 0 0
0

0
- 5

2 ,2 00,3 3 3

40

FY2018

MA R K ET CAPI TA LI SAT I ON

Rs’ 0 0 0

3 5.2 5

Rs

FY2017

3,40 6,5 40

FY2018

3,47 9,4 4 3

FY2017

3,3 2 7,01 0

FY2016

3,0 4 8,655

0.00

FY2016

FY2017

FY2018
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Independent
auditor’s report

Independent
auditor’s report

The Mauritius Companies Act 2001

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial
statements of The United Basalt Products Limited (the
“Company” and the “Public Interest Entity”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 158 to 238, which comprise the
consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at
June 30, 2020, and the consolidated and separate statements
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
and separate statements of changes in equity and consolidated
and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate
financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group and the Company as at June 30, 2020,
and of their consolidated and separate financial performance
and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs), and comply with the requirements of the
Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and the Financial Reporting Act
2004.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those

Key audit matter

Standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group and
the Company in accordance with the International Ethics
Standard Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other matter
The financial statements of The United Basalt Products Limited
for the year ended June 30, 2019 were audited by another
auditor, who expressed an unmodified opinion on those
statements on September 26, 2019.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key audit
matters noted below relate to the consolidated and separate
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Retirement benefit obligations
The Group and the Company operate a defined benefit plan We assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity
and have recognized retirement benefit obligations of Rs 681.1 of management’s independent actuaries and verified the
million and Rs 544.1 million respectively at June 30, 2020.
qualifications of the actuaries.
Management has applied judgement in determining the The procedures performed included the following:
retirement benefits and has involved an actuary to assist with
the IAS 19 provisions and disclosures. Retirement benefit • 
We assessed and challenged the assumptions that
obligations are considered a key audit matter due to the
management made in determining the present value of the
significance of the balance to the consolidated and separate
liabilities and fair value of plan assets;
financial statements as a whole, combined with the judgment • We compared the assumptions used such as the discount
associated with determining the amount of provision.
rate and the annual salary increment with industry and
historical data; and
The significant assumptions used in respect of the retirement • We verified the data used by the actuaries with the payroll
benefits obligations have been disclosed in note 21.
report for completeness and accuracy.

In accordance with the requirements of the Mauritius
Companies Act 2001, we report as follows:
• w
 e have no relationship with, or interest in, the Company
and its subsidiaries other than in our capacity as auditor;
• we have obtained all information and explanations that we
have required; and
• in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept
by the Company as far as appears from our examination of
those records.
Corporate Governance Report
Our responsibility under the Financial Reporting Act 2004 is
to report on the compliance with the Code of Corporate
Governance disclosed in the Annual Report and assess the
explanations given for non-compliance with any requirement
of the Code. From our assessment of the disclosures made on
corporate governance in the Annual Report, the Public Interest
Entity has, pursuant to section 75 of the Financial Reporting Act
2004, complied with the requirements of the Code.
Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the Financial Highlights, the Risk
Report, Other Statutory Disclosures, the Capital Reports, the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities and the Company
Secretary’s Certificate which we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report. It also includes other reports to be included
in the Annual Report which are expected to be made available
after that date. The other information, does not include the
consolidated and separate financial statements, the Corporate
Governance Report and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial
statements as well as the Corporate Governance Report do not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material

When we read the other reports which are expected to be
made available to us after the date of the auditor’s report, if
we conclude that there is material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with
governance.
Responsibilities of Directors for the consolidated and
separate financial statements
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, and in compliance with the requirements of the
Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and the Financial Reporting
Act 2004 and they are also responsible for such internal
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements,
the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and
the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
and separate financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and
separate financial statements.

We found the assumptions and disclosures in the consolidated
and separate financial statements to be appropriate.
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Independent
auditor’s report
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders,
as a body, in accordance with section 205 of the Mauritius
Companies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group and/or the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Deloitte 								Jacques de C. Du Mée, ACA
Chartered Accountants							Licensed by FRC
November 09, 2020
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the
Company’s internal control.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Company and the Company’s shareholders as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

FINANCIAL
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• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated and separate financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated and separate financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate
financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
(continued)
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate
financial statements of the current year and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe those matters in our auditor’s
report unless laws or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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and other comprehensive income

3,355,475
38,795
63,457
9,947
198,901
26,174
8,877

1,741,938
4,623
215,039
19,789
1,009,608
103,968
12,909
-

1,630,556
232,066
16,306
1,042,796
103,968
23,209
-

4,159,779

3,701,626

3,107,874

3,048,901

45,776
868,055
428,284
7,606
8,039
45,325

49,664
822,555
470,572
7,262
3,330
47,237

381,813
544,061
1,530

339,973
481,723
9,693

1,403,085
5,562,864

1,400,620
5,102,246

927,404
4,035,278

831,389
3,880,290

265,100
2,973,730

265,100
2,848,187

265,100
2,014,423

265,100
2,057,904

Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

3,238,830
37,641

3,113,287
36,455

2,279,523
-

2,323,004
-

Total equity

3,276,471

3,149,742

2,279,523

2,323,004

739,664
41,976
681,084

688,166
65,735
426,054

654,188
6,767
544,112

651,248
36,003
359,922

1,462,724

1,179,955

1,205,067

1,047,173

324,444
432,753
10,521
50,369
5,582

351,790
362,506
13,574
13,671
31,008

278,130
216,715
50,369
5,474

288,014
182,847
13,671
25,581

823,669
2,286,393
5,562,864

772,549
1,952,504
5,102,246

550,688
1,755,755
4,035,278

510,113
1,557,286
3,880,290

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Consumable biological assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Contract assets
Income tax receivable
Cash at bank and on hand

14
15
16
17
13(b)
18

Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Issued capital
Reserves

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Employee benefit liability

19(a)
19(b)

20
13(c)
21

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Dividend payable
Income tax payable
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

20
22
23
29
13(b)

Notes
Revenue
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Share of results of associates
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods
Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Net loss on equity instruments at FVTOCI
Re-measurement losses on defined benefit plans
Tax effect
Revaluation of land and buildings
Deferred tax on revaluation gain
Share of movement in reserves of associates
Net other comprehensive income not being reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

24
25
26
27
11
13(a)

12(b)
21
13(a)
13(a)
11

2020
Rs’000
2,879,205
80,567
4,141
(44,785)
7,780
47,703
(25,843)
21,860

2019
Rs’000
3,236,426
274,085
7,031
(40,722)
18,302
258,696
(51,436)
207,260

2020
Rs’000
1,587,240
36,241
33,925
(37,752)
32,414
(18,975)
13,439

2019
Rs’000
1,848,125
168,785
74,057
(38,726)
204,116
(36,566)
167,550

(5,535)

(8,881)

-

-

(5,535)

(8,881)

-

-

(456)
(241,127)
39,157
390,324
(23,296)
7,161

(35,275)
5,755
308

(456)
(177,872)
30,238
156,466
(14,714)
-

(32,517)
5,528
-

171,763
166,228
188,088

(29,212)
(38,093)
169,167

(6,338)
(6,338)
7,101

(26,989)
(26,989)
140,561

17,913
3,947
21,860

190,574
16,686
207,260

13,439
13,439

167,550
167,550

183,701
4,387
188,088
0.68

154,682
14,485
169,167
7.19

7,101
7,101

140,561
140,561

Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Earnings per share (Rs)

28

THE COMPANY

The notes on pages 164 to 238 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 154 to 157.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on November 09, 2020 and signed on its behalf by :

Marc Freismuth								Stéphane Ulcoq
Chairman								Group CEO
The notes on pages 164 to 238 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 154 to 157.
158 - UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020 - 159

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

3,694,515
111,039
35,369
80,296
21,937
191,389
14,088
11,146

5
6
7
8
9(a)
9(b)
10
11
12
13(c)

THE GROUP

CORPORATE
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ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right of use assets
Investment properties
Bearer biological assets
Intangible assets
Land conversion rights
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in associates
Non-current financial assets
Deferred tax assets

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

CAPITAL
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THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

Notes

ABOUT US

For the year ended June 30, 2020

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

As at June 30, 2020

INTRODUCTION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statements of
changes in equity

Statements of
changes in equity

(250) 1,213,613 3,087,456

THE COMPANY
Total
Rs’000

265,100

7,354

101,822

1,488,373

11,444

-

-

-

-

-

(11,444)

10,811

-

(27,979)

(28,612)

(426)

(29,038)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,057

5,057

72

5,129

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(4,558)

(4,558)

-

(4,558)

265,100

7,354

101,822

1,488,373

-

10,811

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

190,574

190,574

16,686

207,260

Other comprehensive
income

-

-

308

-

-

-

(8,188)

(28,012)

(35,892)

(2,201)

(38,093)

Total comprehensive
income
for the year

-

-

308

-

-

-

(8,188)

162,562

154,682

14,485

169,167

Dividends (note 29)

-

-

-

-

-

-

- (100,738)

(100,738)

(14,850)

(115,588)

At June 30, 2019

265,100

7,354

102,130

1,488,373

-

10,811

(8,438) 1,247,957

3,113,287

36,455

3,149,742

At July 01, 2019

265,100

7,354

102,130

1,488,373

-

10,811

(8,438) 1,247,957

3,113,287

36,455

3,149,742

-

-

-

-

-

-

(2,317)

-

(2,317)

(8,438) 1,245,640 3,110,970

Impact of adoption
of IFRS 16 (note 2.4)
At July 01, 2019
restated

265,100

7,354

102,130

1,488,373

-

10,811

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other comprehensive
income

-

-

7,161

360,522

-

Total comprehensive
income
for the year

-

-

7,161

360,522

Changes in
percentage holding of
subsidiaries (note 38)

-

-

-

Other movements in
non-controlling
interests

-

-

Dividends (note 29)

-

-

265,100

7,354

At June 30, 2020

(250) 1,186,133 3,059,343

37,174 3,124,630

-

(2,317)

36,820 3,096,163

36,455

3,147,425

17,913

17,913

3,947

21,860

(456)

(4,499) (196,940)

165,788

440

166,228

-

(456)

(4,499) (179,027)

183,701

4,387

188,088

-

-

-

-

(5,472)

(4,584)

(10,056)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,983

1,983

-

-

-

-

-

(50,369)

(50,369)

(600)

(50,969)

109,291

1,848,895

-

10,355

-

(5,472)

(12,937) 1,010,772 3,238,830

At July 01, 2018
Impact of adoption of IFRS 9
Tax effect on adoption of IFRS 9
At July 01, 2018 restated
Profit for the year
Transfer
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Dividends (note 29)
At June 30, 2019
At July 01, 2019
Impact of adoption of IFRS 16
(note 2.4)
At July 01, 2019 restated
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Dividends (note 29)
At June 30, 2020

Share
premium
Rs’000
7,354
7,354
-

ABOUT US

Issued
capital
Rs’000
265,100
265,100
-

Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
FVTOCI
Rs’000
10,811
10,811
-

Retained
earnings
Rs’000
1,312,895
(11,748)
1,603
1,302,750
167,550
19,670
(26,989)
160,231

Total
Rs’000
2,291,010
(9,432)
1,603
2,283,181
167,550
(26,989)
140,561

265,100

7,354

677,496

-

10,811

(100,738)
1,362,243

(100,738)
2,323,004

265,100
-

7,354
-

677,496
-

-

10,811
-

1,362,243
(213)

2,323,004
(213)

265,100
-

7,354
-

677,496
141,752
141,752

-

10,811
(456)
(456)

1,362,030
13,439
(147,634)
(134,195)

2,322,791
13,439
(6,338)
7,101

265,100

7,354

819,248

-

10,355

(50,369)
1,177,466

(50,369)
2,279,523

The notes on pages 164 to 238 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 154 to 157.

37,641 3,276,471

The notes on pages 164 to 238 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 154 to 157.
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Impact of adoption
of IFRS 9
Tax effect on
adoption of IFRS 9
Impact of adoption
of IFRS 15
At July 01, 2018
restated

Noncontrolling
Total
interests
Rs’000
Rs’000

Fair value
reserve of
availableRevaluation
for-sale
reserve investments
Rs’000
Rs’000
697,166
8,495
(8,495)
697,166
(19,670)
(19,670)
-

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

At July 01, 2018

Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Fair value
Fair value reserve
reserve of
of
available- financial
Issued
Share Associate Revaluation
for-sale assets at Translation Retained
capital premium companies
reserve investments FVTOCI
reserve earnings
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000 Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000

CAPITAL
REPORTS

THE GROUP

For the year ended June 30, 2020

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended June 30, 2020

INTRODUCTION
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statements of
cash flows

Statements of
cash flows

Profit before tax
Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of right of use assets
Depreciation of investment properties
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of investment in/receivable from subsidiaries
Fair value loss of financial assets at FVTPL
Impairment of land conversion rights
Write-off of intangible assets
Write-off and impairment of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of bearer biological assets
Impairment of bearer biological assets
Movement in retirement benefit obligations
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Profit on disposal of investment
Share of results of associates
Finance costs
Finance income

258,696

32,414

204,116

251,138
8,239
3,514
18,233
267
6,851
170
196
13,903
(6,323)
(3,730)
(7,780)
44,785
(4,141)

252,586
3,599
9,203
26,970
10,148
54
506
3,035
11,222
(3,626)
(18,302)
40,722
(7,031)

163,792
504
18,912
7,527
81,895
235
6,318
(5,401)
(3,730)
37,752
(33,925)

174,111
18,428
2,274
74,600
23,024
6,555
(2,518)
38,726
(74,057)

Movement in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in consumable biological assets
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables
Increase in contract assets
Increase in trade and other payables
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities

3,888
7,608
42,288
(344)
50,984
(3,053)

(15,038)
(81,343)
(23,681)
(7,262)
72,123
13,574

13,158
(62,338)
25,173
-

(31,208)
(45,405)
25,092
-

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Interest income
Income tax paid
Infrastructure costs
Net cash flows from operating activities

474,396
(43,976)
3,052
(65,040)
(18,841)
349,591

546,155
(35,834)
5,412
(52,361)
(1,471)
461,901

282,286
(30,271)
8,983
(52,793)
208,205

413,738
(33,497)
11,762
(37,059)
354,944

6,379
15,093
(274,036)
(88)
(35,262)
(10,056)
22,453
1,089
(274,428)

6,428
13,795
(317,129)
(1,028)
(33,036)
15,525
1,619
(313,826)

5,406
13,339
(174,783)
(48,707)
(1,302)
(11,593)
22,453
2,489
(192,698)

4,463
13,795
(252,443)
(24,514)
(4,617)
(5,942)
15,525
46,770
(206,963)

5
6
7
9
25
12
9(b)
9(a)
5
8
8
21
25
11
27
26
14

18
23

13(b)
9(b)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of term loans
Repayment of lease liabilities
Repayment of debentures
Dividend paid - The Company
Dividend paid - Minority shareholders
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents

20(f)
20(f)
20(f)
20(f)
20(f)
20(f)

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

330,900
(260,040)
(19,485)
(13,384)
(600)
37,391
112,554

650,000
(111,166)
(12,168)
(560,000)
(87,354)
(17,260)
(137,948)
10,127

341,336
(254,666)
(836)
(13,384)
72,450
87,957

1,026,215
(521,759)
(371)
(560,000)
(87,354)
(143,269)
4,712

(175,243)
(408)
112,554
(63,097)

(184,230)
(1,140)
10,127
(175,243)

(169,471)
87,957
(81,514)

(174,183)
4,712
(169,471)

MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
At July 01,
Exchange difference
Movement
At June 30,

18

The notes on pages 164 to 238 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 154 to 157.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investment - other financial asset
Proceeds from other current financial assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of investment in subsidiaries
Purchase of investment properties
Purchase of intangible assets
Consideration paid to acquire additional shares in subsidiary
Dividend received from associates
Dividend received from other equity investments
Net cash flows used in investing activities

12
18
10
7
9(a)
38
11
26

The notes on pages 164 to 238 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 154 to 157.
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Notes to the
financial statements

Notes to the
financial statements

The main activities of the Company and its subsidiaries, together referred to as the ‘Group’, are the manufacturers and
sellers of building materials, provision of workshop services and sellers of agricultural products.
The consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020 were authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on November 09, 2020 and the statements of financial position were signed on the Board’s behalf by
Messrs Marc Freismuth and Stéphane Ulcoq. The consolidated and separate financial statements will be submitted to the
shareholders for approval at the annual meeting.
2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the
Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

The consolidated and separate financial statements of the Group and the Company have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)
and complied with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and Financial Reporting Act 2004.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for freehold land
and buildings classified under property, plant and equipment, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and consumable biological assets that have been measured at
their fair value as disclosed in the accounting policies hereafter.
The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Mauritian Rupees and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (Rs’000) except where otherwise indicated.

2.2

Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest
Derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity
Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
Recognises any surplus or deficit in statement of profit or loss
Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to statement of
profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

The consolidated and separate financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous year.

2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(a)

Business combinations and goodwill

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of The United Basalt Products Limited and its
subsidiaries as at June 30, 2020.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee
if and only if the Group has:
•
•
•

Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
•
•
•

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

164 - UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date at fair value and the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interest
in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition related
costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition date
fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. It
is then considered in the determination of goodwill.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the
Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews
the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in
an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised
in profit or loss.
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The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of financial position and statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

The United Basalt Products Limited is a public Company incorporated and domiciled in Mauritius and listed on the official
market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd. Its registered office is situated at Trianon, Quatre-Bornes.
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(a)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Financial assets that are unquoted are fair valued by management at least annually at the reporting date. The use of external
valuers is decided by the management when the situation dictates it, taking into consideration the relevant factors.
Involvement of external valuers for the valuation of its properties is decided upon by management after discussion with
and approval of the audit committee, usually every three years. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. Management decides, after discussions with the Group’s
external valuers, which valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case. Management assesses the changes in the
inputs, as well as those in the environment, from both internal and external sources, that affect the fair value of the property
since the last valuation, and thereafter decides on the involvement of external valuers.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cashgenerating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
acquiree are assigned to those units.
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
(b)

At each reporting date, management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be
re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, management verifies the major inputs
applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to relevant documents.

Fair value measurement

Management, in conjunction with the Group’s external valuers, also compares the changes in the fair value of each asset
and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
•
•

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole:
•
•
•

The fair values of the Group’s consumable biological assets are determined by management at least annually at the reporting
date through the income approach. Inputs and assumptions used in the determination of the fair value are verified and
validated to their respective sources and documents.

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly
or indirectly observable
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
(c)

Property, plant and equipment
Except for freehold land and buildings, leasehold land and land improvements, plant and equipment and motor vehicles are
stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of
replacing part of the property, plant and equipment. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the
plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Freehold land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment losses
recognised at the date of the revaluation. Valuations are performed with sufficient frequency (3 to 5 years) to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount.
A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the asset revaluation reserve in equity,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which
case, the increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that
it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognised in the asset revaluation reserve.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
The Group’s management determines the policies and procedures for fair value measurement, such as unquoted financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and unquoted financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Bearer biological assets

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the carrying amount of that asset is adjusted to the revalued
amount. At the date of the revaluation, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of
the asset.

Bearer biological assets comprising of sugar cane ratoons and plantation costs are capitalised and amortised over the
period during which the Group expects to benefit from the asset, usually nine years. The Group account for bearer plants
in the same way as property, plant and equipment.

Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.

Consumable biological assets

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Consumable biological assets represent standing cane, vegetables and plants and are stated at fair value less costs to sell.
The fair value is measured as the expected net cash flows from the sale of the cane and plants discounted at the relevant
market determined pre-tax rate. The changes in fair value less cost to sell of the consumable biological assets is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.

(e)

%
2 to 5

Leasehold improvements
Land improvements

Over lease period
2

Plant and equipment

2 to 33

Motor vehicles

20

(f)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in
a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible
assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the related expenditure is reflected in profit or loss
in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

Land and assets in progress are not depreciated.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered
to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The
amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent
with the function of the intangible asset.

The useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year end and
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
(d)

Investment properties

Intangible assets such as goodwill with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually,
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on
a prospective basis.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs and subsequently at cost net of accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
The cost includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the
recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of derecognition.
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment
property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the cost less depreciation at the
date of transfer. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in
accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include computer software, which is amortised using the straight line method over 6 years.
(g)

Land conversion rights
The Land Conversion Rights (“LCRs”) granted under the Sugar Industry Efficiency Act 2001 are capitalised up to the Group’s
entitlement of exemption from the land conversion tax. The LCRs are tested for impairment using the discounted cash flow
method (the “DCF”). Changes in the carrying amount of the LCRs is charged to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method at the rate of 2% to 5% per annum.
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(h)

Investment in subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the company is exposed to, or has
right to, variable returns from its investment with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity.
Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements of the Company are carried at cost, net of any impairment.
Where the carrying amount of an investment is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount and the difference is recognised in profit or loss. Upon disposal of the investment, the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

(i)

Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control over those policies.
The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those necessary to determine control over
subsidiaries.
The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the
investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition
date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor
individually tested for impairment.
The profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. Any change in other comprehensive
income of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s in other comprehensive income. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent
of the interest in the associate.
The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax.
The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary,
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on
its investment in its associates. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the
investment in the associates is impaired.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of
the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in associates is stated at cost. The carrying amount is reduced
to recognise any impairment in the value of the investment.
(j)

Foreign currency translation
The financial statements of the Group and the Company are presented in Mauritian rupees, which is also the parent
company’s functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot
rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate of
exchange ruling at the reporting date.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are
recognised in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed, at which time, the cumulative amount is
reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation
of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.
Group companies
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Mauritian rupees at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their profit or loss is translated at exchange rates prevailing at the date of
the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and its carrying value, then recognises the loss as ‘Share of profit of an associate’ in profit or loss.
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(k)

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15. Refer to the accounting
policies “Revenue from contracts with customers”.
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This
assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset.
Subsequent measurement

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables and cash and cash equivalent.
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)
Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated
at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are
not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognized as finance income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Company benefits from
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity
instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment.
The Group elected to classify part of its equity investments under this category. Refer to note 12.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair
value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in
the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding
the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss.
This category includes both listed and unlisted equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Refer to note 12.

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
•
•
•
•

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition
(equity instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:
•
•

 he financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
T
contractual cash flows; and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

Dividends on these equity investments are also recognized as Finance income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established.
Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s statement of financial position) when:
•
•

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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Write-off policy

(k)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s recovery procedures. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition (continued)

Contract assets

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognizes an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before payment is
due, a contract asset is recognized for the earned consideration that is conditional.

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
For trade and some other receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
Some other receivables are of the same nature as trade receivables but given that these are not the activities of the Group,
these are not classified as trade receivables. As those other receivables have a maturity of 1 year or less, the Group has
applied the practical expedient of IFRS 9. Where the balance due is repayable on demand and the borrower has enough
liquid assets to settle the balance due on demand, the probability of default is minimal. Where the Borrower does not have
enough liquid assets to settle the balance on demand but own other assets that can be sold to settle the balance due, the
loss given default is nil as the net realisable value of the assets cover the outstanding balance. In that case, the ECL is limited
to the effect of discounting the amount due of the loan over the period until the cash is realised and since those companies
can realise cash within a short period of time, the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instrument
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the asset of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings and trade and payables.
All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts.
Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:
Loans and borrowings and Trade and other payables.
This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 120 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

Financial instruments (continued)

Defined benefit plan

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

The Group operates a final salary defined benefit plan, the assets of which are held independently and administered by
Swan Life Ltd. These benefits are funded. The cost of providing pensions under the plan is determined using the projected
unit credit valuation method.

(m)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding net interest and the
return on plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with a
corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through the other comprehensive income in the period in which they
occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings including bank overdraft and trade and other
payables.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:
•
•

Contract liabilities
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers
goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

•
•

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

For employees that are not covered under any pension plan, the net present value of severance allowances payable
under the Workers’ Rights Act (WRA), formerly under the Employee Rights Act 2008 is calculated independently by a
qualified actuary, AON Hewitt Ltd and Swan Life Ltd. The expected cost of these benefits is accrued over the service lives
of employees on a similar basis to that for the defined benefit plan. The present value of severance allowances has been
disclosed as unfunded obligations under employee benefit liability.

Offsetting financial instruments
(n)

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and conditions are accounted for as follows:
•
•

Raw Materials: Purchase costs on an average cost method
Finished Goods: Costs of direct materials and direct expenses based on normal operating capacity

Work-in-progress consists of cost incurred on works performed but not yet completed and invoiced at the reporting date.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand in the statement of financial position are measured at amortised cost.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank and on
hand, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Inventories
Inventory items are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 ervice costs comprising current service costs, past service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine
S
settlements.
Net interest expense or income

Severance allowance on retirement

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the
statement of profit or loss.

(l)

The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and
The date that the Group recognises restructuring related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognise the
following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under administrative expenses in profit or loss:

Derecognition

Financial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of ﬁnancial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Retirement benefit obligations

(o)

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating units (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and
its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Net realisable value (NRV) is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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(o)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased assets are consumed.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair
value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share
prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately
for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally
cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash
flows after the fifth year.

•
•

Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment on inventories, are recognised in statement of profit
or loss in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for a property previously revalued
with the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other
comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group
estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its
recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
The following criteria are also applied in assessing impairment of specific assets:

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

•
•
•

The lease liability is presented within “Borrowings” line in the statement of financial position.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:
•

•

Goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually at the reporting date, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit is less than their carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be
reversed in future periods.
(p)

Leases
The Group and the Company has applied IFRS 16 using the cumulative catch-up approach and therefore comparative
information has not been restated and is presented under IAS 17. The details of accounting policies under both IAS 17 and
IFRS 16 are presented separately below.
Policies applicable from July 01, 2019
The Group and the Company as lessee

Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement
date;
The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the
lease.

•

 he lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
T
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate.
The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an
unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case
a revised discount rate is used).
A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at
or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is
recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in
the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

The Group and the Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets
(such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones).
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(p)

Leases (Continued)

(q)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Policies applicable from July 01, 2019 (continued)
The Group and the Company as lessee (continued)

ABOUT US

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise
a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation
starts at the commencement date of the lease.

Revenue
The Group is involved in the construction industry and produces aggregates and blocs and other construction materials
for resale, the Group is also involved in the sale of decorative items and agricultural products. Revenue from contracts
with customers is to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. The Group has
generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

Sale of goods

The Group applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss as described in the ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at a point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer
generally on delivery of the goods. The normal credit term is 30 days.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers those payments occurs.

Rendering of services
Services provided by the Group include workshop, leisure and landscaping. Revenue from rendering of services is recognised
at a point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for any lease
and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has applied this practical expedient.

Project revenue

Policies applicable prior to July 01, 2019
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group recognises revenue from its projects of supply and fixing over time, using an input method to measure progress
towards completion of the asset promised, because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the beneﬁts
provided by the Company.

The Group and the Company as lessee

Input methods recognise revenue on the basis of the entity’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation.

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligations within the “Borrowings” line.

The Group believes that the input method faithfully depicts the Company’s performance towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit or
loss. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease terms, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
The Group and the Company as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the leased term.

(s)

Taxes
Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.
Current tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in profit or loss. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.
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Value Added Tax

(s)

Taxes (Continued)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax except:

Deferred tax (Continued)

•

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•

•

 here the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction
w
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and
in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will be reversed in the foreseeable future.

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables
or payables in the statement of financial position.
Corporate Social Responsibility
In line with the definition within the Income Tax Act 1995, Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is regarded as a tax and is
therefore subsumed with the income tax shown on the statement of comprehensive income and the income tax liability
on the statement of financial position.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:
•

•

 here the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an
w
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in
joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The CSR charge for the current period is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the Mauritian tax authorities. The
CSR rate and laws used to compute the amount are those charged or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
(t)

An operating segment is a component of an entity:
(a)	that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and
expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity),
(b)	whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and
(c) for which discrete financial information is available.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside of profit or loss. Deferred tax items are
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date,
are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment is either treated
as a reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or
recognised in statement of profit or loss.

182 - UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

Segmental reporting

The Group’s business segments consist of core business activities, retail and agriculture. Most of its activity is performed
in Mauritius.
(u)

Other income:
Interest income
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR).
EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. Interest
income is included in finance income in profit or loss.
Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when the
Board of Directors of the investee declare the dividend.
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(v)

Distribution to equity holders
The Group and the Company recognise a liability to make distributions to equity holders of the parent when the distribution
is authorised and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. A distribution is authorised when it is
approved by the Board of Directors. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity.

(w)

Spare parts
Spare parts held by a Group which will be used to replace broken parts on its production machineries have been classified
as inventory and are expensed to profit or loss when these are replaced on the production machineries.
Spare parts which can be used on a specific production machinery and which extend the life of the production machineries
and economic benefit derived from its use are capitalised as part of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation on such
spare parts is charged to profit or loss.

(x)

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group and the Company will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received. Government Wage Assistance Scheme (GWAS)
was introduced in March 2020 and was given during the months of lockdown. GWAS meets the definition of government
grants under IAS 20. GWAS is recognised as an expense over the periods for which the Group and the Company incur the
related costs for which the grants are intended and are deducted in reporting the related expenses.

(y)

Covid-19 levy
The Government introduced the Covid-19 levy after the GWAS. The Covid-19 levy is an obligating event arising upon the
making of the taxable profit. If the Group and the Company is profitable in the next year of assessment, the GWAS will be
considered as a refund to the Mauritius Revenue Authority. The Covid-19 levy is recognised as an expense over the periods
for which the Group and the Company have recognised the GWAS together with the corresponding liabilities.

2.4

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs)
In the current year, the Group and the Company have applied all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (“IFRIC”) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for accounting periods beginning
on July 01, 2019.
New and revised standards that are effective for the current year
The following relevant revised Standards have been applied in these financial statements. Except for IFRS 16, their application
has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior periods but may affect the accounting
treatment for future transactions or arrangements.
IAS 12	Income Taxes - Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle (income tax consequences
of dividends)
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IAS 19
Employee Benefits - Amendments regarding plan amendments, curtailments or settlements
IFRS 9	
Financial Instruments - Amendments regarding prepayment features with negative compensation and
modification of financial liabilities
IFRS 16
Leases - Original issue
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments issued
New and revised Standards in issue but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following relevant Standards were in issue but effective on
annual periods beginning on or after the respective dates as indicated:
IAS 1	Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments regarding the definition of material (effective January 01,
2020)
IAS 1	Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments regarding the classification of liabilities (effective January 01,
2023)
IAS 8	Accounting Policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors – Amendments regarding the definition of
material (effective January 01, 2020)
IAS 16	Property, Plant and Equipment – Amendments prohibiting a company from deducting from the cost of property,
plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produces while the company is preparing the asset
for its intended uses (effective January 01, 2022)
IAS 37	Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets – Amendments regarding the costs to include when
assessing whether a contract is onerous (effective January 01, 2022)
IAS 39	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Amendments regarding pre-replacement issues in the
context of the IBOR reform (effective January 01, 2020)
IAS 39	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Amendments regarding replacement issues in the
context of the IBOR reform (effective January 01, 2021)
IAS 41	Agriculture: Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 (taxation in fair
value measurements (effective January 01, 2020)
IFRS 7	Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Amendments regarding pre-replacement issues in the context of the IBOR
reform (effective January 01, 2020)
IFRS 7	Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of the IBOR
reform (effective January 01, 2021)
IFRS 9	Financial Instruments – Amendments regarding pre-replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform
(effective January 01, 2020)
IFRS 9	Financial Instruments – Amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform (effective
January 01, 2021)
IFRS 9 	Financial Instruments – Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (fees
in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities) (effective January 01, 2022)
IFRS 16	Leases – Amendment to provide lessees with an exemption from assessing whether a COVID-19-related
concession is a lease modification (effective June 01, 2020 Conceptual Framework - Amendments to IFRS 2,
IFRS 3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14, IAS 1, IAS 8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 12, IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22, and SIC-32 to
update those pronouncements with regards to references to and quotes from the framework or to indicate
where they refer to a different version of the Conceptual Framework (effective January 01, 2020)
IFRS 16	Leases – Amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform (effective January 01,
2021)
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs) (CONTINUED)
Impact of application of IFRS 16 – Leases
In the current year, the Group and the Company have applied IFRS 16 Leases (as issued by the IASB in January 2016) that is
effective for an annual period that begins on or after January 01, 2019.
IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant changes to the
lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance lease requiring the recognition of a right-ofuse asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.
In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged. Details of these
new requirements are described in note 2.3. The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements are as follows:
The date of initial application of IFRS 16 for the Group and the Company is July 01, 2019.
The Group and the Company have applied IFRS 16 using the cumulative catch-up approach which:
•
•

r equires the Group and the Company to recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings at the date of initial application.
does not permit the restatement of comparatives, which continue to be presented under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

Impact of the new definition of a lease
The Group and the Company has made use of the practical expedient available on transition to IFRS 16 not to reassess
whether a contract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 will
continue to be applied to those leases entered or modified before July 01, 2019.
The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. IFRS 16 determines whether a contract contains
a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. This is in contrast to the focus on ‘risks and rewards’ in IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.
The Group and the Company applied the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in IFRS 16 to all lease contracts
entered into or modified on or after July 01, 2019 (whether it a lessor or a lessee in the lease contract). The new definition
in IFRS 16 has not significantly changed the scope of contracts that meet the definition of a lease for the Group and the
Company.
Impact on Lessee Accounting
i) Former operating leases
IFRS 16 changes how the Group and the Company account for lease previously classified as operating leases under IAS
17, which were off balance-sheet. Applying IFRS 16, for all leases (except as noted below), the Group and the Company:

Lease incentives (e.g. rent free period) are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities whereas under IAS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive, amortised as a reduction of rental
expenses on a straight line basis.
Under IFRS 16, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
For short term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets, the Group and the Company can opt
to recognise a lease expense on a straight-line basis in profit or loss as permitted by IFRS 16. The Group and the Company
did not have any short term leases or low value assets leases.
The Group and Company have used the following practical expedients when applying the cumulative catch-up approach
to leases previously classified as operating leases applying IAS 17.
•
•
•
•

 he Group and the Company have applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
T
characteristics.
The Group and the Company have elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to leases for which
the lease terminates within 12 months of the date of initial application.
The Group and the Company has excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the
date of initial application.
The Group and the Company has used hindsight when determining the lease term when the contract contains options
to extend or terminate the lease.

ii) Former finance leases
For leases that were classified as finance leases applying IAS 17, the carrying amount of the leased assets and obligations
under finance leases measured applying IAS 17 immediately before the date of initial application is reclassified to right-ofuse assets and lease liabilities respectively without any adjustments, except in cases where the Group and the Company
have elected to apply the low-value lease recognition exemption.
The right-of-use asset and the lease liability are accounted for applying IFRS 16 as from July 01, 2019.
Impact on Lessor Accounting
IFRS 16 does not change substantially how a lessor accounts for leases. Under IFRS 16, a lessor continues to classify leases
as either finance leases or operating leases and account for those two types of leases differently.
However, IFRS 16 has changed and expanded the disclosures required, in particular regarding how a lessor manages the
risks arising from its residual interest in leased assets.
Under IFRS 16, an intermediate lessor accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
intermediate lessor is required to classify the sublease as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease (and not by reference to the underlying asset as was the case under IAS 17).
No adjustment was required in respect of lessor accounting following the initial application of IFRS 16.

a)	Recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the Group and the Company statement of financial position, initially
measured at the present value of future lease payments;
b)	Recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income; and
c)	Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and interest
(presented within operating activities) in the statement of cash flows.
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Identifying performance obligations in supply and fixing projects

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs) (CONTINUED)
Impact of application of IFRS 16 – Leases (continued)

The weighted average lessees incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial
position on July 01, 2019 is 5.75% - 6.35%.
The following table shows the operating lease commitments disclosed applying IAS 17 at June 30, 2019, discounted using
the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application and the lease liabilities recognised in the statement of
financial position at the date of initial application.
Group

Company

Rs‘000

Rs‘000

Operating lease commitments at July 01, 2019

16,520

511

Effect of discounting the above amounts

(5,275)

(172)

Finance lease liabilities recognised under IAS 17 at July 01, 2019
Present value of the lease payments due in periods covered by extension options that are
included in the lease term and not previously included in operating lease commitments

42,485

1,644

20,380

3,931

74,110

5,914

Right-of-use assets of carrying value of Rs 111.0m for the Group and Rs 4.6m for the Company were recognised and
presented separately in the statement of financial position. This includes the lease assets carrying value recognised
previously under finance leases of Rs 47.4m for the Group and Rs 1.0m for the Company that were reclassified from
property, plant and equipment.
Additional lease liabilities of Rs 82.3m for the Group and Rs 4.3m for the Company (included in borrowings) were recognised.
The impact in opening retained earnings with the adoption of IFRS 16 was Rs 2.3m for the Group and Rs 0.2m on the
Company.
3.

The Group provides supply and fixing services for building finishes that are either sold separately or bundled together with
the sale of goods to a customer. The fixing services are a promise to transfer services in the future and are part of the
negotiated exchange between the Group and the customer.
The Group determined that both the goods and fixing services thereof are not capable of being distinct. The fact that the
Group sells both equipments and fixing on a combined basis indicates that the customer can benefit from an integrated
service.

Financial impact on initial application of IFRS 16

Lease liabilities recognised at July 01, 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the consolidated and separate financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
Judgements

Determining the timing of satisfaction of supply and fixing projects
The Group concluded that revenue for supply and fixing services is to be recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The fact that another entity would not need
to re-perform the fixing that the Group has provided to date demonstrates that the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits of the Group’s performance as it performs.
Input method
The Group determined that the input method is the best method in measuring progress of the installation services because
there is a direct relationship between the Group’s effort and the transfer of service to the customer. The Group recognises
revenue on the basis of costs incurred relative to the total expected costs of the service.
•

Determining the timing of satisfaction of supply and fix services

The Group concluded that revenue for installation services is to be recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The fact that another entity would not need
to re-perform the fixing that the Group has provided to date demonstrates that the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits of the Group’s performance as it performs.
•

Principal versus agent considerations

The Group enters into contracts with its customers and provides supply and fixing services. The Group determined that it
controls the goods before they are transferred to Customers. Therefore, the Group determined that it is a principal in these
contracts:
•
•
•

The Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the services and goods.
The Group has inventory risk before the specified equipment has been transferred to the customer.
The Group has discretion in establishing the price for the goods and services.

Capitalisation of spare parts
Spare parts and servicing equipment which have an expected life of more than one year, usually in connection to the life of
specific item of property, plant and equipment are classified as property, plant and equipment. They are depreciated over
the shorter of the life of the spare or the item of property, plant and equipment they are attached to. All other spares are
recognised as inventories and expensed in profit of loss upon consumption.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, which have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
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Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash generating units and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. Refer to note 8 for key
assumptions used.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated
financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments however, may
change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in
the assumptions when they occur.

Pension benefits
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and the present value of pension obligation are determined using actuarial
valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets,
future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying
assumptions and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All
assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. Refer to note 21.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment
Determining the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment requires the estimation of the useful lives and residual
values of these assets which carry a degree of uncertainty. The directors have used historical information relating to the
Group and the relevant industries in which the Group’s entities operate in order to best determine the useful lives and
residual values of property, plant and equipment. There has been no impact on the re-assessment made by management.

Fair value of financial instruments
Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be
derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow
model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a
degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity
risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial
instruments. Refer to note 12.

The Group measures land and buildings at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognised in other
comprehensive income. The fair values are determined by independent professional valuers by reference to market-based
evidence, using comparable prices adjusted for specific market factors such as nature, location and condition of the
properties. Refer to note 5.
Valuation of standing cane

Impairment of non-financial assets

The fair value of biological assets is based on the estimated net present value of future cash flows for the coming crop. The
standing cane valuation has been arrived at based on an estimate of the future cash flows arising on a normal crop with
sugar proceeds being adjusted for the drop in sugar price as well as estimated foreign currency movements and budgeted
costs and applying a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the net present value. Refer to note 14 for key assumptions
used to determine valuation of standing cane.

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. The recoverable amount of the investments in foreign
subsidiaries has been determined using the fair value less cost to sell model. Main assumptions to the valuation model
included the fair value of property, plant and equipment and discount for liquidity (refer to note 10).

Valuation of plants

Land conversion rights

The fair value of plants is based on the estimated net present value of future cash flows for the coming crops. The valuation
of plants has been arrived at based on an estimate of the future cash flows arising on a normal crop less budgeted costs
discounted at a suitable rate in order to calculate the net present value. Refer to note 14 for key assumptions used to
determine valuation of plants.

The Land Conversion Rights (“LCRs”) granted under the Sugar Industry Efficiency Act 2001 have been tested for impairment
using the discounted cash flow method (the “DCF”). The assumptions used in the DCF include the average conversion rates
of agricultural land to residential land, infrastructure cost and selling costs among others.

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets- Under IFRS 9
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns .(i.e., by customer type and
rating).
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions
(i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical default rates are updated and
changes in the forward looking estimates are analysed.

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s and the Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise bank loans and overdrafts, finance leases, loan
from shareholders and trade and payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s and
the Company’s operations. The Group’s and the Company’s principal financial assets included other current financial
asset, trade and other receivables, and cash at bank and on hand that arise directly from its operations. The Group and
the Company also holds equity investments classified at Fair value through profit or loss and Fair value through other
comprehensive income.
The Group and the Company are exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s and the Company’s senior
management oversees the management of these risks. Senior management ensures that the Group’s and the Company’s
financial risk-taking activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified,
measured and managed in accordance with group policies and group risk objectives.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
signiﬁcant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The
Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s
actual default in the future. Refer to notes 16 and 17.
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(a)

Market risk

Euro
United States Dollars
Pound Sterling
Mauritian Rupees
South African Rand
Malagasy Ariary
Sri Lanka Rupees

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. Market risk to which the Group and the Company are exposed comprise three types of risk: interest rate
risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings,
non-current financial assets, and trade and other payables.
The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position as at June 30, 2020 and 2019.
(i)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group’s and the Company’s debt obligations with floating interest rates.
The Group’s and the Company’s income and operating cash flows are subject to the risks of changes in market interest
rates.

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
4,371
13,825
92
174
5
1,193,093
1,121,564
1,840
217
1,199,401
1,135,780

Foreign currency sensitivity
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.

Interest rate sensitivity

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure arises from sales or purchases by an operating unit in
currencies other than the unit of the functional currency. While revenue is generated principally in the functional currency,
significant expenditures are incurred in Euro and US Dollars. The Group does not have a policy to hedge against foreign
currency risk.

The following table demonstrates through the impact on floating rate borrowings the sensitivity of the Group’s and the
Company’s profit before tax and equity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates with all other variables held
constant.

The following table demonstrates due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities the sensitivity of the
Group’s profit after tax and equity to a reasonably possible change in Euro, US Dollars and South African Rand exchange
rates, with all other variables held constant.

The Group’s and the Company’s policy is to manage its interest risk using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts.

THE GROUP

Increase/(decrease) in basis point
+ 50
- 25
(ii)

(iii)

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
22,835
15,498
2,544
2,018
5
1,438,720
1,365,249
1,840
218
86,634
40,482
5,173
6,242
1,557,751
1,429,707

2020
Rs’000
4,750
(2,375)

THE COMPANY

2019
Rs’000
5,062
(2,531)

2020
Rs’000
4,621
(2,310)

2019
Rs’000
4,664
(2,332)

Currency profile
THE GROUP

Financial assets
Euro
United States Dollars
Mauritian Rupees
Malagasy Ariary
Sri Lanka Rupees
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THE COMPANY

2020
Rs’000

2019
Rs’000

2020
Rs’000

2019
Rs’000

7,676
4,789
387,051
45,849

663
9,612
474,734
23,213

11
17
530,736
-

135
9,606
493,965
-

6,191
451,556

10,254
518,476

530,764

503,706

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

A description of the various risks to which the Group and the Company are exposed are shown below as well as the
approach taken by management to control and mitigate those risks.
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Financial liabilities

Increase/(decrease) in exchange rate

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

Euro +5%
Euro -10%

(758)
(1,516)

(742)
1,484

(218)
436

(685)
1,369

112
224

380
(759)

(4)
8

471
(942)

US Dollar +5%
US Dollar -10%

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
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4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Market risk (Continued)

(iv)

Equity price risk

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables using
a provision matrix:

2019
Rs’000

2020
Rs’000

2019
Rs’000

+ 5%
- 10%

704
(1,409)

1,309
(2,618)

645
(1,291)

1,160
(2,320)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities and from its financing activities,
including trade and other receivables and cash at bank.
Trade receivables
Customer credit risk is managed to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating to customer credit risk
management. The Group has established internal policies to determine the credit worthiness and reliability of potential
customers.
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns
(i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms of
credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year and are not subject
to enforcement activity. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of
financial assets disclosed in note 16.

31-60
days

61-90
days

91-180
days

>180
days

1.21%

1.40%

1.62%

2.98%

14.50%

100.00%

379,886

21,608

123,522

35,599

5,052

90,934

103,171

114,901

487

2,174

1,147

309

7,613

103,171

* Adjusted taking into consideration bank guarantees

2019
Expected credit loss rate
Total gross carrying amount
(Rs’000)
Expected credit loss
(Rs’000)*

Total

Current
0.75%

1-30
days
4.89%

31-60
days
7.60%

61-90
days
7.99%

91-180
days
13.00%

>180
days
100.00%

441,642

23,683

122,731

109,839

49,999

27,376

108,014

119,460

429

1,857

2,413

1,577

5,170

108,014

* Adjusted taking into consideration bank guarantees
THE COMPANY

2020
Expected credit loss rate
Total gross carrying amount
(Rs’000)
Expected credit loss
(Rs’000)*

Total

Current
1.21%

1-30
days
1.40%

31-60
days
1.62%

61-90
days
2.98%

91-180
days
12.00%

>180
days
100.00%

218,376

5,462

71,556

23,284

3,249

44,537

70,288

33,903

60

976

346

97

3,120

29,304

* Adjusted taking into consideration bank guarantees

2019
Expected credit loss rate
Total gross carrying amount
(Rs’000)
Expected credit loss
(Rs’000)*

Total

Current
1.04%

1-30
days
1.20%

31-60
days
1.39%

61-90
days
2.65%

91-180
days
17.00%

>180
days
100.00%

232,129

8,453

65,152

72,405

39,123

19,085

27,911

31,342

88

644

824

734

1,141

27,911

* Adjusted taking into consideration bank guarantees
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The following table demonstrates the impact of a reasonably possible change in the equity prices, with all other variables
held constant, on the Group’s and the Company’s profit after tax or equity, depending on whether the decline is significant
or prolonged.

2020
Expected credit loss rate
Total gross carrying amount
(Rs’000)
Expected credit loss
(Rs’000)*
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THE GROUP

The Group’s listed and unlisted equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future
values of the investment securities.
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THE GROUP

Financial instruments and cash at bank
Financial assets

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group’s treasury department in accordance
with the Group’s policy. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Group’s Senior Management on an annual basis,
and may be updated throughout the year. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate
financial loss through potential counterparty’s failure. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of
the statement of financial position is the carrying amounts as disclosed below:

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at FVTOCI
Financial assets at amortised cost

2020
Rs’000
14,088
45,325

2019
Rs’000
26,174
47,237

2020
Rs’000
12,909
1,530

2019
Rs’000
23,209
9,693

THE COMPANY

Non-current financial assets
Cash at bank and on hand
Other receivables
Other receivables are neither past due nor impaired for the year ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
Contract assets

Contract assets suffered an expected credit loss of Rs 1.2m (2019: Rs 1.4m). In determining the recoverability of contract
assets, the Group assesses its contractual rights and the terms and conditions of the agreements. The Group does not hold
any collateral as security over these balances. An expected credit loss rate of 3% (2019: 3%) has been used.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

(d)

2020
Rs’000

2019
Rs’000

2,667
11,421
437,468
451,556

14,297
11,877
492,302
518,476

1,488
11,421
517,855
530,764

11,332
11,877
480,497
503,706

1,557,751

1,429,707

1,199,401

1,135,780

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk refers to the possibility of default by the Group to meet its obligations because of unavailability of funds to
meet both operational and capital requirements. The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its financial investments and financial assets (e.g. accounts
receivables and other financial assets), the maturity of its financial obligations and projected cash flows from operations.
Moreover, the Group has access to various types of funding such as leasing, loans and share capital.
The following table summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities at June 30, based
on contractual undiscounted payment.
THE GROUP
At June 30, 2020
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables

At June 30, 2019
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
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2019
Rs’000

Financial liabilities

THE GROUP

Non-current financial assets
Cash at bank and on hand

THE COMPANY

2020
Rs’000

On demand
Rs’000
148,163
284,523
432,686

Less than 3
months
Rs’000
21,245
148,230
169,475

3 to 12
months
Rs’000
221,420
221,420

1 to 5
years
Rs’000
936,100
936,100

Total
Rs’000
1,326,928
432,753
1,759,681

On demand
Rs’000
404,269
221,514
625,783

Less than 3
months
Rs’000
17,571
86,332
103,903

3 to 12
months
Rs’000
117,606
48,546
166,152

1 to 5
years
Rs’000
788,754
6,114
794,868

Total
Rs’000
1,328,200
362,506
1,690,706
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Liquidity risk (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY
At June 30, 2020
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables

At June 30, 2019
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables

(e)

On demand
Rs’000
124,143
206,772
330,915

Less than 3
months
Rs’000
7,455
4,492
11,947

3 to 12
months
Rs’000
167,035
5,451
172,486

1 to 5
years
Rs’000
696,816
696,816

Above
5 years
Rs’000
1,346
1,346

Total
Rs’000
996,795
216,715
1,213,510

On demand
Rs’000
299,421
117,771
417,192

Less than 3
months
Rs’000
157,270
20,028
177,298

3 to 12
months
Rs’000
15,654
38,934
54,588

1 to 5
years
Rs’000
572,886
6,114
579,000

Above
5 years
Rs’000
-

Total
Rs’000
1,045,231
182,847
1,228,078

Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholders value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is interest bearing loans and borrowings divided by equity. The
Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio between 30% and 60%. Capital comprises of equity attributable to the equity
holders of the parent. The Group and Company do not have any externally imposed capital requirements.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Equity
Gearing ratio

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
1,064,108
1,039,956
3,238,830
3,113,287
33%
33%

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
932,318
939,262
2,279,523
2,323,004
41%
40%

COST OR VALUATION
At July 01, 2018
Additions
Transfers*
Disposals
Write-off
Exchange differences
At June 30, 2019
Additions
Reclassification
Transfers*
Disposals
Write-off
Revaluation adjustments
Transfer to right of use
Exchange differences
At June 30, 2020
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At July 01, 2018
Charge for the year
Transfers
Disposals
Write-off
Exchange differences
At June 30, 2019
Charge for the year
Transfers
Disposals
Write-off
Revaluation adjustments
Transfer to right of use
Exchange differences
At June 30, 2020
CARRYING AMOUNT
At June 30, 2020
At June 30, 2019

Freehold
Leasehold
land and
land and land
buildings improvements
Rs’000
Rs’000

Plant and
equipment
Rs’000

Motor
vehicles
Rs’000

Asset in
progress
Rs’000

Total
Rs’000

2,529,184
50,972
5,711
(1,314)
2,584,553
55,965
67,949
6,701
(196)
247,127
2,234
2,964,333

93,409
264
(2,953)
(746)
89,974
50
293
90,317

2,768,474
244,428
(29,918)
(24,954)
(10,436)
2,947,594
205,044
(70,138)
(47,187)
(22,388)
(1,649)
(33,444)
6,723
2,984,555

198,424
29,082
(9,538)
(905)
217,063
20,693
2,189
2,050
(18,422)
(62,031)
1,002
162,544

53,924
10,543
(3,318)
(1,036)
60,113
6,186
(14,672)
2,178
53,805

5,643,415
335,289
(27,525)
(34,492)
(2,953)
(14,437)
5,899,297
287,938
(53,108)
(40,810)
(1,845)
247,127
(95,475)
12,430
6,255,554

51,880
49,096
(816)
100,160
49,525
13,753
(143,197)
489
20,730

34,942
2,724
(2,953)
(338)
34,375
2,741
49
37,165

2,120,057
170,842
(3,222)
(23,851)
(4,848)
2,258,978
172,273
(22,237)
(22,383)
(1,649)
(8,605)
5,062
2,381,439

130,478
29,924
(7,839)
(2,254)
150,309
26,422
1,207
(18,371)
(39,475)
729
120,821

177
707
884

2,337,357
252,586
(3,222)
(31,690)
(2,953)
(8,256)
2,543,822
251,138
(7,277)
(40,754)
(1,649)
(143,197)
(48,080)
7,036
2,561,039

2,943,603
2,484,393

53,152
55,599

603,116
688,616

41,723
66,754

52,921
60,113

3,694,515
3,355,475

* In the financial year 2020, the Group transferred Rs 47.2m to inventory. In 2019, land amounting to Rs 3.4m was transferred from
investment properties to property, plant and equipment.
Bank borrowings are secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of the Group.
Leased liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in event of default.
(a) The carrying amount of plant and equipment and motor vehicles held under finance lease as at June 30, 2020 and 2019 were as
follows (refer to note 6):
2020
2019
Plant and
Motor
Plant and
Motor
equipment
vehicles
Total
equipment
vehicles
Total
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount
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24,280
(5,407)
18,873

50,930
(24,409)
26,521

75,210
(29,816)
45,394
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(b) Revaluation of land and buildings
Motor
vehicles
Rs’000

Asset in
progress
Rs’000

Total
Rs’000

The fair value of the freehold land and buildings were determined by Chasteau Doger De Speville Ltd, an independent valuer. The
date of the revaluation was June 30, 2020.
Freehold land is revalued by reference to market based evidence; that is, the valuations are based on active market prices, adjusted
for any differences in the nature, location or condition of a specific property. Freehold land is classified as level 2.The significant
input is the price per square metre which ranges between Rs 711 and Rs 7,699.

COST OR VALUATION
At July 01, 2018
Additions
Disposals
Transfers *
Impairment
At June 30, 2019
Reclassification
Additions
Disposals
Transfers *
Write-off
Revaluation adjustments
Transfer to right of use
At June 30, 2020
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At July 01, 2018
Charge for the year
Disposals
Transfers
At June 30, 2019
Reclassification
Charge for the year
Disposals
Write-off
Revaluation adjustments
Transfer to right of use
At June 30, 2020
CARRYING AMOUNT
At June 30, 2020
At June 30, 2019

1,157,710
32,250
(53,521)
1,136,439
67,949
23,152
75
94,280
1,321,895

43,126
43,126
43,126

2,151,144
199,898
(18,863)
1,099
(31,017)
2,302,261
(70,138)
133,663
(21,354)
(48,867)
(1,339)
(2,144)
2,292,082

93,974
18,484
(3,496)
108,962
2,189
12,180
(13,619)
109,712

7,834
1,811
(3,439)
6,206
5,788
(6,206)
5,788

3,453,788
252,443
(22,359)
(55,861)
(31,017)
3,596,994
174,783
(34,973)
(54,998)
(1,339)
94,280
(2,144)
3,772,603

48,022
20,390
68,412
14,218
24,741
(62,186)
45,185

26,390
2,156
28,546
2,156
30,702

1,681,445
138,797
(17,868)
(3,222)
1,799,152
(15,506)
122,854
(21,349)
(1,339)
(1,072)
1,882,740

60,106
12,768
(2,546)
70,328
1,288
14,041
(13,619)
72,038

-

1,815,963
174,111
(20,414)
(3,222)
1,966,438
163,792
(34,968)
(1,339)
(62,186)
(1,072)
2,030,665

1,276,710
1,068,027

12,424
14,580

409,342
503,109

37,674
38,634

5,788
6,206

1,741,938
1,630,556

* In the financial year 2020, the Company transferred Rs 47.2m to inventory (2019: Rs 55m transferred to investment properties).

The fair value of buildings was determined using the depreciated replacement cost approach, which reflects the value by computing
the current cost of replacing the property and subtracting any depreciation resulting from one or more of the following factors:
physical deterioration, functional obsolescence and economic obsolescence. Buildings have been classified as level 3. The significant
unobservable input is the depreciation rate which ranges between 20% and 55%.
Details of the Group’s and Company’s buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at June 30, 2020 are as follows:

Reconciliation of carrying amount
Carrying amount as at July 01
Reclassification (cost)
Additions for the year
Transfers
Revaluation
Depreciation for the year
Reclassification (depreciation)
Carrying amount and fair value as at June 30

(a) The carrying amount of motor vehicles held under finance lease as at June 30, 2020 and 2019 were as follows (refer to note 6):
Motor vehicles
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount

-

2,104
(643)
1,461

6.

RIGHT OF USE ASSETS
THE GROUP

COST
At July 01, 2019
- Transfer from note 5
- Impact of adoption of IFRS 16
Additions (transfer from note 5)
Additions
Disposals (transfer from note 5)
At June 30, 2020
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At July 01, 2019 (transfer from note 5)
Charge for the year (transfer from note 5)
Disposals (transfer from note 5)
Charge for the year
At June 30, 2020
CARRYING AMOUNT
At June 30, 2020
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2019
THE
THE
GROUP
COMPANY
Rs’000
Rs’000
769,860
315,333
30,687
11,965
5,711
(49,096)
(20,390)
757,162
306,908

The cost, accumulated depreciation and carrying amount of the land and buildings, had they been stated at historical cost would
be as follows:
THE GROUP
THE COMPANY
2020
2019
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000
Cost
1,843,718
1,713,299
1,193,667
1,170,515
Accumulated depreciation
(1,033,092)
(478,837)
(447,333)
(435,507)
Carrying amount
810,626
1,234,462
746,334
735,008

Bank borrowings are secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of the Company.
Leased liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased asset revert to the lessor in event of default.

2020
THE
THE
GROUP
COMPANY
Rs’000
Rs’000
757,162
306,908
67,949
67,949
55,965
23,152
6,701
75
41,983
24,359
(49,525)
(24,741)
(13,753)
(14,218)
866,482
383,484

Land and
buildings
Rs’000

Plant and
machinery
Rs’000

Motor
vehicles
Rs’000

Total
Rs’000

33,254
21,986
55,240

26,594
1,035
6,850
15,608
50,087

56,257
7,051
(1,277)
62,031

82,851
34,289
13,901
37,594
(1,277)
167,358

5,685
5,685

5,415
3,190
2,554
11,159

31,190
9,562
(1,277)
39,475

36,605
12,752
(1,277)
8,239
56,319

49,555

38,928

22,556

111,039
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The maturity analysis of the lease liabilities are presented in note 20.
2020
Rs’000

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

20,991
6,055
27,046

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 27)
At June 30, 2020, the Group did not have any commitment for short-term leases.
THE COMPANY

COST
At July 01, 2019
- Transfer from note 5
- Impact of adoption of IFRS 16
At June 30, 2020
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At July 01, 2019 (transfer from note 5)
Charge for the year (transfer to note 5)
Charge for the year
At June 30, 2020
CARRYING AMOUNT
At June 30, 2020

Land and
buildings
Rs’000

Motor
vehicles
Rs’000

Total
Rs’000

4,055
4,055

2,144
2,144

2,144
4,055
6,199

504
504

643
429
1,072

643
429
504
1,576

3,551

1,072

4,623

The Company leases several motor vehicles.

The maturity analysis of the lease liabilities are presented in note 20.

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 27)

At June 30, 2020, the Company did not have any commitment for short-term leases.
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COST
At July 01,
Transfer (to)/from property, plant and equipment (note 5)
Reclassification from intangible assets
Additions
Work in progress
At June 30,

80,262
88
80,350

82,726
(3,492)
1,028
80,262

463,104
573
1,302
464,979

402,626
55,861
4,518
99
463,104

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At July 01,
Transfer
Charge for the year
At June 30,

41,467
3,514
44,981

37,868
3,599
41,467

231,038
(10)
18,912
249,940

212,610
18,428
231,038

CARRYING AMOUNT
At June 30,

35,369

38,795

215,039

232,066

The investment properties were revalued on June 30, 2020 by an external independent valuer. The valuation was carried out at
that date by Chasteau Doger De Speville Ltd. Fair value is determined by reference to market based evidence; that is, the valuations
are based on active market prices, adjusted for any differences in the nature, location or condition of a specific property. The fair
value at June 30, 2020 was Rs 194m (2019: Rs 158m) for the Group and Rs 633m (2019: Rs 639.7m) for the Company. The rental
income arising during the year amounted to Rs 18.9m (2019: Rs 18.3m) for the Group and for the Company Rs 45.5m (2019: Rs
43.6m). Direct operating expenses incurred on the investment properties for the Company during the year was Rs 0.1m (2019: Rs
0.1m) and Nil (2019: Nil) for the Group. Investment properties valued using the sales comparison approach have been classified
as level 2 amounting to Rs 60m (2019: Rs 58m) and those valued using the depreciated replacement cost have been classified as
level 3 amounting to Rs 134m (2019: Rs 101m). The significant input for level 2 is the price per square metre and for level 3, it is the
depreciation rate.
There has been no change in the valuation technique during the year. The Group and the Company have no restrictions on the
realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties or
for repairs, maintenance and enhancements.

8. BEARER BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

The Company has options to purchase certain land and buildings and motor vehicles for a nominal amount at the end of the lease
term. The Company’s obligations are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such leases.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

2020
Rs’000
933
325
1,258

Plant canes

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

At July 01,
Amortisation for the year
Impairment adjustment
At June 30,

-

3,541
(506)
(3,035)
-

Other information:
Area harvested (Arpents)
Cost per Arpent (Rs)

2020
-

2019
232
65,893

The Directors made an assessment of the carrying value of the bearer plants as at June 30, 2019 and concluded that an impairment
of Rs 3m was required based on their forecasts. This assessment was based on an average sugar price of Rs 11,000 per ton over the
projected period . The main factor that led to the impairment was the decrease in projected revenue. The value in use model has
been used and the discount rate was 9.75%. The above belongs to the agricultural segment. As at June 30, 2020, the bearer plants
were still considered as fully impaired.
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Goodwill
Rs’000

Total
Rs’000

62,244
26,777
6,259
(96)
349

134,103
-

196,347
26,777
6,259
(96)
349

26,821
1,527
4,415
-

95,533
35,262
(344)
(1,749)
399
129,101

134,103
134,103

229,636
35,262
(344)
(1,749)
399
263,204

32,763
11,593
(573)
43,783

AMORTISATION
At July 01, 2018
Amortisation charge
Write-off
Exchange differences

27,929
9,203
(42)
418

128,671
-

156,600
9,203
(42)
418

14,183
2,274
-

At June 30, 2019
Reclassification
Transfer from plant and equipment
Amortisation charge
Write-off
Exchange differences
At June 30, 2020

37,508
33
18,233
(1,579)
42
54,237

128,671
128,671

166,179
33
18,233
(1,579)
42
182,908

16,457
10
7,527
23,994

CARRYING AMOUNT
At June 30, 2020
At June 30, 2019

74,864
58,025

5,432
5,432

80,296
63,457

19,789
16,306

COST
At July 01, 2018
Additions
Work in progress
Write-off
Exchange differences
At June 30, 2019
Additions
Transfer to investment properties
Write-off
Exchange differences
At June 30, 2020

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the ‘Agriculture’ cash generating unit (‘’CGU’’). The recoverable amount of that
CGU has been determined using the fair value less costs to sell model which is similar to prior year. Fair value less cost to sell is
adjusted for with other assets and liabilities of the CGU, excluding the fair value less cost to sell of the land. No impairment was
required as a result of the analysis.
The fair value less costs to sell calculation is most sensitive to the following main assumption:
Selling prices - The prices are obtained from the relevant bodies and adjusted for expected changes for future periods.
Management believes that reasonably possible changes in the above assumption will not cause the carrying amount of the cash
generating unit to materially exceed its recoverable amount. A 5% decrease in the unit selling price will still result in a recoverable
amount higher than the carrying amount. The level of the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is
categorised is level 3.

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
COST
At July 01,
Infrastructure costs
At June 30,
IMPAIRMENT
At July 01,
Impairment
At June 30,
NET BOOK VALUE
At June 30,

20,095
18,841
38,936

18,624
1,471
20,095

(10,148)
(6,851)
(16,999)

(10,148)
(10,148)

21,937

9,947

“The reform of the Sugar Industry in the years 2000 necessitated redundancy payments in the form of cash and serviced land,
as well as capital expenditure for capacity expansion and optimisation. These capital expenditure investments and expenses
have been financed by debt. In order to assist the repayment of these debts, Government granted a tax exemption to the Sugar
Industry when converting agricultural land into residential land in the form of Land Conversion Rights (“LCRs”). These LCRs are
granted by the Mauritius Cane Industry Authority (MCIA) based on the qualifying costs incurred by an entity.
LCR is recognised as a non-current asset and is initially measured at fair value at the date on which the Company is entitled to
receive those rights, that is when there is reasonable assurance that the LCR will be received and all the attached conditions will
be complied with. LCRs are tested annually for impairment. When the carrying amount of the asset is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. LCRs are derecognised upon disposal (i.e. the
date the recipient obtains control), use for converting agricultural land into residential land for land projects or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the LCR is included in profit or
loss. At June 30, 2020, the Directors have made an assessment of the carrying value of the LCRs and have concluded that an
impairment of Rs 6.9m (2019: Rs 10.1m) was required.
The assumptions used in the DCF include the average annual conversion rates of agricultural land to residential land, the estimated
selling price, the estimated infrastructure cost, the estimated selling cost and the discount rate. The discount rate calculation is
based on the specific circumstances of these rights. The level of the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement
is categorised is level 3.

10.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
At July 01,
Additions (a)
Impairment (c)
At June 30
Analysed as follows:
Unquoted equity instruments
Interest free loans

1,042,796
48,707
(81,895)
1,009,608

1,092,882
24,514
(74,600)
1,042,796

562,940
446,668
1,009,608

596,128
446,668
1,042,796

The Directors have assessed the recoverable amount of the investments and are of the opinion that the carrying amount has not
suffered further impairment, other than that disclosed in note (b) below.
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2019
% Holding
Direct
Indirect

Espace Maison Ltée
Compagnie de Gros Cailloux Limitée
Société d’Investissement Rodriguais
Welcome Industries Ltd
UBP International Limited
UBP Madagascar (a)
United Granite Products (Private) Limited (a)
DHK Metal Crusher (Private) Limited
Sheffield Trading (Private) Limited
Sainte Marie Crushing Plant Limited
Societe des Petits Cailloux
Drymix Ltd (d)
La Savonnerie Créole Ltée (b)
Drymat SAS (Réunion)
UBP Coffrages Ltée ( e)

Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Madagascar
Sri-Lanka
Sri-Lanka
Sri-Lanka
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Reunion
Mauritius

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
76.5
54.6
90.0

75.9
77.0
100.0
100.0
76.5
100.0
80.0
-

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
76.5
51.0
90.0

75.9
77.0
100.0
100.0
76.5
100.0
80.0
-

Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

-

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

-

DORMANT
Land Reclamation Limited
Stone and Bricks Ltd (f)
The Stone Masters Co. Ltd
Pricom Ltd
(a)

During the year, unsecured and interest free loans of Rs 11.6m (2019: Rs 12.3m) and Rs 9m (2019: Rs 12.2 m) to UBP Madagascar
and United Granite Products (Private) Limited respectively were accounted under investments further to management’s approval.

(b)

In 2019, the Directors have assessed the recoverable amount of the investment held in La Savonnerie Créole Ltée amounting to
Rs 0.5m and a full impairment of the amount has been made.

(c)

Impairment losses, key assumptions used and sensitivity

45.4%

24.1%

23.0%

23.5%

Financial position
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net assets/(shareholders’ deficit)
Carrying amounts of non-controlling interests

134,791
115,142
(56,023)
(71,884)
122,026
55,412

33,414
32,336
(11,284)
(10,450)
44,016
10,608

47,751
24,647
(863)
(246,817)
(175,282)
(40,315)

80,253
12,327
(10,001)
(9,906)
72,673
17,078

Comprehensive income
Revenue
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

291,638
7,468
1,325
8,793

53,911
8,132
(1,244)
6,888

21,859
(10,563)
(10,563)

77,781
3,895
5,000
8,895

3,391
3,993
-

1,960
1,660
-

(2,429)
(2,429)
-

915
2,090
600

20,221
(13,864)
(3,584)
2,773

13,948
(13,253)
695

(2,537)
(15)
1,626
(926)

11,860
(6,715)
(2,000)
3,145

Proportion of non-controlling interests

Profit/(loss) allocated to non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interests
Dividend to non-controlling interests
Cash flows
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

The Company has net investments in its overseas subsidiaries of Rs 66.5m at June 30, 2020 (2019: Rs 113m). The impairment
losses recorded during the year amounted to Rs 68.1m (2019: Rs 74.6m). These subsidiaries have been making losses over the
past years and are not operating at full capacity.
In determining the recoverable amount of net investment in subsidiaries, management considered the estimated recoverable
amounts of the main underlying asset that each subsidiary owns, that is, property. The valuation of these properties by the
management was done under the guidance of in-country experts. The level of the fair value hierarchy within which the fair
value measurement is categorised is level 3. The main assumptions are area of property, estimated price and discount factors.
Management applied discount rates from 30% to 55% where appropriate to the values of the property.

Drymix
Ltd
Rs’000

Welcome
Industries
Ltd
Rs’000

49.0%

24.1%

United
Granite Sainte Marie
Products
Crushing
(Private)
Plant
Limited
Limited
Rs’000
Rs’000

2019
Proportion of non-controlling interests

23.0%

23.5%

Management used reasonable assumptions in preparing the recoverable amount computation but recognise that continuous
losses and operational challenges may have a further significant impact on the recoverable amount of the investment in overseas
subsidiaries.
(d)

On February 13, 2020, the Group acquired an additional 3.6% of the issued shares of Drymix Ltd for a purchase consideration of
Rs 10.1m.

(e)

In February 2019, the Group acquired 90% of UBP Coffrages Ltée for a consideration of Rs 22,500. In October 2019, there was an
increase in share capital and the Group acquired additional shares for Rs 18m with no change in shareholding.
During the year, the Group and the minority shareholder have taken the decision to wind up the company. This has led to the
recognition of an impairment of Rs 13.8m in the financial statements of the Company.

(f)

Stone and Bricks Ltd is still in the process of winding up.

206 - UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020

UBP INTEGRATED REPORT 2020 - 207

ABOUT US

2020
% Holding
Direct
Indirect

Summarised financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests, based on their IFRS financial
statements and before inter-company eliminations are provided below:
United
Granite Sainte Marie
Welcome
Products
Crushing
Drymix
Industries
(Private)
Plant
Ltd
Ltd
Limited
Limited
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000
Rs’000
2020
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2019
Financial position
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net assets/(shareholders’ deficit)
Carrying amounts of non-controlling interests
Comprehensive income
Revenue
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Profit/(loss) allocated to non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interests
Dividend to non-controlling interests
Cash flows
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

11.

116,254
128,185
(42,892)
(88,251)
113,296
55,515

30,516
25,930
(9,388)
(9,931)
37,127
8,948

47,004
23,875
(668)
(188,754)
(118,543)
(27,265)

74,841
12,050
(9,435)
(11,677)
65,779
15,458

338,222
30,586
301
30,887

48,564
5,791
(1,759)
4,032

12,894
(8,542)
(4,670)
(13,212)

110,534
9,651
(1,836)
7,815

14,987
15,135
12,250

1,396
972
-

(1,965)
(3,039)
-

2,268
1,837
2,600

23,795
(11,739)
(9,081)
2,975

(302)
(3,148)
(3,450)

(9,915)
612
9,773
470

10,382
(2,788)
(10,500)
(2,906)

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
Unquoted
At July 01,
Share of profit
Movement in other reserves
Dividend received
At June 30,
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198,901
7,780
7,161
(22,453)
191,389

195,816
18,302
308
(15,525)
198,901

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
103,968
103,968

103,968
103,968

Manufacturing and placing of readymixed concrete.
Operating a fleet of bulk cement
Cement Transport Ltd
transport truck, tractors and tankers.
Manufacture and sale of building
Terrarock Ltd
materials.
Prochimad Mines et Carrières SARL
Mine operation.
Compagnie Mauricienne d’Entreprise Ltée Renting of properties.
Pre-Mixed Concrete Ltd

Country of
incorporation

Proportion of ownership
interest (direct & indirect)
2020
2019

Mauritius

49.0%

49.0%

Mauritius

25.0%

25.0%

Mauritius
Madagascar
Mauritius

46.0%
34.0%
20.0%

46.0%
34.0%
20.0%

Summarised financial information of the associates that are material to the Group, based on their IFRS financial statements, and
reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment in the Group’s financial statements are set out below:

THE GROUP
2020
Financial position
Non-current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Current trade and other payables
Current loans and borrowings
Non-current liabilities
Equity
Proportion of Group’s ownership
Goodwill
Carrying amount of investments
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Revenue
Interest income
Other income
Depreciation and amortisation
Interest expense
Other expenses
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Group’s share of profit
Group’s share of total comprehensive income

Pre-Mixed
Concrete Ltd
Rs’000

Compagnie
Mauricienne
Terrarock d’Entreprise
Ltd
Ltée
Rs’000
Rs’000

278,150
43,119
172,153
(208,552)
(13,363)
(124,323)
147,184
49.0%
72,120
48,619
120,739

123,872
791
33,674
(24,080)
(980)
(16,519)
116,758
46.0%
53,709
53,709

75,553
1,390
2,168
(998)
(4,538)
73,575
20.0%
14,715
14,715

677,736
3,836
(35,072)
(641,688)
4,812
(4,273)
539
(7,098)
(6,559)
264
(3,214)

178,180
777
1,435
(15,215)
(6)
(138,704)
26,467
(6,433)
20,034
374
20,408
9,216
9,388

7,170
(5,970)
1,200
(1,100)
100
100
20
20
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THE GROUP
2019
Financial position
Non-current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Current trade and other payables
Current loans and borrowings
Non-current liabilities
Equity
Proportion of Group’s ownership
Goodwill
Carrying amount of investments
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Revenue
Interest income
Other income
Depreciation and amortisation
Interest expense
Other expenses
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Group’s share of profit
Group’s share of total comprehensive income

Pre-Mixed
Concrete Ltd
Rs’000

201,794
40,585
460,339
(463,885)
(51,044)
(23,046)
164,743
49.0%
80,724
48,619
129,343

96,821
249
39,442
(13,140)
(2,458)
(13,569)
107,345
46.0%
49,379
49,379

75,553
1,390
2,168
(998)
(4,538)
73,575
20.0%
14,715
14,715

726,058
(22,282)
(691,953)
11,823
(2,873)
8,950
8,950
4,386
4,386

196,978
843
876
(16,260)
(16)
(146,386)
36,035
(6,923)
29,112
175
29,287
13,392
13,472

5,938
(1,137)
(850)
3,951
(900)
3,051
1,138
4,189
610
838

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
2,228
3,946
(1,720)
(86)
(1,720)
(86)

The associates had no other contingent liabilities or capital commitment as at June 30, 2020 and 2019 except as disclosed in
note 33.
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Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(note 12 (b))
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 12 (c))

11,421
2,667
14,088

11,421
1,488
12,909

11,877
11,332
23,209

Quoted
Unquoted
equity shares equity shares
Rs’000
Rs’000
19,965
42,857
(15,310)
386
5,246
5,041
48,103
(11,877)
(5,041)
(36,226)
-

Total
Rs’000
62,822
(15,310)
5,632
53,144
(11,877)
(41,267)
-

11,877
14,297
26,174

(a) AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

THE GROUP
At July 01, 2017
Disposal
Fair value movements
At June 30, 2018
Transfer to financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Transfer to financial assets at fair value through profit & loss
At June 30, 2019 and 2020
THE COMPANY
At July 01, 2018
Disposal
Fair value movement
At June 30, 2018
Transfer to financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Transfer to financial assets at fair value through profit & loss
At June 30, 2019 and 2020

15,310
(15,310)
-

40,987
5,246
46,233
(11,877)
(34,356)
-

56,297
(15,310)
5,246
46,233
(11,877)
(34,356)
-

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY
At July 01, 2018
Transfer from available- for- sale investment (note 12 (a))
Fair value movements
At June 30, 2019
Fair value movements
At June 30, 2020

Unquoted
equity shares
Rs’000
11,877
11,877
(456)
11,421
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THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

(b) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Aggregate information on individually immaterial associates

Carrying amount of investments
Group’s share of loss for the year
Group’s share of total comprehensive income

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
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Compagnie
Mauricienne
Terrarock d’Entreprise
Ltd
Ltée
Rs’000
Rs’000
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Level 1
Rs’000

THE GROUP

Total
Rs’000

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through profit & loss

2,556

Level 1
Rs’000
-

At July 01, 2018
Transfer from available- for- sale investment (note 12 (a))
Fair value movement (note 25)
At June 30, 2019

5,041
(2,485)
2,556

36,226
(24,485)
11,741

41,267
(26,970)
14,297

Disposal
Fair value movement (note 25)
At June 30, 2020

(1,512)
(32)
1,012

(9,851)
(235)
1,655

(11,363)
(267)
2,667

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through profit & loss

Unquoted
equity shares
Rs’000

Total
Rs’000

Other available-for-sale investments at cost

34,356
(23,024)
11,332
(9,609)
(235)
1,488

34,356
(23,024)
11,332
(9,609)
(235)
1,488

THE COMPANY
At July 01, 2018
Transfer from available- for- sale investment (note 12 (a))
Fair value movement (note 25)
At June 30, 2019
Disposal
Fair value movement (note 25)
At June 30, 2020

2020
Level 1
Rs’000
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through profit & loss

1,012

Level 1
Rs’000
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through profit & loss
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-

THE GROUP
Level 2
Level 3
Rs’000
Rs’000
-

Total
Rs’000

11,421
1,655

11,421
2,667

THE COMPANY
Level 2
Level 3
Rs’000
Rs’000

Total
Rs’000

-

11,421
1,488

11,877
11,741

11,877
14,297

THE COMPANY
Level 2
Level 3
Rs’000
Rs’000
11,877
11,332

Total
Rs’000
11,877
11,332

2020
Rs’000

2019
Rs’000

-

4,125
1,735

THE GROUP
THE COMPANY

Prior to the financial year 2019, certain of the unquoted investments were stated at cost since their fair value could not be
reliably ascertained due to the absence of a market and track records for such similar instruments.
Movement in level 3 financial assets

(d) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The following table provides an analysis of financial assets at FVOCI/FVTPL and available-for-sale investments at fair value
categorised according to the fair value hierarchy disclosures in note 2.3 (b).

-

Total
Rs’000

At July 01,
Disposal
Net unrealised changes in fair value of financial assets/available-forsale investments
At June 30,

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
23,618
43,978
(9,851)
(691)
13,076

(20,360)
23,618

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
23,209
44,498
(9,609)
(691)
12,909

(21,289)
23,209

There were no transfer between levels during the year under review (2019: nil).
Valuation techniques
Unlisted equity investments classified as level 3
The Group invests in companies which are not quoted in an active market. Transaction in such investments do not occur on a
regular basis. The Group uses a market based valuation technique for these positions.

11,421
1,488
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Quoted
Unquoted
equity shares equity shares
Rs’000
Rs’000

THE GROUP
Level 2
Level 3
Rs’000
Rs’000
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(c) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
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(b) In the statements of financial position:

Valuation process for level 3 valuation
The valuation process for the investments is completed on a yearly basis and is designed to determine a reasonable fair value
while subjecting the valuation of such investment to an appropriate level of review. Yearly valuations are performed at Group
level by the Directors. For assets classified as level 3, the finance professionals are responsible for documenting preliminary
valuations based on their collection of financial and operating data, company specific developments, market valuation of
comparable companies and model projections, among other factors. The Board then reviews the preliminary valuations and all
inputs for accuracy and reasonableness. The Board finally approves all investment valuations.
Quantitative and qualitative information of unobservable inputs - Level 3
Private equity
investments
Flacq Associated Stonemasters
Limited (FAST)
Private equity
investments

2020
Rs’000
11,407
2019
Rs’000

Flacq Associated Stonemasters
Limited (FAST)

11,877

Impele KCB SPV Limited

9,596

Valuation
techniques

Unobservable
inputs

Market
comparables

Discount
of lack of
marketability

50%

+/- 5%

+/- 570

Valuation
techniques

Unobservable
inputs

Range

Sensitivity
used

Effect on fair
value
Rs’000

Market
comparables
Income
approach

Sensitivity
used

Range

Effect on fair
value
Rs’000

Discount
of lack of
marketability

50%

+/- 5%

+/- 1,297

WACC

31.9%

+/- 5%

+/- 2,355

No disclosures have been made for the remaining financial assets of Rs 1.7m (2019: 2.0m) for Group and Rs 1.5m (2019: Rs 1.7m)
for Company as sensivity and effect on fair value are insignificant.

27,678
(64,829)
(1,756)
532
3,979
1,545
30,394
(2,457)

10,940
(52,361)
(2,426)
518
3,430
67,577
27,678

25,581
(51,201)
(1,591)
532
3,671
28,482
5,474

8,152
(37,059)
(2,200)
518
3,883
52,287
25,581

(8,039)
5,582
(2,457)

(3,330)
31,008
27,678

5,474
5,474

25,581
25,581

(c) Deferred tax:
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liabilities

11,146
(41,976)
(30,830)

8,877
(65,735)
(56,858)

(6,767)
(6,767)

(36,003)
(36,003)

(d) Deferred tax liabilities
Movement in deferred tax:
At July 01,
Deferred tax effect on adoption of IFRS 9 on opening balance
Income tax effect recognised in other comprehensive income
(Over)/under provision of deferred tax in previous years
Deferred tax credit
At June 30,

(56,858)
15,861
(1,835)
12,002
(30,830)

(87,831)
5,129
5,755
910
19,179
(56,858)

(36,003)
15,524
13,712
(6,767)

(63,256)
1,603
5,528
554
19,568
(36,003)

At July 01,
Payment during the year
Tax withheld
Underprovision of corporate social responsibility tax
Underprovision of income tax in previous year
Refund received during the year
Income tax expense
At June 30,
Analysed as:
Income tax receivable
Income tax payable

Deferred tax asset on unused tax losses of Rs 100.9m (2019: Rs 97.7m) has not been recognised in respect of these tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams to utilise these losses.

During the year, the investment held in Impele KCB SPV Limited has been disposed of.

THE GROUP
Rs’000

13. INCOME TAX
THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

(a) In the statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income:
Income tax on the adjusted profit for the year
Corporate social responsibility tax
Underprovision of corporate social responsibility tax
Underprovision of income tax in previous year
Under/(over) provision of deferred tax in previous years
Deferred tax credit
Income tax expense
Amount in other comprehensive income
Deferred tax on actuarial gains and losses
Deferred tax on revaluation gain on land and buildings
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27,907
3,596
532
3,979
1,831
(12,002)
25,843

59,679
7,898
518
3,430
(910)
(19,179)
51,436

25,131
3,351
532
3,671
(13,710)
18,975

46,136
6,151
518
3,883
(554)
(19,568)
36,566

39,157
(23,296)

5,755
-

30,238
(14,714)

5,528
-

Expiry of tax losses
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Indefinitely

21,490
5,360
4,498
8,722
15,772
45,027
100,869
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THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
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THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
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(e) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Deferred tax assets
- Employee benefit obligations
- Allowance for expected credit losses
- Provision for obsolete stock
Net deferred tax liabilities

109,471
11,516
12,884
133,871
(30,830)

68,630
12,839
11,570
93,039
(56,858)

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
(14,659)
(19,247)
(100,800)
(92,297)
(115,459)
(111,544)
92,498
6,683
9,511
108,692
(6,767)

61,187
5,868
8,486
75,541
(36,003)

(f) The tax on profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic income tax rate as
follows:
THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
Profit before tax
Tax calculated at the rate of 15%
Tax effect of :
Non-allowable expenses
Corporate social responsibility
Tax effect from associates
Income exempt from tax
Deferred tax assets not recognised
Effect on temporary difference on corporate social responsibility
Underprovision of corporate social responsibility in previous year
Underprovision of income tax in previous year
Under/(over) provision of deferred tax in previous year
Income tax expense

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

47,703
7,155

258,696
38,804

32,414
4,862

204,116
30,617

21,674
3,596

9,198
7,898
(12,029)
5,691
(1,164)
518
3,430
(910)
51,436

17,633
3,351
(6,290)
(4,784)
532
3,671
18,975

8,206
6,151
(11,058)
(1,197)
518
3,883
(554)
36,566

(7,670)
(5,258)
532
3,979
1,835
25,843

(g) There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of dividends by the Group to its shareholders in either 2020
or 2019.

Vegetables
Rs’000
6,112
32,963
(23,456)
525
16,144
29,831
(20,836)
(10,799)
14,340

At July 01, 2018
Production
Sales
Fair value movement
At June 30, 2019
Production
Sales
Fair value movement
At June 30, 2020

The consumable biological assets are measured at fair value determined in accordance with the level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
(a) The main assumptions for estimating the fair values are as follows:
Vegetables
Expected area to harvest (ha)
Discount factor (%)
Standing cane
Expected area to harvest (ha)
Estimated yields (%)
Estimated price of sugar - (Rs per ton)
Plants
Expected area to harvest (ha)
Maximum maturity of plants at June, 30

2020
50
9

2019
42
9

96
10.1
16,076

98
10.4
14,031

8
1 year

8
1 year

(b) Description of significant inputs to valuation:

Standing
cane

Valuation
technique

Significant unobservable inputs

Sensitivity of the input to value:

Discounted
cash flows

Cane yield per hectare: 37 ton/ha
(2019: 38 ton/ha)

1% increase/(decrease) in cane yield
per ha would result in increase/
(decrease) in fair value by Rs 268,882
(2019: Rs 95,289)
5% increase/(decrease) in the price
of sugar would result in increase/
(decrease) in fair value by Rs 497,431
(2019: Rs 476,447)
1% increase/(decrease) in WACC
would result in (decrease)/increase in
fair value by Rs 3,604 (2019: Rs 2,366)

Price of sugar: Rs 16,076/ton:
(2019: Rs 14,031/ton)
WACC: 12.48%
(2019: 9.17%)
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Total
Rs’000
34,626
75,302
(78,123)
17,859
49,664
73,631
(78,661)
1,142
45,776
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Deferred tax liabilities
- Accelerated capital allowances
- Deferred tax on revaluation gain

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
(37,058)
(36,097)
(127,643)
(113,800)
(164,701)
(149,897)

THE GROUP
Standing
cane
Plants
Rs’000
Rs’000
4,997
23,517
15,295
27,044
(15,874)
(38,793)
(197)
17,531
4,221
29,299
13,622
30,178
(16,385)
(41,440)
3,335
8,606
4,793
26,643
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Plants

Vegetables

Valuation
technique

Significant
unobservable inputs

Discounted
cash flows

Average price of plants :
Rs 206 (2019: Rs 176)

Discounted
cash flows

As at June 30, 2020, the Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables amounting to Rs 114.9m (2019: Rs 119.5m) and Rs 33.9m
(2019: Rs 31.3m) were impaired and provided for.
Sensitivity of
the input to value:

5% increase/(decrease) in price of plants would result
in increase/(decrease) in fair value by Rs 2,073,093
(2019: Rs 1,981,147)
Mortality rate: 3% (2019: 5% increase/(decrease) in mortality rate would result
5%)
in (decrease)/increase in fair value by Rs 2,073,093
(2019: Rs 2,088,023)
WACC: 20% (2019: 20%) 1% increase/(decrease) in WACC would result in
(decrease)/increase in fair value by Rs 266,438 (2019:
Rs 292,989)
Discount factor: 8.8%
1% increase/(decrease) in discount factor would result
(2019: 8.8%)
in (decrease)/increase in fair value by Rs 33,715 (2019:
Rs 3,256)
Price of vegetables: Rs
5% increase/(decrease) in the price of vegetables
15,000 - Rs 19,000 (2019: would result in increase/(decrease) in fair value by
Rs 19,000 - 21,800)
955,845 (2019: Rs 1,022,386)

See note 4(b) on credit risk of trade receivables, which explains how the Group manages and measures credit quality of trade
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired.
The movement in the allowance for credit loss of trade receivables were as follows:
THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
Individually and collectively impaired
At July 01,
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9
Movement for the year excluding write-off
Write-off
Foreign exchange difference
At June 30,

119,460
8,777
(13,336)
114,901

72,417
25,675
23,702
(843)
(1,491)
119,460

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
31,342
6,805
(4,244)
33,903

18,810
9,938
2,910
(316)
31,342

15. INVENTORIES
THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
Raw materials and spares (at cost)
Work in progress (at cost)
Finished goods (at lower of cost and net realisable value)
Goods in transit

411,349
28,853
400,859
26,994
868,055

334,466
38,029
398,624
51,436
822,555

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
310,796
25,232
41,631
4,154
381,813

243,699
37,030
51,630
7,614
339,973

The amount of write down of inventories, recognised as an expense in cost of sales was Rs 33.4m (2019: Rs 13.1m) for the Group and
Rs 6m (2019: Rs 7.9m) for the Company. Included in finished goods are inventories carried at net realisable value of Rs 9m (2019: Rs
nil) for the Group and for the Company.

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
Trade receivables
Loan receivable from subsidiary
Receivables from subsidiaries
Receivables from associates
Other receivables
Prepayments

253,091
31,991
99,455
43,747
428,284

322,182
26,246
89,375
32,769
470,572

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
147,947
203,143
113,565
27,648
24,022
27,736
544,061

An allowance for expected credit loss has also been charged for receivables other than trade and contract assets amounting to Rs
2.2m (2019: Rs 2.5m) for the Company and a charge of Rs 0.2m (2019: Rs 0.9m) for the Group. The allowance for expected credit
loss has been calculated using a loss given default rate approximating to 5% (2019: 6%) on average.

17. CONTRACT ASSETS
THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
Receivable from projects with customers
(i)Trade receivables from contracts net of provisions
(ii) Progress billings

76,318
(68,712)
7,606

77,772
(70,510)
7,262

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
-

-

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s receivables from its contracting activities. Allowance for expected credit losses
amounts to Rs 1.2m (2019: Rs 1.4m) and the movement for the year amounts to Rs 0.2m (2019: Rs 0.3m).

162,096
149,143
88,591
24,573
46,401
10,919
481,723

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days’ terms.
Other receivables comprise of advances made to suppliers, amounts due from related entities amongst others.
Other receivables are non-interest bearing and having an average term of 6 months.
For terms and conditions relating to receivables from related parties, refer to note 30.
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For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash at banks and on hand comprise of the following at June 30:

Cash at banks and on hand
Bank overdraft (note 20)

2020
Rs’000
45,325
(108,422)
(63,097)

2019
Rs’000
47,237
(222,480)
(175,243)

THE COMPANY
2020
Rs’000
1,530
(83,044)
(81,514)

2019
Rs’000
9,693
(179,164)
(169,471)

The acquisition of property, plant and equipment was financed as follows:
THE GROUP
Non-cash transactions
Total acquisition cost (note 5)
Financed by cash
Financed by finance leases

2020
Rs’000
287,938
(274,037)
13,901

2019
Rs’000
335,289
(317,129)
18,160

THE COMPANY
2020
Rs’000
174,783
(174,783)
-

2019
Rs’000
252,443
(252,443)
-

(a) Issued capital

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY
2020
2019
2020
Number of
Number of
Rs’000
shares
shares

Ordinary shares of no par value - At June 30,

26,510,042

Share premium
Associate companies (i)
Revaluation reserve (ii)
Fair value reserve of financial assets through OCI (iii)
Translation reserve (iv)
Retained earnings

Total borrowings

9,034
29,132
650,000
688,166

650,000
4,188
654,188

1,248
650,000
651,248

108,422
158,485
31,979
3,098
22,460
324,444
1,064,108

222,480
83,485
27,584
13,353
4,888
351,790
1,039,956

83,044
150,000
41,100
3,098
888
278,130
932,318

179,164
75,000
28,566
396
4,888
288,014
939,262

26,510,042

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
7,354
109,291
1,848,895
10,355
(12,937)
1,010,772
2,973,730

7,354
102,130
1,488,373
10,811
(8,438)
1,247,957
2,848,187

265,100

** The line indicated is in respect of the IAS 17 comparatives only.

265,100

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
7,354
819,248
10,355
1,177,466
2,014,423

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

2019
Rs’000

7,354
677,496
10,811
1,362,243
2,057,904

(i) Associate companies represent reserves other than retained earnings arising on equity accounting of associates.
(ii) The revaluation reserve is used to record increases in the fair value of land and buildings and decreases to the extent that such
decrease relates to an increase on the same asset previously recognised in equity.
(iii) Fair value reserve of financial assets through OCI records fair value changes on FVOCI assets.
(iv) The translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of overseas
operations.
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Current
Bank overdrafts (note 18)
Bank loans (note (a))
Unsecured loans (note (c))
Obligations under finance lease (note (c)) **
Long Term Secured Promissory Note (note(e))
Lease liabilities (note (b))*

1,022
650,000
88,642
739,664

* The line indicated is in respect of the application of IFRS 16 in the current year only.

19. EQUITY

(b) Reserves

Non-current
Bank loans (note (a))
Obligations under finance lease (note (c)) **
Long Term Secured Promissory Note (note(e))
Lease liabilities (note (b))*

(a) Bank loans are payable as follows:
Within one year
After one year and before two years

158,485
1,022
159,507

83,485
9,034
92,519

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
150,000
150,000

75,000
75,000

Bank loans and overdrafts are secured by fixed and floating charges on the Group’s assets and bear interest between PLR +0.5%
and PLR +1.5% per annum.
(b) Maturity analysis of lease payments

Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
Year 4
Year 5
Onwards

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
25,489
24,731
24,378
20,536
13,022
18,712
126,868
-

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
1,160
1,160
1,059
659
646
1,346
6,030
-

The Company does not face significant liquidity risk with regards to its lease liabilities. All the lease obligations are denominated in
Mauritian Rupees.
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(d) Unsecured loans were repayable at call, the rates of interest per annum at June 30, 2020 was 4.5% (2019: 4.5%).

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Less: Future finance charges
Present value of minimum lease payment

Amounts payable under finance leases:
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

15,650
32,146
47,796
(5,311)
42,485

THE COMPANY
2019
Rs’000
489
1,365
1,854
(210)
1,644

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM
LEASE PAYMENTS
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2019
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
13,353
29,132
42,485

396
1,248
1,644

Finance leases relate to motor vehicles and plant and machinery with lease terms of 5 to 7 years. The Group has the option to
purchase the motor vehicles and plant and machinery for a nominal amount at the conclusion of the lease period. The Group’s
obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Finance lease liabilities are effectively secured
as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default and bear interest between 5.35% and 12.5% per annum.
Lease liabilities carry interest at annual rates which vary between 5.35% and 12.5%. Leased liabilities are effectively secured as the
right to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.

(f)

Changes in liabilities and assets arising from financing activities
2020
THE GROUP
Obligations under finance leases
Lease liabilities
Bank loans
Unsecured loans
Long Terms Secured Promissory Note
THE COMPANY
Obligations under finance leases
Lease liabilities
Bank loans
Unsecured loans
Long Terms Secured Promissory Note

2019
THE GROUP
Obligations under finance leases
Bank loans
Unsecured loans
Long Terms Secured Promissory Note
Debentures
Dividend payable - The Company
Dividend payable - Minority shareholders
THE COMPANY
Obligations under finance leases
Bank loans
Unsecured loans
Long Terms Secured Promissory Note
Debentures
Dividend payable

July 01
Rs’000
42,485
92,519
27,584
654,888
817,476

Cash
inflows
Rs’000
300,000
30,900
330,900

Other
Rs’000
(42,485)
130,587
523
(1,790)
86,835

Cash
outflows
Rs’000
(19,485)
(233,012)
(27,028)
(279,525)

June 30
Rs’000
111,102
159,507
31,979
653,098
955,686

1,643
75,000
28,566
654,888
760,097

300,000
41,336
341,336

(1,643)
5,912
864
(1,790)
3,343

(836)
(225,000)
(29,666)
(255,502)

5,076
150,000
41,100
653,098
849,274

July 01
Rs’000
36,493
175,459
55,810
560,000
2,410
830,172

Cash
inflows
Rs’000
650,000
650,000

Other
Rs’000
18,160
4,888
100,738
14,850
138,636

Cash
outflows
Rs’000
(12,168)
(82,940)
(28,226)
(560,000)
(100,738)
(17,260)
(801,332)

June 30
Rs’000
42,485
92,519
27,584
654,888
817,476

2,014
150,000
98,769
560,000
810,783

225,000
151,215
650,000
1,026,215

341
4,888
100,738
105,967

(370)
(300,000)
(221,759)
(560,000)
(100,738)
(1,182,867)

1,644
75,000
28,566
654,888
760,098

The ‘Other’ column includes non-cash transactions such as additions to finance leases, dividend declaration during the year and
interest accrued but not yet paid on interest-bearing loans and borrowings. The Group classifies interest paid as cash flows from
operating activities.

21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITY
The benefits of employees of the Group and the Company fall under two different types of arrangements:
- A defined benefit scheme which is funded. The plan assets are held by IBL Pension Fund; and
- Retirement benefits, as defined under the Workers Rights Act (WRA) 2019, which are unfunded.
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(e) In October 2018 and April 2019, the Company took a Long Term Secured Promissory Note of Rs 650m. These bear interest at a repo
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(a)

Funded obligation

(i)

The amounts recognised in the statements of financial position in respect of funded obligation are as follows:

Present value of funded obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Benefit liability

At July 01,
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
Employer’s contribution
At June 30,
(ii)

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
759,217
517,607
(293,042)
(277,253)
466,175
240,354

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
606,416
431,551
(234,948)
(224,422)
371,468
207,129

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
240,354
238,638
32,956
34,032
213,794
(7,500)
(20,929)
(24,816)
466,175
240,354

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
207,129
206,144
24,501
25,372
155,249
(5,914)
(15,411)
(18,473)
371,468
207,129

(iii)

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
At July 01,
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Current cost
Cost of insuring risk benefits
Interest cost
Benefit paid
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income:
Losses due to changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial losses
Employer’s contribution
Employees’ contribution
At June 30,

(iv)

2020
Rs’000
277,253

2019
Rs’000
257,839

2020
Rs’000
224,422

2019
Rs’000
212,943

(459)
(731)
15,943
14,753
(16,627)

(860)
(1,323)
14,211
12,028
(15,800)

(288)
(544)
12,586
11,754
(13,906)

(720)
(850)
11,740
10,170
(15,862)

(2,943)
(323)
(3,266)
20,929
293,042

(1,630)
(1,630)
24,816
277,253

(2,733)
(2,733)
15,411
234,948

(1,302)
(1,302)
18,473
224,422

Description of assets
Up to December 31, 2019, the assets of the plan were invested in the Deposit Administration Policy which is a pooled insurance
product for Group Pension Schemes, underwritten by Swan Life (ex Anglo-Mauritius). The long-term investment policy aimed at
providing a smooth progression of returns from one year to the next without regular fluctuations associated with asset-linked
investment such as equity funds. Moreover, the Deposit Administration Policy offers a minimum guaranteed return of 4% per
annum. As from January 01, 2020, the assets of the plan are invested in the IBL Pension Fund which includes a diversified portfolio
of asset classes. In view of the exposure to Equities, we expect some volatility in the return from one year to the other.
The actual return on plan assets for the Company was Rs 9.9m for the year ended June 30, 2020.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

The actual return on plan assets for the Group was Rs 12.3m for the year ended June 30, 2020.

At July 01,
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefit paid
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income:
Losses/(gains) due to changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial losses
Employee’s contribution
At June 30,

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
517,607
496,477

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
431,551
419,087

18,976
28,659
47,635
(16,627)

19,073
26,877
45,950
(15,800)

12,472
23,783
36,255
(13,906)

12,923
22,619
35,542
(15,862)

161,761
48,767
210,528
74
759,217

(9,130)
(9,130)
110
517,607

152,516
152,516
606,416

(7,216)
(7,216)
431,551

Maturity profile of the defined benefit obligation.
The weighted average duration of the liabilities for the Group and for the Company as at June 30, 2020 is 16 years and 13 years
respectively.
(v)

Expected contribution for the next year
The Group and the Company are expected to contribute Rs 37.5m and Rs 30m respectively to the pension scheme for the year
ending June 30, 2021.
The main actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes were:
THE GROUP
2020
%
Discount rate
Future salary increase
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2019
%
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4.0

THE COMPANY
2020
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%
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Funded obligation (note (a))
Unfunded obligation (note (b))

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
466,175
240,354
214,909
185,700
681,084
426,054

THE COMPANY

CAPITAL
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THE GROUP

The liabilities in respect of the defined benefit schemes (a) and (b) above are analysed as follows:
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(v)

Expected contribution for the next year (continued)

Workers’ Rights Act (WRA) provides for a lump sum at retirement or death, whichever occurs earlier, based on final salary and
years of service. Prior to the implementation of the Portable Retirement Gratuity Fund (PRGF), these benefits are unfunded as at
December 31, 2019. Moreover, employees who resign as from 2020, are eligible for a portable gratuity benefit based on service
with the employer as from January 01, 2020 and remuneration at exit (same benefit formula as for retirement/death gratuity).

Mortality during active service is assumed to follow that of the standard table known as A67/70 Ultimate. Mortality after retirement
is assumed to follow that of the standard table known as a PA92 rated down by two years.

(ix)

The major categories of the planned assets are as follows:

Employees are assumed to retire at 60. No allowance has been made for early retirement on the grounds of ill-health or otherwise,
or for late retirements.
(vi)

Settlements and curtailments

Local equities
Overseas equities and mutual funds
Fixed interest
Property
Qualifying insurances policies

There have been no events that would need to be treated as settlements or curtailments under IAS 19.
(vii) Risks associated with the plans
The Defined Benefit Plans expose the Group and the Company to actuarial risks such as longevity risk, interest rate risk, market
(investment) risk, and salary risk.

(b)

2019
%

1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
96.0
100.0

1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
96.0
100.0

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
%
%
100.0
100.0

100.0
100.0

Unfunded obligation
The amounts recognised in the statements of financial position in respect of unfunded obligation are as follows:

Longevity risk
The liabilities disclosed are based on the mortality tables A 67/70 and PA92/AMAS buyout rate. Should the experience of the
pension plans be less favourable than the standard mortality tables, the liabilities will increase.

(i)

Movement in the liability recognised in the statements of financial position:

Interest rate risk
Present value of unfunded obligation

If the bond interest rate decreases, the liabilities would be calculated using a lower discount rate, and would therefore increase.
(ii)

Investment risk
The present value of the liabilities of the plan are calculated using a discount rate. Should the returns on the assets of the plan be
lower than the discount rate, a deficit will arise for funded benefits only.
Salary risk
If salary increases are higher than assumed in our basis, the liabilities would increase giving rise to actuarial losses.

THE GROUP
Impact
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
(116,479)
(67,670)
151,280
85,304
61,918
(52,876)

39,367
(33,395)

THE COMPANY
Impact
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
(89,286)
(55,772)
114,807
69,916
41,206
(35,767)

Movement of defined benefit of unfunded obligation
At July 01,
Amount recognised in profit or loss:
Current service cost
Interest expense
Past service cost
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income:
Liability experience losses/(gains)
Losses due to changes in financial assumptions

Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligation at the end of the year:

Discount rate
1% increase
1% decrease
Salary increase
1% increase
1% decrease

THE GROUP
2020
%

Benefit paid
At June 30,

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
214,909
185,700

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
172,644
152,793

185,700

140,919

152,793

114,706

12,227
9,532
1,317
23,076

8,031
7,458
19
15,508

8,927
8,089
17,016

5,910
6,015
52
11,977

4,816
22,517
27,333
(21,200)
214,909

(633)
43,408
42,775
(13,502)
185,700

3,530
19,093
22,623
(19,788)
172,644

1,011
37,420
38,431
(12,321)
152,793

27,376
(23,723)

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on sensibly possible changes of the discount rate or salary increase
rate occurring at the end of the reporting period if all other assumptions remain unchanged.
The funded retirement benefit obligations have been based on the report dated September 28, 2020 from Swan Life Ltd, calculated
for the Group and for the Company for the year ended June 30, 2020.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(b) Unfunded obligation (continued)

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
%
%
2.5-3.7
5.6
4.0
6.0
0.0
0.0

5% per annum to age 40, reducing to nil after age 45.
A1967/70(2) Ultimate PA90 (rated down by 2 years)
65.

Trade payables
Payables to subsidiaries
Payables to associates
Other payables and accruals

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms.
Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Financial assumptions:
Discount rate
Future salary increase
Future pension increase
Demographic assumptions:
Withdrawal before retirement
Mortality before retirement
Mortality in retirement

THE GROUP
2020
2019
%
%
1.7 - 4.0
3.4 - 5.9
4.0
4.0 - 6.0
0.0
0.0

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
40,157
61,729
35,511
38,611
7
399
141,040
82,108
216,715
182,847

For terms and conditions relating to payables to related parties, refer to note 30.
Other payables comprise mainly of accruals and deposits from customers amongst others.

(iv) Sensitivity analysis on unfunded defined benefit obligation at the end of the year:

1% increase in discount rate
1% decrease in discount rate

THE GROUP
Impact
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
(23,751)
(19,329)
28,631
23,022

THE COMPANY
Impact
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
(18,427)
(15,597)
22,151
18,496

1% increase in future salary increase
1% decrease in future salary increase

26,433
(27,457)

20,478
(20,646)

21,316
(18,290)

17,303
(14,803)

The above sensitivity analysis has been carried out by recalculating the present value of obligation at the end of the period after
increasing or decreasing the discount rate and future salary increase while leaving all other assumptions unchanged. Any similar
variation in the other assumptions would have shown smaller variations in the defined benefit obligation.
(v) Future cash flows
The funding policy is to pay benefits out of the reporting entity’s cashflow as and when due.
The expected employer contribution for the next year is Rs 4.3m.
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for both the Group and the Company is 11.67 years.
(vi) The Group and the Company have recognised a net defined liabilities of Rs 214.9m and Rs 172.6m respectively in the statement
of financial position as at June 30, 2020 (2019: Group Rs 185.7m and Rs152.7m) in respect of any retirement gratuities that are
expected to be paid out of the Company’s cash flow to its employees under the Workers Rights Act (WRA) 2019.
The unfunded retirement benefit obligations have been based on the report dated July 20, 2020 from AON Hewitt Ltd, calculated
for the Group and the Company for the year ended June 30, 2020

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their fair values.

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
Advance from customers

10,521

13,574

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
-

-

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract
liabilities :
Advance from customers:

At July 01,
Amount received during the year
Amount recognised in revenue
At June 30,

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
13,574
12,994
19,434
19,947
(22,487)
(19,367)
10,521
13,574
THE GROUP

Analysed as:
Non-Current
Current

2020
Rs’000
2,472
8,049
10,521

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
THE COMPANY

2019
Rs’000
1,569
12,005
13,574

2020
Rs’000
-

2019
Rs’000
-

24. REVENUE
THE GROUP

Sale of goods
Rendering of services
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2020
Rs’000
2,747,991
131,214
2,879,205

THE COMPANY

2019
Rs’000
3,053,578
182,848
3,236,426

2020
Rs’000
1,483,457
103,783
1,587,240
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(iii) Principal assumptions used were as follows:

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
220,678
206,135
13,340
79
198,735
156,292
432,753
362,506

2019
Rs’000
1,734,469
113,656
1,848,125
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(a) Disaggregation of revenue

- Wages and salaries
- Social security costs
- Pension costs

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group and the
Company’s revenue:
Sale of building materials
Sale of goods - Interior finishes and garden accessories
Sale of agricultural goods
Sale of services
Project revenue
Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time
Over time

Included in cost of sales and administrative expenses are:
(i) Analysis of staff costs:

1,923,136
782,635
42,220
62,524
68,690
2,879,205

2,206,394
800,342
46,842
91,140
91,708
3,236,426

1,483,457
103,783
1,587,240

1,734,469
113,656
1,848,125

2,810,515
68,690
2,879,205

3,144,718
91,708
3,236,426

1,587,240
1,587,240

1,848,125
1,848,125

(a) Crediting:
- Rental income
- Other operating income
- Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment
- Profit on sale of investment
(b) Charging:
- Cost of sales
- Administrative expenses
- Allowance for expected credit losses on financial
and contract assets
- Impairment of interest in foreign subsidiaries
- Impairment of interest income*
- Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (12 (c))
- Selling and distribution costs
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- Owned assets
- Leased assets
Depreciation of investment properties
Amortisation of right of use assets
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
Amortisation of bearer biological assets
Impairment loss on bearer biological assets
Impairment loss of land conversion rights
Amortisation of intangible assets
Staff costs (note (i))

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

18,966
74,831
6,323
3,730

18,364
80,067
3,626
-

45,549
69,680
5,402
3,730

43,656
77,043
2,518
-

1,953,157
866,593

2,130,977
788,362

1,044,938
530,573

1,177,794
503,470

13,563
3,049

24,894
5,286

9,744
81,895
-

5,377
74,600
5,286

267
65,859

26,970
57,729

235
7,975

23,024
12,915

238,386
12,752
3,514
8,239
1,581,348
6,851
18,233
630,992

243,447
9,139
3,599
1,686,867
506
3,035
10,148
9,203
622,699

163,363
429
18,912
504
721,334
7,527
392,672

173,682
429
18,428
688,789
2,274
391,025

521,260
23,860
77,579
622,699

325,548
14,220
52,904
392,672

338,479
13,037
39,509
391,025

26. FINANCE INCOME

Dividend income
Interest income

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
1,089
1,619
3,052
5,412
4,141
7,031

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
24,942
62,295
8,983
11,762
33,925
74,057

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

27. FINANCE COSTS

25. OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit is arrived at after:

503,560
23,672
103,760
630,992

Interest expense on :
- Bank overdrafts
- Bank loans
- Leases
- Unsecured loans
- Long Term Secured Promissory Note
- Debentures
- Leases

4,932
7,674
6,005
26,124
44,785

2,982
5,924
3,005
17,385
11,426
40,722

4,528
5,144
325
1,631
26,124
37,752

2,195
4,602
117
5,558
17,385
8,869
38,726

28. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent (Rs’000)
Number of shares in issue
Earnings per share - Basic (Rs)

THE GROUP
2020
2019
17,913
190,574
26,510,042
26,510,042
0.68
7.19

29. DIVIDENDS
On June 08, 2020, the Board of Directors declared a final dividend of Rs 1.90 (2019: Rs 3.80) per share amounting to
Rs 50.4m which was paid on July 15, 2020.

* Interest income is impaired as the customer is in financial difficulties.
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2019
Rs’000

2020
Rs’000

2019
Rs’000

2020
Rs’000

2019
Rs’000

(a) Nature of transactions

Purchase of goods and
services

7,491

-

-

-

91,953

73,086

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

-

-

-

-

4,285

28,485

Sale of goods and services

177,709

87,117

1,382

41

32,524

137,897

Management fees received

-

-

-

-

3,751

-

315

466

-

-

5,911

-

Rental expenses

-

32,983

-

-

-

5,911

Management fees paid

-

4,000

-

-

-

-

Rental income

22,453

15,525

-

-

1,087

-

Interest received

-

-

-

-

20,929

-

Interest paid

Dividend income
Contribution to Pension Fund

-

-

-

-

104

161

Amounts receivable

30,198

25,125

-

44

5,163

24,713

Amounts payable

12,389

22

-

-

14,366

21,560

7,668

12,891

-

-

24,317

14,693

Cash at bank

Loans payable

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

14,975

389

-

-

-

65,309

102,117

144

33

-

-

-

-

-

-

150,961

215,500

175,706

87,117

66

41

23,097

15,119

-

-

16,992

11,272

-

-

7,510

5,322

9,412

11,294

2,914

4,003

-

-

4,956

3,902

34,878

40,003

315

113

-

-

5,911

5,911

8,971

6,476

-

-

-

-

-

-

130

3,895

777

843

-

-

724

820

1,400

45,150

22,455

15,525

-

-

1,087

1,620

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,411

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

104

161

123,942

88,591

28,407

24,573

-

44

5,163

2,280

35,511

38,611

7

399

-

-

6,839

5,621

203,143

149,143

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,115

982

7,668

12,891

-

-

24,317

14,693

Purchase of property,
plant and equipment
Sale of goods and
services
Sale of property, plant
and equipment
Management fees
received

Contribution to
Pension Fund
(b) Outstanding balances
at June 30,
Cash at bank
Amounts receivable

(c) Compensation of key management
personnel

Amounts payable
THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
95,763
99,678
11,332
10,473
107,095
110,151

Loans receivable
Loans payable

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
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Enterprises with
common major
shareholders
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

14,609

Dividend income

(b) Outstanding balances at June 30,

Key management
personnel
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

(a) Nature of transactions

Purchase of goods and services

Rental income

Associate
companies
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs'000
Rs’000
63,330
65,099
8,354
7,642
71,684
72,741
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THE GROUP
2020
Rs’000

Enterprises with
common major
shareholders

Key management
personnel

Associate companies

Subsidiary
companies
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

THE COMPANY

CAPITAL
REPORTS

30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
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Notes to the
financial statements

For the year ended June 30, 2020

For the year ended June 30, 2020

Future minimum rentals payable under operating leases are as follows:

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties:
The sales to and purchases from related parties are made at normal market prices. Outstanding balances at the year end are
unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party
receivables and payables. At each financial year, an assessment of provision for impairment is undertaken through examining the
financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates. For the year ended June 30, 2020, the
Group has no impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties (2019: Rs 8m). The Company has recorded
an impairment of Rs 81.8m during the year ended June 30, 2020 (2019: Rs 74.6m) relating to related parties. This assessment is
undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related
party operates.

Within one year
After one year and before two years
After two years and before five years

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
3,195
3,179
10,146
16,520

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
511
511

MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

ABOUT US

34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Except for transactions as disclosed in note 30 on related party transactions, the Group did not have any contract of significance as
defined by the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd with any of its Directors and controlling shareholders.

The Directors regard IBL Ltd incorporated in Mauritius as the holding company. Its registered address is 4th Floor, IBL House,
Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis.

36. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
30,505
63,814
212,120
444,729
242,625
508,543

THE COMPANY
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
18,172
6,195
156,566
292,985
174,738
299,180

There have been no other material events after the reporting date which require disclosure or adjustment to the financial statements
for the year ended June 30, 2020.
CAPITAL
REPORTS

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

35. HOLDING COMPANY

31. CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Capital expenditure:
Contracted for but not provided in the financial statements
Approved by the Directors but not contracted for

INTRODUCTION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Operating segment information

The expenditure for property, plant and equipment will be financed by cash generated by the Group activities and from available
borrowing facilities.
The Group’s capital commitments relating to its associates are as follows:

Capital expenditure:
Approved by the Directors but not contracted for

THE GROUP
2020
2019
Rs’000
Rs’000
19,100
15,650

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At June 30, 2020, the Group and the Company had contingent liabilities in respect of bank guarantees amounting to Rs 5.8m (2019:
Rs 8.5m) and Rs 1.2m (2019: Rs 1.2m) respectively and contingent liabilities in respect of net current liabilities of one of the Group’s
subsidiaries amounting to Rs 171.5m (2019: Rs114.6m), both arising in the ordinary course of business from which it is anticipated
that no material liabilities would arise.
Pre-Mixed Concrete Limited, one of the Group’s associates had contingent liabilities in respect of bank guarantees of Rs 1.7m (2019:
Rs 1.6m) arising in the ordinary course of business from which it is anticipated that no material liabilities would arise. There is an
industrial dispute claim of Rs 0.8m against the Company. The Directors consider that no liabilities will arise as the probability for
default in respect of the guarantees is remote.
Legal claim contingencies
Legal actions have been initiated by former employees against the Group in respect of unpaid severance allowances. The estimated
payout is Rs 25.5m (2019: Rs 57.5m), should the actions be successful. Trials are ongoing and therefore it is not practicable to state
the timing of payment, if any. The Group has been advised by its legal counsel that it is only possible, but not probable, that the
action will succeed. Accordingly, no provision for any liability has been made in the financial statements.
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The retail business under the Building materials segment consist of the sale of roof tiles, imported floor and wall tiles, sanitary ware
and a complete range of home building products and garden accessories.
The Agriculture segment is involved in the cultivation of sugar cane, vegetables, plants and landscaping services.
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured
consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.
Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.
2020

Revenue
Operating profit/(loss)
Net finance costs
Share of results of associates
(Loss)/profit before taxation
Income tax expense
(Loss)/profit after taxation
Non-controlling interests
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the parent

THE GROUP
Building materials
Core
Retail
business
Rs’000
Rs’000
862,626
2,115,321
3,018
35,364
(12,899)
(6,250)
(9,881)
(29,114)
(910)
(24,933)
(10,791)
4,181
(3,947)
(10,791)
234

Agriculture

Consolidation
adjustments

Total

Rs’000
118,633
(31,381)
(8,826)
(40,207)
(40,207)
(40,207)

Rs’000
(217,375)
73,566
(12,669)
7,780
68,677
68,677
68,677

Rs’000
2,879,205
80,567
(40,644)
7,780
47,703
(25,843)
21,860
(3,947)
17,913
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The Building materials segment is involved in the manufacture and sale of building materials which consists principally of aggregates,
rocksand, hollow concrete blocks and various concrete building components which constitutes our core business.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the
financial statements

Notes to the
financial statements
For the year ended June 30, 2020

Other segment information:
Segment assets
Investment in associates
Total segment assets
Total segment liabilities
Capital expenditure:
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Depreciation and amortisation

Total

Rs’000

Rs’000

Rs’000

790,568
790,568
508,988

4,749,462
105,719
4,855,181
2,533,907

1,287,047
1,287,047
304,944

(1,455,602)
85,670
(1,369,932)
(1,061,446)

5,371,475
191,389
5,562,864
2,286,393

51,008
15,134
61,018

218,746
16,661
236,807

18,184
88
3,467
13,199

(29,900)

287,938
88
35,262
281,124

THE GROUP

2019
Building materials

Revenue
Operating profit
Net finance income/(costs)
Share of results of associates
Profit/(loss) before taxation
Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) after taxation
Non-controlling interests
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to the parent
Other segment information:
Segment assets
Investment in associates
Total segment assets
Total segment liabilities
Capital expenditure:
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Depreciation and amortisation

Change in percentage holding in subsidiaries without loss of control

Agriculture

Consolidation
adjustments

Total

Core

Retail
Rs’000
896,133
42,210
1,717
43,927
(6,964)
36,963
36,963

business
Rs’000
2,447,119
199,429
33,117
232,546
(44,472)
188,074
(16,686)
171,388

Rs’000
108,673
(33,130)
(7,850)
(40,980)
(40,980)
(40,980)

Rs’000
(215,499)
65,576
(60,675)
18,302
23,203
23,203
23,203

Rs’000
3,236,426
274,085
(33,691)
18,302
258,696
(51,436)
207,260
(16,686)
190,574

560,485
560,485
207,202

4,525,254
107,080
4,632,334
2,246,644

1,090,989
1,090,989
238,346

(1,273,383)
91,821
(1,181,562)
(739,688)

4,903,345
198,901
5,102,246
1,952,504

18,163
24,555
18,565

296,895
1,028
8,450
216,931

20,231
31
10,475

19,417

335,289
1,028
33,036
265,388

On February 13, 2020, the Group acquired an additional 3.6% of the issued shares of Drymix Ltd for a purchase consideration of
Rs 10.1m. The Group derecognised the non-controlling interests and recorded an increase in equity attributable to owners of
the Company of Rs 4.5m. The effect of changes in the ownership interest on the equity attributable to owners of the Group is
summarised as follows:

Cash consideration paid to non-controlling interests
Less: Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired
Adjustment recognised in retained earnings

39. FINANCIAL REVIEW
2020
Rs’m

2019
Rs’m

265.1
2,973.7
3,238.8
5,562.9
2,286.4
2,879.2
47.7
(25.8)
21.9
(50.4)

265.1
2,848.2
3,113.3
5,102.2
1,952.5
3,236.4
258.7
(51.4)
207.3
(100.7)

2020
Rs
122.17
0.68
1.90

2019
Rs
117.44
7.19
3.80

2020
Rs’m

2019
Rs’m

265.1
2,014.4
2,279.5
4,035.3
1,755.8
1,587.2
32.4
(19.0)
13.4
(50.4)

265.1
2,057.9
2,323.0
3,880.3
1,557.3
1,848.1
204.1
(36.6)
167.6
(100.7)

2020
Rs
85.99
0.51
1.90

2019
Rs
87.63
6.32
3.80

THE GROUP
Share capital
Reserves
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
Assets
Liabilities
Revenue
Profit before taxation
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
Dividend - The Company

Basic net assets value per share
Basic earnings per share
Dividend per share - The Company

THE COMPANY
Share capital
Reserves
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
Assets
Liabilities
Revenue
Profit before taxation
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
Dividend

Basic net assets value per share
Basic earnings per share
Dividend per share
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2020
Rs’000
10,056
(4,584)
5,472
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Building materials
Core
Retail
business
Rs’000
Rs’000

Consolidation
Agriculture adjustments

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

THE GROUP

2020
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37. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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40. CORONAVIRUS (“COVID-19”)
As at June 30, 2020, the recent global outbreak of Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) continues to have significant volatility within the
economic markets, for which the duration and spread of the outbreak, and the resultant economic impact is uncertain and cannot
be predicted. This may directly or indirectly impact the Group’s and the Company’s activities in material respects by interrupting
and disrupting business and transactional activities. The Directors will continue to monitor the situation for the Group and for the
Company.
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THE UNITED BASALT PRODUCTS LIMITED
Head Office
Trianon, Quatre-Bornes
Mauritius
Tel: 454 1964
www.ubp.mu
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